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PART I
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements which are subject to risks and uncertainties in accordance with the safe harbor provisions of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are defined as statements that are not historical facts and include those
statements relating to future events or future financial performance. Forward-looking statements typically include assumptions, estimates or descriptions of
our future plans, strategies and expectations, and are generally identifiable by the use of the words “anticipate,” “will,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“intend,” “seek,” or other similar expressions. Examples of these include discussions regarding our operating and growth strategy, projections of revenue,
income or loss and future operations. Unless this Form 10-K indicates otherwise or the context otherwise requires, the terms “Coventry,” “we,” “our,” “our
Company,” “the Company” or “us” as used in this Form 10-K refer to Coventry Health Care, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010.
These forward-looking statements may be affected by a number of factors, including, but not limited to those contained in Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of
this Form 10-K. Actual operations and results may differ materially from those expressed in this Form 10-K. Among the factors that may materially affect our
business, operations or financial condition are the ability to accurately estimate and control future health care costs; the ability to increase premiums to offset
increases in our health care costs; general economic conditions and disruptions in the financial markets; changes in laws or regulations or government
investigations; changes in government funding and various other risks associated with our participation in Medicare and Medicaid programs; a reduction in
the number of members in our health plans; the ability to acquire additional managed care business and to successfully integrate acquired businesses into our
operations; an ability to attract new members or to increase or maintain our premium rates; the non-renewal or termination of our government contracts or
unsuccessful bids for business with government agencies; failure of our independent agents and brokers to continue to market our products to employers; a
failure to obtain cost-effective agreements with a sufficient number of providers that could result in higher medical costs and a decrease in our membership;
negative publicity regarding the managed health care industry generally or our Company in particular; a failure to effectively protect, maintain and develop
our information technology systems; periodic reviews, audits and investigations under our contracts with federal and state government agencies; litigation
including litigation based on new or evolving legal theories; volatility in our stock price and trading volume; our indebtedness, which imposes certain
restrictions on our business and operations; an inability to generate sufficient cash to service our indebtedness; a substantial amount of our cash flow is
generated by regulated subsidiaries; our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law, which could delay, discourage or prevent a change in
control of our Company that our stockholders may consider favorable; and an impairment of our intangible assets.
Item 1: Business
General
We are a diversified national managed healthcare company based in Bethesda, Maryland, operating health plans, insurance companies, network rental
and workers’ compensation services companies. Through our Health Plan and Medical Services, Specialized Managed Care, and Workers’ Compensation
reportable segments, which we also refer to as “Divisions,” we provide a full range of risk and fee-based managed care products and services to a broad cross
section of individuals, employer and government-funded groups, government agencies, and other insurance carriers and administrators.
Coventry was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on December 17, 1997 and is the successor to Coventry Corporation, which was
incorporated on November 21, 1986. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
these reports, as well as recent press releases can be accessed free of charge on the Internet at www.coventryhealthcare.com.
Our Health Plan and Medical Services Division is primarily comprised of our traditional health plan commercial risk, Medicare Advantage and Medicaid
products. Our health plans offer commercial risk products, including health maintenance organization (“HMO”), preferred provider organization (“PPO”) and
point of service (“POS”) products, to individuals and employer groups of all sizes. We offer these products on an underwritten or “risk” basis where we
receive a monthly premium in exchange for assuming underwriting risks, including all medical and administrative costs. Additionally, through this Division
we contract with various federal employee organizations to provide health insurance benefits under the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program
(“FEHBP”) and offer managed care and administrative products to businesses that self-insure the health care benefits of their employees where we perform
administrative services only (“ASO”), including medical claims administration, pharmacy benefits management and clinical programs such as utilization
management and quality assurance for a fixed fee with the customer assuming the risk for medical costs. Within these products, we also offer consumerdirected benefit options including health reimbursement accounts (“HRA”) and health savings accounts (“HSA”) to our commercial customers. This Division
provides comprehensive health benefits on a risk basis to members participating in the Medicare Advantage HMO, Medicare Advantage PPO, and Medicaid
programs for which it receives premium payments from federal and state governments. Through December 31, 2009, this Division also provided services to
members participating in Medicare Advantage Private-Fee-For-Service (“PFFS”). Effective January 1, 2010, we did not renew the Medicare PFFS product
for the 2010 plan year. This Division also contains our dental services business.
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We operate local health plans that serve 24 markets, primarily in the Mid-Atlantic, Midwest, Mountain West and Southeast United States. Our health
plans are operated under the names Altius Health Plans, Carelink Health Plans, Coventry Health Care, Coventry Health and Life, Group Health Plan,
HealthAmerica, HealthAssurance, HealthCare USA, Mercy Health Plans, OmniCare, PersonalCare, Preferred Health Systems, Southern Health, and
WellPath. Our health plans generally are located in small to mid-sized metropolitan areas. For a complete list of our subsidiaries, refer to Exhibit 21 included
with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our Specialized Managed Care Division includes Medicare Part D, network rental, and our behavioral health benefits businesses. Our Medicare Part D
program provides eligible beneficiaries access to prescription drug coverage and receives premium payments from the federal government. Our network
rental business offers provider network rental services through a national PPO network to national, regional and local third-party administrators (“TPA”) and
insurance carriers.
Our behavioral health benefits business provides coordination of comprehensive mental health and substance abuse
treatment. Additionally, as discussed in Note D, Discontinued Operations, to the consolidated financial statements, prior to its sale on July 31, 2009, our
Medicaid/Public entity (“Public Sector”) provided products and services to state Medicaid agencies and other government funded programs.
Our Workers’ Compensation Division is comprised of our workers’ compensation services businesses which provide fee-based, managed care services
such as provider network access, bill review, care management services and pharmacy benefit management to underwriters and administrators of workers’
compensation insurance and large employer groups.
Health Plan and Medical Services Division
Health Plan Commercial Risk Products
Our health plans offer employer groups a full range of commercial risk products designed to meet the needs and objectives of a wide range of employers
and members as well as to comply with regulatory requirements. Our health plans also offer major medical and high-deductible products to individual
consumers. The distribution of these products is through independent licensed brokers, directly from our sales organization or through our website. Our
health plans had 1.6 million commercial risk members as of December 31, 2010 that accounted for $5.2 billion of revenue in 2010.
Our health plan products vary with respect to product features, the level of benefits provided, the costs to be paid by employers and members, including
deductibles and co-payments, and our members’ access to providers without referral or preauthorization requirements.
Health Maintenance Organizations
Our health plan HMO products provide comprehensive health care benefits, including ambulatory and inpatient physician services, hospitalization,
pharmacy, mental health, ancillary diagnostic and therapeutic services. In general, a fixed monthly premium covers all HMO services although benefit plans
typically require co-payments or deductibles in addition to the basic premium. A primary care physician assumes overall responsibility for the care of a
member, including preventive and routine medical care and referrals to specialists and consulting physicians. While an HMO member’s choice of providers is
limited to those within the health plan’s HMO network, the HMO member is typically entitled to coverage of a broader range of health care services than is
covered by typical reimbursement or indemnity policies. Furthermore, many of our HMO products have added features to more easily allow “direct access” to
providers.
Preferred Provider Organizations and Point of Service
Our health plan risk-based PPO and POS products also provide comprehensive managed health care benefits while allowing members to choose their
health care providers at the time medical services are required. Members may use providers that do not participate in our health plan managed care networks
but may incur higher co-payments and other out-of-pocket costs than if the member chooses a participating provider. Our health plans also offer high
deductible products in conjunction with our consumer directed products. Premiums for our PPO and POS products typically are lower than HMO premiums
due to the increased out-of-pocket costs borne by the members.
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Commercial Management Services Products
Our health plans offer management services and access to their provider networks to employers that self-insure their employee health benefits. The
management services provided under these ASO arrangements typically include medical claims administration, pharmacy benefits management, utilization
management and quality assurance. Other features commonly provided to fully insured customers (such as value-added wellness benefits) are generally also
available to ASO customers. These ASO arrangements, through which our health plans typically do not assume underwriting risk, include a fixed fee for
these management services and access to our provider networks. As of December 31, 2010, our health plans had approximately 698,000 non-risk health plan
members.
We offer stop-loss insurance to enable us to serve as an integrated, single source for the managed care needs of our self-insured clients. Stop-loss
policies help curtail the risk assumed by our self-insured clients by covering such clients’ expenses after they have paid out a predetermined amount. Stoploss policies are written through our wholly-owned insurance subsidiaries and can be written for specific and/or aggregate stop-loss insurance.
In addition, we provide management services to plans in the FEHBP, which is the largest employer-sponsored group health program in the United States.
In the FEHBP, federal employees have the opportunity to choose a health benefits carrier from a number of offered plans each year. We provide management
services and/or serve as the plan administrator to multiple FEHBP plan sponsors, including the Mail Handlers Benefit Plan (“MHBP”), our largest client. The
MHBP offers health care benefits under the FEHBP to federal employees and annuitants nationwide. Commercial management services accounted for $327.1
million of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2010.
Medicare Advantage
As of December 31, 2010, our health plans operated Medicare Advantage Coordinated Care Plans (“Medicare Advantage CCP”) in 12 states. The
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) pays a county-specific fixed premium per member per month (“PMPM”) under our health plan Medicare
contracts. Our health plans may also receive a monthly premium from their Medicare members and/or their employer. Our Medicare Advantage line of
business covered 224,000 members as of December 31, 2010 and accounted for $2.1 billion of revenue in 2010.
Medicaid
Certain of our health plans offer health care coverage to Medicaid recipients in eight states which, as of December 31, 2010, covered 468,000 members
and accounted for $1.1 billion of revenue in 2010. These health plans enter into a Medicaid Management Care contract with each of these individual states.
Under a Medicaid contract, the participating state pays a premium PMPM based on the age, sex, eligibility category and, in some states, county or region of
the Medicaid member enrolled. In some states, these premiums are adjusted according to the health risk associated with the individual member. The majority
of our Medicaid members are in the Florida, Michigan, Missouri, Nebraska, Pennsylvania and West Virginia markets, representing 90% of our total Medicaid
membership.
Dental Benefit Services
We offer a full suite of dental services, including insured and administrative plans for individuals and groups, a full-service dental third-party
administrator specializing in private-label programs and a full suite of discount products. These services are offered through Group Dental Service, Inc.
(“GDS”), which is based in Rockville, Maryland. GDS accounted for $30.2 million of revenue, after intercompany eliminations, for the year ended December
31, 2010.
Health Plan Markets
The geographic markets in which our health plans operate and the products offered in each are described as follows:
•
•
•
•
•

Arkansas — commercial products primarily in Northwest Arkansas, Fort Smith and Hot Springs; and Medicare Advantage products in 11
counties.
Delaware — commercial products throughout the state.
Florida — commercial products in South Florida, the Tampa Bay area and certain counties in North Florida; Medicaid products in South Florida as
well as certain counties in North Florida and the state’s panhandle; and Medicare Advantage products in South Florida and the Tampa Bay area.
Georgia — commercial products in the greater Atlanta, Savannah, Augusta, Macon and Columbus metropolitan areas; and Medicare Advantage
products in Atlanta, Savannah and Columbus.
Idaho — commercial products throughout the state.
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Illinois — commercial products primarily in the Western, Northern and Central Illinois areas; and Medicare Advantage products in portions of
Eastern, Central, Western and Northern Illinois.
Iowa — commercial products primarily in the Des Moines, Waterloo, Sioux City and Ames metropolitan areas; and Medicare Advantage products
in 44 counties.
Kansas — commercial products in Kansas City and Wichita metropolitan areas, including portions of Western Missouri and Kansas; and Medicare
Advantage products in the Kansas City, Springfield, MO and Wichita metropolitan areas.
Louisiana — commercial products primarily in the New Orleans, Baton Rouge and Shreveport metropolitan areas.
Maryland — commercial products primarily in the Baltimore metropolitan area and the Eastern and Western Shore areas; and Medicaid products
in the Baltimore metropolitan area.
Michigan — Medicaid and Children’s Health Insurance Program products in Wayne and Oakland counties (Detroit metropolitan areas).
Missouri — commercial and Medicare Advantage products in the St. Louis metropolitan and Central Missouri areas, including portions of
Southwestern Missouri and Southern Illinois; and Medicaid products in Eastern, Central and Western Missouri.
Nebraska — commercial products primarily in the Omaha and Lincoln metropolitan areas, including Central and Western Nebraska; Medicare
Advantage products in 18 counties; and Medicaid products in 10 counties.
Nevada — commercial products primarily in the Las Vegas metropolitan area.
North Carolina — commercial products primarily in the Raleigh-Durham and Charlotte metropolitan areas; and Medicare Advantage products
primarily in Central North Carolina.
Oklahoma — commercial products in both the Oklahoma City and Tulsa markets.
Pennsylvania — commercial products in all Pennsylvania markets and portions of Eastern Ohio; Medicare Advantage products in the Pittsburgh,
Harrisburg and State College metropolitan areas; and Medicaid products in Southeastern Pennsylvania.
South Carolina — commercial products in the Charleston and Columbia metropolitan areas.
South Dakota — commercial products primarily in the Sioux Falls and Yankton metropolitan areas; and Medicare Advantage products in 11
counties.
Tennessee — commercial products primarily in the metropolitan Memphis and West Tennessee areas, with additional networks in the far northern
Mississippi counties of DeSoto and Tate and Eastern Arkansas.
Utah — commercial products throughout the state; and Medicare Advantage products throughout the state, excluding Washington County.
Wyoming — commercial products primarily in the lower Southwestern counties near Utah; and Medicare Advantage products in Uinta County.
Virginia — commercial and Medicaid products primarily in the Richmond, Roanoke and Charlottesville metropolitan areas and the Shenandoah
Valley.
West Virginia — commercial and Medicaid products throughout the majority of the state.

Specialized Managed Care Division
Medicare Part D
The Medicare Part D program provides eligible beneficiaries with access to prescription drug coverage. As part of the Medicare Part D program, eligible
Medicare recipients are able to select a prescription drug plan. The Medicare Part D prescription drug benefit is subsidized by the federal government and is
additionally supported by risk-sharing with the federal government through risk corridors designed to limit the profits or losses of the drug plans and through
reinsurance for catastrophic drug costs. The government subsidy is based on the national weighted average monthly bid, by Medicare region, by participating
plans for this coverage, adjusted for member demographics and risk factor payments. The beneficiaries will be responsible for the difference between the
government subsidy and their benefit plan’s bid, together with the amount of their benefit plan’s supplemental premium. Additional subsidies are provided for
dual-eligible beneficiaries and specified low-income beneficiaries.
Our Medicare Part D business accounted for $1.6 billion of revenue in 2010 and had 1.6 million members as of December 31, 2010. The Medicare Part
D plans are marketed under the brand names of Advantra Rx, First Health Premier and First Health Secure. For 2010, certain of these plans include an option
with first dollar coverage (no deductible) and options for generic coverage within the coverage gap in which no insurance coverage under the standard Part D
program is available. We have established partnerships with Medicare Supplement insurance carriers and brokerage channels nationwide to distribute
Medicare Part D prescription drug products to Medicare beneficiaries on our behalf. Medicare beneficiaries can also purchase our Medicare Part D products
via an internet-based Medicare Plan Finder tool. The Plan Finder tool, developed by CMS, allows Medicare beneficiaries to search and compare Medicare
coverage options and products from their geographic area. The Medicare eligible beneficiaries can then purchase their product via the Plan Finder tool or by
calling us.
7

Table of Contents

Network Rental
We offer our national PPO network and other managed care products to national, regional and local TPAs and insurance carriers. Primarily operating on
a business-to-business basis, network rental focuses on delivering managed care and administrative solutions that increase client efficiency and improve their
product offerings. Network services are supplemented with a variety of product offerings, including clinical management programs. Our network rental
businesses accounted for $93.1 million of revenue in 2010.
Behavioral Health Services
We operate in the managed behavioral healthcare industry and provide coordination of comprehensive mental health, substance abuse treatment and
employee assistance programs throughout the United States. These services are provided through MHNet Specialty Services, LLC and associated subsidiaries
(“MHNet”) based in Austin, Texas. MHNet provides services to health plans and employer clients and accounted for $24.1 million of revenue, after
intercompany eliminations, in 2010.
Workers’ Compensation Division
We provide workers’ compensation services whereby our customers pay fees to access our national workers’ compensation provider network. Similar to
our network rental business, the workers’ compensation clients make the final pay determination and our products are designed to help our customers drive
industry-leading medical outcomes and identify appropriate cost savings at every step of an injured worker’s recovery. Our workers’ compensation products
accounted for $755.1 million of revenue in 2010.
Bill Review
Our workers’ compensation Bill Review system provides national and multi-regional workers’ compensation clients with a system to integrate and
manage their workers’ compensation medical data. Our Bill Review system enables our clients to have an accurate and consistent application of state fee
schedule pricing, including applicable rules, regulations and clinical guidelines. State fee schedules, which typically represent the maximum reimbursement
for medical services provided to the injured worker, differ by state and change as state laws and regulations are passed and/or amended. Our Bill Review
system features full integration with our provider network and provides a seamless process for determining claim payment rates. As part of the bill
adjudication process, we subject bills to a sophisticated, proprietary process to detect duplicate bills and correct billing irregularities and inappropriate billing
practices.
In addition, our Bill Review system has a comprehensive reporting database that produces a standard set of client savings and management reports.
Clients who utilize our Bill Review system have online access to their data and are able to create reports at their desktops.
Pharmacy Benefit Management
Insurance carriers, TPAs and employers contract with our First Script pharmacy benefit management (“PBM”) program. First Script provides access to a
retail network of over 61,000 pharmacies that can be accessed by workers’ compensation claimants immediately after an injury has occurred. First Script
continues to provide service to these claimants upon compensability confirmation throughout the duration of their workers’ compensation claims. Home
delivery of medication is included as part of First Script’s integrated prescription solution.
In addition to providing network access to workers’ compensation claimants, First Script also offers a full suite of drug utilization review tools and
reports to assist its clients in controlling their pharmacy costs. These tools go beyond basic formulary management and include predictive indicators of claim
severity and direction. The application of these cost control tools must be balanced with the need for claimants to receive their drugs in a convenient and
timely manner. Claimants who follow their doctors’ prescription orders are more likely to recover quicker and return to work earlier. Both of these outcomes
further contribute to lowering the client’s overall workers’ compensation claim costs.
Care Management Services
Our Care Management Services seek to promote appropriate healthcare access and utilization by performing services designed to monitor cases and
facilitate the return to work of injured or ill employees who have been out of work, receiving healthcare, or both for an extended period of time due to a workrelated or auto incident or disability.
We provide field case management services for workers’ compensation cases through case managers working on a one-on-one basis with injured
employees and their healthcare professionals, employers, TPAs and insurance company adjusters. Our telephonic case management services consist of
telephonic management of workers’ compensation, as well as short-term disability, long-term disability and employee absences covered under the Family and
Medical Leave Act. We provide our customers with access to healthcare professionals who perform independent medical examinations to evaluate the
medical conditions and treatment plans of patients. Our technology enables customers to make on-line referrals and check on the current status of their
cases. Customers use our pre-certification and concurrent review services to ensure that a physician or registered nurse reviews, and pre-certifies if
appropriate, specified medical procedures for medical necessity and appropriateness which are certified by URAC (formerly known as Utilization Review
Accreditation Commission).
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Operational Areas
Provider Network
Our provider network is the core of our health plan, network rental, and workers’ compensation businesses, providing the foundation for our products
and services. We contract with hospitals, physicians and other health care providers that provide health care services at pre-negotiated rates to members and
customers of various payors, including employee groups, workers’ compensation payors, insurance carriers, TPAs, HMOs, self-insured employers, union
trusts and government employee plans. Provider networks offer a means of managing health care costs by reducing the per-unit price of medical services
accessed through the network while providing an increased number of patients to providers.
Our provider network optimizes client savings through a combination of increased penetration to a broad network and discounted unit costs savings. The
majority of the facility contracts feature fixed rate structures that ensure cost effectiveness while incentivizing providers to control utilization. The fixed rate
structures include per diems based on the intensity of care and/or Diagnosis Related Group based pricing for inpatient care. Hospital outpatient charges are
typically controlled by fixed fee schedules or on a per case basis. For facilities or procedures not covered by fixed pricing arrangements, charge master
controls are generally negotiated, limiting the increasing trend of health care unit cost.
Our health plans maintain provider networks in the local markets in which they operate. All of our health plans currently offer an open panel delivery
system where individual physicians or physician groups contract with the health plans to provide services to members but also maintain independent practices
in which they provide services to individuals who are not members of our health plans.
Most of our health plan contracted primary care and specialist physicians are compensated under an established local fee schedule that is structured
around the resource-based relative value scale. The majority of our health plans contract with hospitals to provide for inpatient care through per diem or per
case hospital rates. Outpatient services are contracted on a discounted fee-for-service or a per case basis. Our health plans pay ancillary providers on a fixed
fee schedule or a capitation basis. Prescription drug benefits are provided through a formulary and drug prices are negotiated at discounted rates through a
national network of pharmacies.
Our health plans have capitation arrangements for certain ancillary health care services, such as laboratory services and, in some cases, physician and
radiology services. Under some capitated and professional capitation arrangements, physicians may also receive additional compensation from risk sharing
and other incentive arrangements. Capitation arrangements limit our health plans’ exposure to the risk of increasing medical costs but expose them to risk as
to the adequacy of the financial and medical care resources of the provider organization. Our health plans are ultimately responsible for the coverage of their
members pursuant to the customer agreements. To the extent that a provider organization faces financial difficulties or otherwise is unable to perform its
obligations under capitation arrangements, our health plans will be required to perform such obligations. Consequently, our health plans may have to incur
costs in excess of the amounts they would otherwise have to pay under the original capitation arrangements. Medical costs associated with capitation
arrangements made up approximately 6.4%, 2.9% and 4.1% of our total medical costs for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. We do not consider the financial risk associated with our existing capitation arrangements to be material.
Additionally, in response to healthcare reform we are beginning to implement Accountable Care Organizations (“ACO”) and gain share arrangements
that align quality of care and cost incentives with our providers. ACOs are designed to deliver coordinated and efficient medical care to our members
whereby the integrated delivery system and physician groups receive additional payments if each meets quality of care and cost targets.
Medical Management
We have established systems to monitor the availability, appropriateness and effectiveness of the patient care that our network providers provide to our
members. We collect utilization data that is used to analyze over-utilization or under-utilization of services and to assist in arranging for appropriate care for
our members and improving patient outcomes in a cost efficient manner. Our corporate medical department monitors the medical management policies of our
subsidiaries and assists in implementing disease management programs, quality assurance programs and other medical management tools. In addition, we
have internal quality assurance review committees made up of practicing physicians and staff members whose responsibilities include periodic review of
medical records, development and implementation of standards of care based on current medical literature and the collection of data relating to results of
treatment.
9
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We have developed a comprehensive disease management program that identifies those members having certain chronic diseases, such as asthma and
diabetes. Our case managers proactively work with members and their physicians to facilitate appropriate treatment, help to ensure compliance with
recommended therapies and educate members on lifestyle modifications to manage the disease. We believe that our disease management program promotes
the delivery of efficient care and helps to improve the quality of health care delivered.
Our medical directors supervise medical managers who review and approve, for coverage in accordance with the health benefit plan, requests by
physicians to perform certain diagnostic and therapeutic procedures. We use nationally recognized clinical guidelines developed based on nationwide
benchmarks that maximize efficiency in health care delivery and InterQual, a nationally recognized evidence-based set of criteria developed through peer
reviewed medical literature. Medical managers also continually review the status of hospitalized patients and compare their medical progress with established
clinical criteria, make hospital rounds to review patients’ medical progress and perform quality assurance and utilization functions.
Medical directors also monitor the utilization of diagnostic services and encourage the use of outpatient surgery and testing where appropriate. Data
showing each physician’s utilization profile for diagnostic tests, specialty referrals and hospitalization are collected and presented to physicians. The medical
directors monitor these results in an attempt to ensure the use of cost-effective, medically appropriate services.
We focus on the satisfaction of our members. We monitor appointment availability, member-waiting times, provider environments and overall member
satisfaction. We continually conduct membership surveys of existing employer groups concerning the quality of services furnished and suggestions for
improvement.
Information Technology
We believe that integrated and reliable information technology systems are critical to our success. We have implemented information systems to improve
our operating efficiency, support medical management, underwriting and quality assurance decisions and effectively service our customers, members and
providers. Each of our health plans operates on a single financial reporting system along with a common, fully integrated application which encompasses all
aspects of our health plan commercial, government and non-risk business, including enrollment, provider referrals, premium billing and claims processing.
We have dedicated in-house teams providing infrastructure and application support services to our members. Our data warehouse collects information
from all of our health plans and uses it in medical management to support our underwriting, product pricing, quality assurance, rate setting, marketing and
contracting functions. We have dedicated in-house teams that convert acquired companies to our standard information systems as soon as practicable
following the closing of the acquisition.
We have dedicated information technology teams that are efficiently addressing information system needs in support of new business requirements
mandated by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively,
“PPACA”). We have already implemented changes to support new PPACA provisions effective September 23, 2010 as described in Item 1A, “Risk Factors,”
of this Form 10-K.
In 2010, approximately 83.0% of our claim transactions were received from providers in a Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996
(“HIPAA”) compliant electronic data interface format. In 2010, our claims system auto adjudicated approximately 82.3% of all claims, which improves our
claims processing efficiency and accuracy.
Marketing
We market our products and services directly to individuals, employer groups, multi-site accounts, self-insured employers and government
employees. We also market on a business-to-business basis to our group health insurance carriers and TPAs, who then have primary responsibility for
offering our services to their underlying clients. We also market through FEHBP health plan sponsors and directly to federal employees. Marketing is
provided through our own direct sales staff and a network of non-exclusive, independent insurance brokers and agents focused on developing new business as
well as retaining existing business.
Our commercial HMO, PPO and POS products are offered on a fully insured and self-funded basis. Our local health plans continue to expand the
number of lower cost medical and pharmacy product options to improve health insurance affordability. These options include a family of “consumer-driven”
products, whereby the employee bears a substantially greater proportion of health care costs.
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While our large group accounts may have benefit products offered to their employees by multiple carriers, our small and medium size groups are most
commonly offered our services on an exclusive basis. In the case of insurance carriers, we typically enter into a master service agreement under which we
agree to provide our cost management services to health plans maintained by the carrier’s customers. Our services are offered to new insurance policyholders
and to existing policyholders at the time group health benefits are renewed.
Medicaid products are marketed to Medicaid recipients by state Medicaid authorities and through educational and community outreach programs.
Medicare Advantage products, which can include both medical and pharmacy benefits, are commonly promoted through direct sales, including mass
media and direct mail to both individuals and retirees of employer groups that provide benefits to retirees. Networks of independent brokers are also used in
the marketing of Medicare products. Our Medicare Part D product is marketed through our existing channels as well as through joint marketing arrangements
with Medicare Supplement health insurers, TPAs and related broker distribution entities. Additionally, we have established partnerships with Medicare
Supplement health insurers and brokerage channels nationwide to provide Medicare Advantage products to Medicare beneficiaries.
Workers’ compensation services are marketed to insurance carriers and TPAs who in turn take responsibility for marketing our services to their
prospects and clients. We also market directly to state funds, municipalities, self-insured payors and other distribution channels.
Significant Customers
The MHBP represented 11.2%, 11.3% and 10.7% of our management services revenue for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
Our health plan commercial business is diversified across a large customer base and no customer group comprises 10% or more of our managed care
premiums. We received 35.6%, 50.7% and 38.1% of our managed care premiums for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, from
the federal Medicare programs throughout our various health plan markets and from national Medicare Part D and Medicare PFFS products. The decline in
2010 is primarily a result of our non-renewal of the Medicare PFFS product effective January 1, 2010. We also received 10.9%, 8.4% and 10.3% of our
managed care premiums for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, from our state-sponsored Medicaid programs throughout our
various health plan markets. In 2010, the State of Missouri accounted for almost half of our health plan Medicaid premiums.
Competition
The managed care industry is highly competitive, both nationally and in the individual markets we serve. Generally, in each market, we compete against
local health plans, and nationally focused health insurers and managed care plans. We compete for employer groups and members primarily on the basis of
the price of the benefit plans offered, locations of the health care providers, reputation for quality care and service, financial stability, comprehensiveness of
coverage, diversity of product offerings and access to care. We also compete with other managed care organizations and indemnity insurance carriers in
obtaining and retaining favorable contracts for health care services and supplies.
We compete in a highly fragmented market with national, regional and local firms specializing in utilization review and PPO cost management services
and with major insurance carriers and TPAs that have implemented their own internal cost management services. In addition, other managed care programs,
such as HMOs and group health insurers, compete for the enrollment of benefit plan participants. We are subject to intense competition in each market
segment in which we operate. We distinguish ourselves on the basis of our program quality, cost-effectiveness, proprietary computer-based integrated
information systems, emphasis on commitment to service with a high degree of physician involvement, national provider network, including its penetration
into secondary and tertiary markets, and our role as an integrated provider of PBM services.
Workers’ compensation competition includes regional and national managed care companies and other service providers with an emphasis on PPO,
clinical programs, PBM services or bill review. We differentiate ourselves based on our national PPO coverage and the ability to provide an integrated
product, coupled with technology that reduces administrative cost. We compete with a multitude of PPOs, technology companies that provide bill review
services, clinical case management companies, pharmacy benefit managers and rehabilitation companies for the business of these insurers. While experience
differs with various clients, obtaining a workers’ compensation insurer as a new client typically requires extended discussions and a significant investment of
time. Given these characteristics of the competitive landscape, client relationships are critical to the success of our workers’ compensation products.
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Financial Information
Required financial information related to our business segments is set forth in Note B, Segment Information, to the consolidated financial statements.
Corporate Governance
Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to our directors and officers, including our Chief Executive
Officer, Interim Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Controller, and employees. In addition, the Board of Directors has adopted Corporate Governance
Guidelines and a Related Person Transactions Policy for our directors and committee charters for our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee. All of these documents, as amended, can be accessed on our website at www.coventryhealthcare.com
through the “Corporate Governance” link under “Investor Relations.”
Government Regulation
As a managed health care company, we are subject to extensive government regulation of our products and services. The laws and regulations affecting
our industry generally give state and federal regulatory authorities broad discretion in their exercise of supervisory, regulatory and administrative powers.
These laws and regulations are intended primarily for the benefit of the members of the health plans. Managed care laws and regulations vary significantly
from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and changes are frequently considered and implemented. For additional information, refer to Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of this
Form 10-K.
Health Care Reform
In March 2010, President Obama signed PPACA into law which imposes numerous provisions on managed care companies and represents significant
change across the health care industry.
PPACA, as enacted, seeks to decrease the number of uninsured individuals and expand coverage through a number of health insurance market reforms.
In order to expand coverage, PPACA requires states to expand eligibility under existing Medicaid programs to those at or below 133% of the federal poverty
level. In addition, PPACA, as enacted, requires individuals to obtain health insurance or pay penalties and mandates that employers with more than 50 full
time employees offer affordable insurance to employees or pay an assessment. PPACA also prohibits the use of gender, health status, family history or
occupation in setting premium rates and eliminates pre-existing condition exclusions. Further, PPACA requires the Department of Health and Human Services
(“HHS”) to award loans and grants to new non-profit entities that will offer qualified health plans. PPACA also requires states to establish a health insurance
exchange and permits states to create federally funded, non-Medicaid plans for low-income residents not eligible for Medicaid. PPACA requires states to
expand eligibility under existing Medicaid programs to those at or below 133% of the federal poverty level.
Many of the provisions intended to expand insurance coverage, such as a mandate for individuals to obtain health insurance and for employers to provide
insurance to employees, become effective in 2014. Additional provisions effective January 1, 2014 that address expansion of insurance coverage include
prohibiting use of pre-existing conditions exclusions for adults, limiting premium ratings based on age, eliminating premium rating based on gender or health
status and prohibiting annual benefit limits. Other market reforms are more immediate in nature; for example, for plan years beginning on or after September
23, 2010, PPACA bans lifetime limits on essential health benefits, prohibits the use of pre-existing condition exclusions for children up to age 19, creates new
benefit mandates, including requiring preventative services and immunizations to be provided without cost-sharing, and provides for increased dependent
coverage for dependents up to age 26.
Beginning January 1, 2011, PPACA mandates minimum medical loss ratios for health plans such that the percentage of health coverage premium
revenue spent on health care medical costs and quality improvement expenses be at least 80% for individual and small group health coverage and 85% for
large group coverage, with rebates to policyholders if the actual loss ratios fall below these minimums. On November 22, 2010, HHS issued interim final
regulations clarifying the minimum medical loss ratio requirements. These regulations require each health plan to report by June 1st of each year (beginning
June 1, 2011) data regarding aggregate premiums, claims experience, quality improvement expenditures and non-claims costs incurred for policies issued in
the large group, small group and individual markets for each state in which it issues policies. We continue to focus on selling, general and administrative
expense efficiencies and on maintaining medical loss ratios across our business lines at levels that we believe will contribute to continued profitability. As a
result of the mandated minimum loss ratios, states may request waivers to these requirements for the individual market if the insurance commissioner
determines there is a reasonable likelihood that destabilization will occur when the MLR requirement is applied.
Further, PPACA imposes significant Medicare Advantage funding cuts by freezing rates for 2011 at the levels for 2010 and reducing payment rates,
during a two, four or six year period beginning in 2012, based on fee-for-service benchmarks and quality rankings. PPACA also provides for significant new
taxes, including an industry user tax paid by health insurance companies beginning in 2014, as well as an excise tax of 40% on employers offering high cost
health coverage plans beginning in 2018. The new legislation also prohibits us from deducting annual compensation exceeding $500,000 for any employee on
our Corporate income tax returns, which will result in a higher effective income tax rate.
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In addition, PPACA will lead to increased state legislative and regulatory initiatives in order for states to comply with new federal mandates and to
participate in grants and other incentive opportunities. For example, by 2014, states must establish insurance exchanges (either as a governmental entity or
non-profit entity) that facilitate individual purchases of qualified health plans and assist qualified small employers with enrolling their employees in qualified
health plans. PPACA also requires states to expand eligibility under existing Medicaid programs to those at or below 133% of the poverty level by
2014. PPACA requires insurers to submit to HHS and state regulators justifications for certain predefined rate increases and mandates that these justifications
be publicly disclosed. On December 23, 2010, HHS issued a proposed rule that would make any rate increase of 10% or more subject to additional review for
reasonableness. Such review would be performed by the state or, if the state lacks an adequate process, by HHS. In addition to state reform efforts related to
PPACA, several states are considering, or may consider, legislative proposals that could affect our ability to obtain appropriate premium rates and that would
mandate certain benefits and forbid certain policy provisions. We cannot predict the full effect of PPACA and the changes that government authorities will
approve in the future. It is probable that those changes will have an adverse effect on our business or results of operations.
Implementation of PPACA, particularly those provisions expanding health insurance coverage, could be delayed or even blocked due to court challenges
and efforts to repeal or amend the law. Further, court challenges and legislative efforts could revise or eliminate all or portions of PPACA. More than 20
challenges to PPACA have been filed in federal courts. Some federal district courts have upheld the constitutionality of PPACA or dismissed the cases on
procedural grounds. Others have held the requirement that individuals maintain health insurance or pay a penalty to be unconstitutional and have either found
PPACA void in its entirety or left the remainder of the law intact. These lawsuits are subject to appeal, and it is unclear how federal lawsuits challenging the
constitutionality of PPACA will be resolved or what the effect will be on any resulting changes to the law. For example, should the requirement that
individuals maintain health insurance coverage ultimately be deemed unconstitutional but the prohibition on health plans excluding coverage due to preexisting conditions be maintained, our business could be adversely affected.
PPACA and state reform efforts, whether independent of or related to PPACA, represent significant change across the health insurance industry, the
effect of which is not fully known due to PPACA’s complexity, the numerous regulations still to be issued or finalized that will detail its requirements, the
lack of interpretive guidance, the gradual and potentially delayed implementation, pending court challenges, possible amendment of PPACA and uncertainty
around state reform efforts. We cannot predict the full effect of PPACA and state reform efforts at this time or proivde assurance that those changes will not
have an adverse effect on our business or results of operations.
State Regulation
The states served by our health plans provide the principal legal and regulatory framework for the commercial risk products offered by our insurance
companies and HMO subsidiaries. One of our insurance company subsidiaries, Coventry Health and Life Insurance Company (“CH&L”), offers managed
care products, primarily PPO and POS products, in conjunction with our HMO subsidiaries in states where HMOs are not permitted to offer these types of
health care benefits. CH&L does not currently offer traditional health indemnity insurance. In addition, one of our subsidiaries, First Health Life & Health
Insurance Company (“FHL&H”), offers a small group PPO product in certain states. CH&L and FHL&H are domiciled in Delaware and Texas, respectively,
which have principal regulatory jurisdiction over their operations.
Our regulated subsidiaries are required by state law to file periodic reports, to meet certain minimum capital and deposit and/or reserve requirements and
may be restricted from paying dividends to the parent or making other distributions or payments under certain circumstances. They also are required to
provide their members with certain mandated benefits. Our HMO subsidiaries are required to have quality assurance and educational programs for their
professionals and enrollees. Certain states’ laws further require that representatives of the HMOs’ members have a voice in policy making. Most states impose
requirements regarding the prompt payment of claims and several states permit “any willing provider” to join our network. Compliance with “any willing
provider” laws could increase our costs of assembling and administering provider networks.
We also are subject to the insurance holding company regulations in the states in which our regulated subsidiaries operate. These laws and associated
regulations generally require registration with the state department of insurance and the filing of reports describing capital structure, ownership, financial
condition, certain inter-company transactions and business operations. Most state insurance holding company laws and regulations require prior regulatory
approval or, in some states, prior notice of acquisitions or similar transactions involving regulated companies and of certain transactions between regulated
companies and their parents. In connection with obtaining regulatory approvals of acquisitions, we may be required to agree to maintain the capital of our
regulated subsidiaries at specified levels, guarantee the solvency of such subsidiaries or satisfy other conditions. Generally, our regulated subsidiaries are
limited in their ability to pay dividends to their parent due to the requirements of state regulatory agencies that the subsidiaries maintain certain minimum
capital balances.
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Most states now impose risk-based or other net worth-based capital requirements on our regulated entities. These requirements assess the capital
adequacy of the regulated subsidiary based upon the investment asset risks, insurance risks, interest rate risks and other risks associated with the subsidiary’s
business. If a subsidiary’s capital level falls below certain required capital levels, it may be required to submit a capital corrective plan to regulatory
authorities and, at certain levels, may be subjected to regulatory orders, including regulatory control through rehabilitation or liquidation proceedings. See Part
II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources,” of this Form 10-K
for more information.
Our workers’ compensation customers are also subject to state governmental regulation. Historically, governmental strategies to contain medical costs in
the workers’ compensation field have been limited to legislation on a state-by-state basis. Many states have adopted guidelines for utilization management and
have implemented fee schedules that list maximum reimbursement levels for health care procedures. In certain states that have not authorized the use of a fee
schedule, we adjust bills to the usual and customary levels authorized by the payor.
Federal Regulation
Privacy, Security and other HIPAA Requirements
The use, disclosure and secure handling of individually identifiable health information by our business is regulated at the federal level, including the
privacy provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and privacy and security regulations pursuant to HIPAA. Further, our privacy and security practices are
subject to various state laws and regulations. Varying requirements and enforcement approaches in the different states may adversely affect our ability to
standardize our products and services across state lines. These state and federal requirements change frequently as a result of legislation, regulations and
judicial or administrative interpretations. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (“ARRA”) broadened the scope of the HIPAA privacy and
security regulations. Among other things, ARRA strengthened the enforcement provisions of HIPAA, which may result in increased enforcement
activity. Under ARRA, HHS is required to conduct periodic compliance audits of entities covered by the HIPAA regulations, known as covered entities, and
their business associates (entities that handle identifiable health information on behalf of covered entities). Many of our business operations are considered to
be covered entities under HIPAA, while others are classified as business associates.
ARRA broadened the applicability of the criminal penalty provisions under HIPAA to employees of covered entities and requires HHS to impose
penalties for violations resulting from willful neglect. ARRA also significantly increased the amount of the civil penalties, with penalties of up to $50,000 per
HIPAA violation for a maximum civil penalty of $1,500,000 in a calendar year for violations of the same requirement. In addition, ARRA authorized state
attorneys general to bring civil actions seeking either injunction or damages in response to violations of HIPAA privacy and security regulations that threaten
the privacy of state residents. Further, ARRA extended the application of certain provisions of the HIPAA security and privacy regulations to business
associates and subjected business associates to civil and criminal penalties for violation of the regulations. State and local authorities are increasingly focused
on the importance of protecting individuals from identity theft, with a significant number of states enacting laws requiring businesses to notify individuals of
security breaches involving personal information. Covered entities are required by regulations issued pursuant to ARRA to report breaches of unsecured
protected health information to affected individuals without unreasonable delay, but not to exceed 60 days of discovery of the breach by the covered entity or
its agents. Notification must also be made to HHS and, in certain situations involving large breaches, to the media.
HIPAA includes administrative requirements directed at simplifying electronic data interchange through standardizing transactions and establishing
uniform health care provider, payor and employer identifiers. HIPAA also imposes obligations for health insurance issuers and health benefit plan sponsors.
HIPAA requires guaranteed health care coverage for small employers having two to 50 employees and for individuals who meet certain eligibility
requirements. HIPAA also requires guaranteed renewability of health coverage for most employers and individuals and contains nondiscrimination
requirements. HIPAA limits exclusions based on pre-existing conditions for individuals covered under group policies to the extent the individuals had prior
creditable coverage.
Failure to comply with any of the statutory and regulatory HIPAA requirements, state privacy and security requirements and other similar federal
requirements could subject us to significant penalties.
ERISA
The provision of services to certain employee health benefit plans is subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”).
ERISA regulates certain aspects of the relationships between us and employers who maintain employee benefit plans subject to ERISA. Some of our
administrative services and other activities may also be subject to regulation under ERISA. For instance, the U.S. Department of Labor regulations under
ERISA (insured and self-insured) regulate the time allowed for health and disability plans to respond to claims and appeals, establish requirements for plan
responses to appeals and expand required disclosures to participants and beneficiaries. These requirements and the provisions thereunder have been expanded
by PPACA, including external review procedures. In addition, some states require licensure or registration of companies providing third-party claims
administration services for benefit plans. We provide a variety of products and services to employee benefit plans that are covered by ERISA.
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Medicare and Medicaid
Some of our subsidiaries contract with CMS to provide services to Medicare beneficiaries pursuant to the Medicare Advantage program. Some of our
health plans also contract with states to provide health benefits to Medicaid recipients. As a result, we are subject to extensive federal and state regulations.
CMS periodically performs risk adjustment data validation (“RADV”) audits for any health plan operating under a Medicare managed care contract to
determine the plan’s compliance with state and federal law and contractual obligations. Additionally, in some instances states engage peer review
organizations to perform quality assurance and utilization review oversight of Medicare managed care plans. Our health plans are required to abide by the
peer review organizations’ standards.
CMS rules require Medicaid managed care plans to have beneficiary protections and protect the rights of participants in the Medicaid program.
Specifically, states must assure continuous access to care for beneficiaries with ongoing health care needs who transfer from one health plan to another. States
and plans must identify enrollees with special health care needs and assess the quality and appropriateness of their care. These requirements have not had a
material adverse effect on our business.
The federal anti-kickback statute imposes criminal and civil penalties for paying or receiving remuneration (which is deemed to include a kickback,
bribe or rebate) in connection with any federal health care program, including the Medicare, Medicaid and the FEHBP. The law and related regulations have
been interpreted to prohibit the payment, solicitation, offering or receipt of any form of remuneration in return for the referral of federal health care program
patients or any item or service that is reimbursed, in whole or in part, by any federal health care program. Similar anti-kickback provisions have been adopted
by many states, which apply regardless of the source of reimbursement.
With respect to the federal anti-kickback statute, there exists a statutory exception and two safe harbors addressing certain risk-sharing arrangements. A
safe harbor is a regulation that describes relationships and activities that are deemed not to violate the federal anti-kickback statute. However, failure to satisfy
each criterion of an applicable safe harbor does not mean that the arrangement constitutes a violation of the law; rather the arrangement must be analyzed on
the basis of its specific facts and circumstances. We believe that our risk agreements satisfy the requirements of these safe harbors. In addition, the Office of
the Inspector General (“OIG”) has adopted other safe harbor regulations that relate to managed care arrangements. We believe that the incentives offered by
our subsidiaries to Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries and the discounts our plans receive from contracting health care providers satisfy the requirements of
these safe harbor regulations. We believe that our arrangements do not violate the federal or similar state anti-kickback laws.
CMS has promulgated regulations that prohibit health plans with Medicare contracts from including any direct or indirect payment to physicians or other
providers as an inducement to reduce or limit medically necessary services to a Medicare beneficiary. These regulations impose disclosure and other
requirements relating to physician incentive plans such as bonuses or withholds that could result in a physician being at “substantial financial risk” as defined
in Medicare regulations. Our ability to maintain compliance with such regulations depends, in part, on our receipt of timely and accurate information from our
providers. Although we believe we are in compliance with all such Medicare regulations, we are subject to future audit and review.
The federal False Claims Act prohibits knowingly submitting false claims to the federal government. Private individuals known as relators or
whistleblowers may bring actions on the government’s behalf under the False Claims Act and share in any settlement or judgment. Violations of the federal
False Claims Act may result in treble damages and civil penalties of up to $11,000 for each false claim. In some cases, whistleblowers, the federal
government and some courts have taken the position that providers who allegedly have violated other statutes such as the federal anti-kickback statute have
thereby submitted false claims under the False Claims Act. The Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009 expanded the scope of the False Claims Act
by, among other things, creating liability for knowingly or improperly avoiding repayment of an overpayment received from the government and broadening
protections for whistleblowers. Under the Deficit Reduction Act of 2006 (“DEFRA”), every entity that receives at least $5 million annually in Medicaid
payments must establish written policies for all employees, contractors or agents, providing detailed information about false claims, false statements and
whistleblower protections under certain federal laws, including the federal False Claims Act, and similar state laws. We have established written policies that
we believe comply with this provision of DEFRA.
A number of states, including states in which we operate, have adopted their own false claims provisions as well as their own whistleblower provisions
whereby a private party may file a civil lawsuit in state court. DEFRA creates an incentive for states to enact false claims laws that are comparable to the
federal False Claims Act. From time to time, companies in the healthcare industry, including ours, may be subject to actions under the False Claims Act or
similar state laws.
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In July 2008, the Medicare Improvements for Patients and Providers Act of 2008 (“MIPPA”) became law. MIPPA increased restrictions on marketing
and sales activities of Medicare Advantage plans, including limitations on compensation systems for agents and brokers, limitations on solicitation of
beneficiaries and prohibitions regarding many sales activities. MIPPA also imposed restrictions on Special Needs Plans, increased penalties for
reimbursement delays under Part D, required weekly reporting of pricing standards by Medicare Part D plans, and implemented focused cuts to certain
Medicare Advantage programs. Failure to comply with MIPPA or the regulations promulgated pursuant to MIPPA could result in penalties, including
suspension of enrollment, suspension of payment, suspension of marketing, fines and/or civil monetary penalties.
Federal Employees Health Benefits Program
We contract with the United States Office of Personnel Management (“OPM”) and with various federal employee organizations to provide health
insurance benefits under the FEHBP. These contracts are subject to government regulatory oversight by the OIG of OPM who perform periodic audits of
these benefit program activities to ensure that contractors meet their contractual obligations with OPM. For our managed care contracts, the OIG conducts
periodic audits to, among other things, verify that premiums established under its contracts are in compliance with community rating requirements under the
FEHBP. The OPM may seek premium refunds or institute other sanctions against health plans that participate in the program. For our experience-rated plans,
the OIG focuses on the appropriateness of contract charges, the effectiveness of claims processing, financial and cost accounting systems, and the adequacy of
internal controls to ensure proper contract charges and benefits payments. The OIG may seek refunds of costs charged under these contracts or institute other
sanctions against health plans. These audits are generally a number of years in arrears.
Risk Management
In the normal course of business, we have been named as a defendant in various legal actions such as actions seeking payments for claims for medical
services denied by the Company, medical malpractice actions, employment related claims and other various claims seeking monetary damages. The claims are
in various stages of proceedings and some may ultimately be brought to trial. Incidents occurring through December 31, 2010 may result in the assertion of
additional claims. We maintain general liability, professional liability and employment practices liability insurances in amounts that we believe are
appropriate, with varying deductibles for which we maintain reserves. The professional errors and omissions liability and employment practices liability
insurances are carried through our captive subsidiary.
Employees
At January 31, 2011, we employed approximately 14,000 persons, none of whom are covered by a collective bargaining agreement.
Acquisition Growth
We began operations in 1987 with the acquisition of the American Service Companies entities, including Coventry Health and Life Insurance Company.
We have grown substantially through acquisitions. The table below summarizes all of our significant acquisitions since 2005.
Acquisition
First Health Group Corp.
FirstGuard Health Plan Missouri
Certain workers' compensation business from Concentra, Inc.
Certain group health insurance business from Mutual of Omaha
Florida Health Plan Administrators, LLC
Mental Health Network Institutional Services, Inc.
Majority Interest in Group Dental Services
Preferred Health Systems, Inc.
MHP, Inc.

Markets
Multiple Markets
Missouri
Multiple Markets
Nebraska & Iowa
Florida
Multiple Markets
Multiple Markets
Kansas
Missouri & Arkansas
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Type of Business
Multiple Products
Medicaid
Management Services
Multiple Products
Multiple Products
Mental Health Products
Dental Products
Multiple Products
Multiple Products

Year Acquired
2005
2007
2007
2007
2007
2008
2008
2010
2010
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Executive Officers of Our Company
The following table sets forth information with respect to our executive officers as of February 1, 2011:
Allen F. Wise
Harvey C. DeMovick, Jr.
Thomas C. Zielinski
Michael D. Bahr
Kevin P. Conlin
John J. Stelben
Patrisha L. Davis
Kenneth A. Burdick
John J. Ruhlmann
David W. Young

68
64
59
52
52
49
55
52
48
46

Chief Executive Officer and Director
Executive Vice President
Executive Vice President and General Counsel
Executive Vice President, Commercial Business
Executive Vice President
Interim Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer
Senior Vice President, Medicaid Business
Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller
President and Chief Executive Officer, Workers Compensation Business

Allen F. Wise was appointed Chief Executive Officer of our Company in January 2009. He has been a director of our Company since October 1996 and
Executive Chairman since December 2008. He was non-executive Chairman of the Board from January 2005 to December 2008. Mr. Wise was a private
investor and principal investor from January 2005 to January 2009. Prior to that, he was President and Chief Executive Officer of our Company from October
1996 to December 2004.
Harvey C. DeMovick, Jr. rejoined our Company in March 2009 and was elected Executive Vice President of our Company in May 2009. From July
2007 to March 2009, Mr. DeMovick had retired from our Company and was a private investor and business consultant. From January 2005 to July 2007, Mr.
DeMovick was an Executive Vice President of our Company. He served as our Chief Information Officer from April 2001 to July 2007 and managed our
Customer Service Operations from September 2001 to July 2007.
Thomas C. Zielinski was elected Executive Vice President of our Company, effective November 2007. He is also General Counsel of our Company
and has served in that capacity since August 2001. He served as Senior Vice President of our Company from August 2001 to November 2007. Prior to that
time, Mr. Zielinski worked for 19 years in various capacities for the law firm of Cozen and O'Connor, P.C., including as a senior member, shareholder and
Chair of the firm's Commercial Litigation Department.
Michael D. Bahr was elected Executive Vice President of our Company in August 2009. From September 2003 to September 2009 he was President
and Chief Executive Officer of our Utah health plan. Mr. Bahr is an associate of the Society of Actuaries and a member of the American Academy of
Actuaries.
Kevin P. Conlin joined our Company in January 2011 as an Executive Vice President with strategic and operational responsibilities, including medical
management and network operations. From February 2004 to December 2010, he was the President and Chief Executive Officer of Via Christi Health
System, Inc., the largest provider of health care services in Kansas. For more than 20 years prior to 2004, Mr. Conlin held leadership roles with various
healthcare organizations and hospitals.
John J. Stelben was elected Interim Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of our Company in November 2009. Since May 2005, he has been a Senior
Vice President of our Company. He was a Vice President, Business Development, of our Company from October 1998 to May 2005. Mr. Stelben joined our
Company in 1994 as the Controller of our Missouri health plan.
Patrisha L. Davis was elected Senior Vice President of our Company, effective June 2007. Since November 2000, she has been the Chief Human
Resources Officer of our Company. She was a Vice President of our Company from March 2005 to June 2007. Ms. Davis has been a Human Resources
executive with our Company since April 1998.
Kenneth A. Burdick joined our Company in August 2010 as a Senior Vice President and manages our Medicaid and Behavioral Health (MHNet)
businesses. Prior to joining our Company, from October 1995 to May 2009, Mr. Burdick was with UnitedHealth Group, a diversified health and well-being
company, serving in the following positions: from May 2008 to May 2009, he was the Chief Executive Officer of Secure Horizons, a Medicare business;
from November 2006 to May 2008, he was the Chief Executive Officer of United Healthcare's Commercial Business; from April 2004 to November 2006, he
was Chief Executive Officer of United Healthcare's Southwest Region and President of United Healthcare Public Sector; from January 2000 to April 2004 he
was the Chief Executive Officer of United Healthcare of Arizona. Prior to 2000 he was the head of the national underwriting organization for all lines of
business and the general manager of the central Texas operation.
John J. Ruhlmann was elected Senior Vice President of our Company in November 2006. Prior to that he was Vice President of our Company from
November 1999 to November 2006. He has served as the Corporate Controller of our Company since November 1999.
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David W. Young was elected President and Chief Executive Officer of our subsidiary, Coventry Health Care Workers Compensation, Inc., in April
2009. From April 2007 to April 2009 he served as Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the Workers Compensation Division of our
Company. Prior to that time, from June 2003 to April 2007, he served in the positions of President, Chief Operating Officer and Vice President of Operations
at Concentra Network Services, Inc., a private insurance consulting company.
Item 1A: Risk Factors
The risks described below are not the only ones that we face. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also
impair our business operations.
Our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks. Further, the trading price of our
common stock could decline due to any of these risks, and you may lose all or part of your investment.
Our results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to accurately estimate and control future health care costs.
Most of the premium revenue we receive is based upon rates set months before we deliver services. As a result, our results of operations largely depend
on our ability to accurately estimate and control future health care costs. We base the premiums we charge, at least in part, on our estimate of expected health
care costs over the applicable premium period. Accordingly, costs we incur in excess of our cost projections generally are not recovered in the contract year
through higher premiums. We estimate our costs of future benefit claims and related expenses using actuarial methods and assumptions based upon claim
payment patterns, inflation, historical developments (including claim inventory levels and claim receipt patterns) and other relevant factors. We also record
benefits payable for future payments. We continually review estimates of future payments relating to benefit claims costs for services incurred in the current
and prior periods and make necessary adjustments to our reserves. These estimates involve extensive judgment and have considerable inherent variability that
is sensitive to payment patterns and medical cost trends. Factors that may cause health care costs to exceed our estimates include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

an increase in the cost of health care services and supplies, including pharmaceuticals;
higher than expected utilization of health care services;
periodic renegotiations of hospital, physician and other provider contracts;
the occurrence of catastrophic events, including epidemics and natural disasters;
changes in the demographics of our members and medical trends affecting them;
general inflation or economic downturns;
new mandated benefits or other legislative or regulatory changes that increase our costs;
clusters of high cost cases;
changes in or new technology; and
other unforeseen occurrences.

PPACA provides for significant health insurance market reforms and other changes to the health care industry that will affect our future premium
revenue and health care costs. For example, generally effective for plan years beginning on or after September 23, 2010, PPACA prohibits lifetime limits on
essential health benefits and rescinding coverage absent fraud or intentional misrepresentation, expands dependent coverage to include dependents up to age
26 and implements new mandated benefits for certain preventive services. Beginning January 1, 2014, PPACA, among other things, prohibits group health
plans from establishing annual limits on essential health benefits and excluding individuals based on pre-existing conditions. PPACA, as enacted, also will
require a plan to issue coverage to every employer and individual who apply and obligates plans to renew coverage once issued. Further, PPACA will prohibit
plans from establishing eligibility rules and premium rates based on most health status-related factors. In addition, PPACA provides for significant new taxes,
including an industry user tax paid by health insurance companies beginning in 2014 and an excise tax of 40% on health insurers and employers offering high
cost health coverage plans. These, among other changes, will affect our ability to predict or control future health care costs and could have an adverse effect
on the results of our operations. Because PPACA is complex, will be implemented gradually and is subject to possible amendment, we are unable to predict
its effect on our costs.
In addition, medical liabilities in our financial statements include our estimated reserves for incurred but not reported and reported but not paid claims.
The estimates for medical liabilities are made on an accrual basis. We believe that our reserves for medical liabilities are adequate, but we cannot assure you
of this. Increases from our current estimates of liabilities could adversely affect our results of operations.
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Our results of operations will be adversely affected if we are unable to increase premiums to offset increases in our health care costs.
Our results of operations depend on our ability to increase premiums to offset increases in our health care costs. Although we attempt to base the
premiums we charge on our estimate of future health care costs, we may not be able to control the premiums we charge as a result of competition, government
regulations and other factors. PPACA provides for a number of health insurance reforms, as well as an industry tax, that may increase our health care costs.
At the same time, PPACA contains provisions that will require insurers to submit to HHS and state regulators justifications for “unreasonable” rate increases
and mandates these justifications be publicly disclosed. On December 23, 2010, HHS issued a proposed rule that would make any rate increase of 10% or
more subject to additional review for reasonableness. Such review would be performed by the state or, if the state lacks an adequate process, by HHS.
Further, by plan year 2014, PPACA provides for monitoring of all premium increases and requires plans with excessive rate increases to be excluded from the
insurance exchanges created under PPACA. Our results of operations could be adversely affected if we are unable to set premium rates at appropriate levels or
adjust premium rates in the event our health care costs increase.
General economic conditions and disruptions in the financial markets could adversely affect our business, results of operations and investment
portfolio.
Unfavorable economic conditions, particularly high unemployment and reduced economic growth, could adversely affect our business, results of
operations and investment portfolio.
For instance, a decline in members covered under our plans could result from layoffs and downsizing or the elimination of health benefits by employers
seeking to cut costs. Economic conditions could cause our existing members to seek health coverage alternatives that we do not offer or could, in addition to
significant membership loss, result in lower average premium yields or decreased margins on continuing membership. In addition, the economic downturn
could negatively affect our employer group renewals and our ability to increase premiums.
The state of the economy also adversely affects the states’ budgets, which can result in states attempting to reduce payments to Medicaid plans in those
states in which we offer Medicaid plans and to increase taxes and assessments on our activities. Although we could attempt to mitigate our exposure from
such increased costs through, among other things, increases in premiums, there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so.
A drop in the prices of securities across global financial markets could negatively affect our investment portfolio. Additionally, defaults by issuers of the
corporate and municipal bonds in which we invest may also adversely affect our investment portfolio. For example, while investments in municipal bonds
have historically experienced relatively low rates of default, the current economic environment has resulted in many municipalities operating at a deficit.
These conditions could negatively affect the valuation of our municipal bond portfolio as well as our ability to collect from such issuers. Some of our
investments could further experience other-than-temporary declines in fair value, requiring us to record impairment charges that adversely affect our financial
results.
We conduct business in a heavily regulated industry and changes in laws or regulations or government investigations could adversely affect our
business and results of operations.
Our business is heavily regulated by federal, state and local authorities. We are required to obtain and maintain various regulatory approvals to offer
many of our products. Delays in obtaining or failure to obtain or maintain these approvals could adversely affect our results of operations. Legislation or
other regulatory reform that increases the regulatory requirements imposed on us or that changes the way we currently do business may in the future adversely
affect our business and results of operations.
Federal, state and local authorities frequently consider changes to laws and regulations, including regulatory changes resulting from PPACA. Legislative
or regulatory changes that could adversely affect our business and our subsidiaries include changes that:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

impose increased liability for adverse consequences of medical decisions;
increase limits or regulatory oversight of premium levels or establish new or more stringent minimum medical expense ratios for certain products;
increase minimum capital, reserves and other financial viability requirements;
increase government sponsorship of competing health plans;
impose new or higher fines or other penalties for the failure to pay claims promptly;
impose new or higher fines or other penalties as a result of market conduct reviews;
increase regulation of or prohibit rental access to health care provider networks;
increase regulation of or prohibit provider financial incentives and provider risk-sharing arrangements;
require health plans to offer expanded or new benefits;
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•
•
•
•
•

increase limits on the ability of health plans to manage care and utilization, including “any willing provider” and direct access laws that restrict or
prohibit product features that encourage members to seek services from contracted providers or through referral by a primary care provider;
increase limits on contractual terms with providers, including audit, payment and termination provisions;
implement new mandatory third-party review processes for coverage denials;
impose additional health care information privacy or security requirements; and
increase restrictions on marketing Medicare Advantage, Prescription Drug Plans or other products to individuals.

These or other changes could have a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial condition. For example, several states are
considering, or may consider, legislative proposals that could affect our ability to obtain appropriate premium rates and that would mandate certain benefits
and forbid certain policy provisions, or otherwise materially adversely affect our business operations and financial condition.
PPACA represents significant change across the health care industry. PPACA, as enacted, seeks to decrease the number of uninsured individuals and
expand coverage through a combination of public program expansion and private sector health insurance reforms. In order to expand coverage, PPACA, as
enacted, requires individuals to obtain health insurance or pay penalties and mandates that employers with more than 50 full-time employees offer affordable
insurance to employees or pay an assessment. PPACA also prohibits the use of gender, health status, family history or occupation in setting premium rates
and eliminates pre-existing condition exclusions. Further, PPACA requires HHS to award loans and grants to new non-profit entities that will offer qualified
health plans. PPACA also requires states to establish a health insurance exchange and permits states to create federally funded, non-Medicaid plans for lowincome residents not eligible for Medicaid. PPACA requires states to expand eligibility under existing Medicaid programs to those at or below 133% of the
federal poverty level. In addition, PPACA may lead to increased state legislative and regulatory initiatives in order for states to comply with new federal
mandates and to participate in grants and other incentive opportunities.
Many of these provisions of PPACA do not become effective until 2014. Other provisions of PPACA are more immediate in nature and have already
taken effect. For example, PPACA bans lifetime limits on essential health benefits and the rescission of health care coverage absent fraud or intentional
misrepresentation, effective for plan years beginning on or after September 23, 2010. PPACA also expands dependent coverage to include children up to age
26 and mandates minimum medical loss ratios for health plans such that the percentage of health coverage premium revenue spent on health care medical
costs and quality improvement expenses be at least 80% for individual and small group health coverage and 85% for large group coverage, with rebates to
policyholders if the actual loss ratios fall below these minimums. Further, PPACA imposes new benefit mandates, including requiring preventative services
and immunizations to be provided without cost-sharing.
Implementation of PPACA, particularly those provisions expanding health insurance coverage, could be delayed or even blocked due to court challenges
and efforts to repeal or amend the law. Further, court challenges and legislative efforts could revise or eliminate all or portions of PPACA. More than 20
challenges to PPACA have been filed in federal courts. Some federal district courts have upheld the constitutionality of PPACA or dismissed the cases on
procedural grounds. Others have held the requirement that individuals maintain health insurance or pay a penalty to be unconstitutional and have either found
PPACA void in its entirety or left the remainder of the law intact. These lawsuits are subject to appeal, and it is unclear how federal lawsuits challenging the
constitutionality of PPACA will be resolved or what the effect will be on any resulting changes to the law. For example, should the requirement that
individuals maintain health insurance coverage ultimately be deemed unconstitutional but the prohibition on health plans excluding coverage due to preexisting conditions be maintained, our business could be adversely affected. As a result of the mandated minimum loss ratios, states may request waivers to
these requirements for the individual market if the insurance commissioner determines there is a reasonable likelihood that destabilization will occur when the
MLR requirement is applied.
These or other changes could have a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial condition. In addition, several states are
considering legislative proposals that could affect our ability to obtain appropriate premium rates and that would mandate certain benefits and forbid certain
policy provisions, or otherwise materially adversely affect our business operations and financial condition.
Given the complexities of PPACA, the numerous regulations still to be issued that will detail its requirements, the lack of interpretive guidance and our
inability to foresee how individuals and businesses will respond to the choices afforded them by the law, we cannot predict the full effect of PPACA on us at
this time. We also cannot predict the changes that government authorities will approve in the future or assure you that those changes will not have an adverse
affect on our business or results of operations.
We also may be subject to governmental investigations or inquiries from time to time. The existence of such investigations in our industry could
negatively affect the market value of all companies in our industry. As a result of recent investigations, including audits, CMS has imposed sanctions and
fines including immediate suspension of all enrollment and marketing activities and civil monetary penalties on certain Medicare Advantage plans run by our
competitors. In addition, suits may be brought by a private individual under a qui tam suit, or “whistleblower” suit; such whistleblower suits have resulted in
significant settlements between governmental agencies and healthcare companies. When a private individual brings such a whistleblower suit, the defendant
often will not be made aware of the lawsuit for many months or even years, until the government commences its own investigation or makes a determination
as to whether it will intervene. The significant incentives and protections provided under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
increase the risk that these whistleblower suits will become more frequent. Further, it is possible that governmental entities could directly initiate
investigations or litigation involving our Company. Any governmental investigations of Coventry could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations or business or result in significant liabilities to our Company, as well as adverse publicity.
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We may be adversely affected by changes in government funding and various other risks associated with our participation in Medicare and
Medicaid programs.
The federal government and many states from time to time consider altering the level of funding for government healthcare programs, including
Medicare and Medicaid. DEFRA included Medicaid cuts of approximately $4.8 billion over five years. State budget deficits could lead to changes in
eligibility, coverage or other program changes in efforts to reduce Medicaid funding. MIPPA reduced federal spending on the Medicare Advantage program
by $48.7 billion over the 2008-2018 period. PPACA imposes additional cuts to the Medicare Advantage program of approximately $145 billion over ten years
and subjects plans to fee adjustments based on whether the plans meet service benchmarks and their quality rankings. We cannot predict future Medicare or
Medicaid funding levels or ensure that changes to Medicare or Medicaid funding will not have an adverse effect on our business or results of operations.
Additional risks associated with the Medicare Advantage and Medicare prescription drug plans include potential uncollectability of receivables resulting
from processing and/or verifying enrollment, uncollectability of premiums from members, inadequacy of underwriting assumptions, inability to receive and
process correct information (including inabilities due to systems issues by federal and state governments or us), increased medical or pharmaceutical costs,
and the underlying seasonality of this business. If we are unable to maintain the administrative and operational capabilities to address the additional needs and
increasing regulation of our Medicare programs, it could have a material adverse effect on our Medicare business and operating results.
In addition, if the cost or complexity of Medicare programs exceed our expectations or prevent effective program implementation, if the government
alters or reduces funding of Medicare programs, if we fail to design and maintain programs that are attractive to Medicare participants or if we are not
successful in winning contract renewals or new contracts during the competitive bidding process, our current Medicare business and our ability to expand our
Medicare operations could be materially and adversely affected.
A reduction in the number of members in our health plans could adversely affect our results of operations.
A reduction in the number of members in our health plans could reduce revenues and adversely affect our results of operations. Factors that could
contribute to the loss of membership include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

competition in premium or plan benefits from other health care benefit companies;
reductions in the number of employers offering health care coverage;
reductions in work force by existing customers;
adverse economic conditions;
our increases in premiums or benefit changes;
our exit from a market or the termination of a health plan;
legislative or regulatory changes that may affect our ability to maintain membership;
negative publicity and news coverage relating to our Company or the managed health care industry generally; and
catastrophic events, including natural disasters, epidemics, man-made catastrophes and other unforeseen occurrences.

Our growth strategy is dependent in part upon our ability to acquire additional managed care businesses and successfully integrate those
businesses into our operations.
Part of our growth strategy is to grow through the acquisition of additional health plans and other managed care businesses. Historically, we have
significantly increased our revenues through a number of acquisitions. We cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to locate suitable acquisition
candidates, obtain required governmental approvals, successfully integrate the businesses we acquire and realize anticipated operational improvements and
cost savings. The businesses we acquire also may not achieve our anticipated levels of profitability. Our future growth rate will be adversely affected if we are
not able to successfully complete acquisitions. In such acquisitions, we may assume liabilities that could adversely affect our business. Additionally, we may
issue stock in connection with such acquisitions, which would result in dilution to existing stockholders, or we could incur debt to finance such acquisitions.
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Competition may limit our ability to attract new members or to increase or maintain our premium rates, which would adversely affect our
results of operations.
We operate in a highly competitive environment that may affect our ability to attract new members and increase premium rates. We compete with other
health plans for members. We believe the principal factors influencing the choice among health care options are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

price of benefits offered and cost and risk of alternatives such as self-insurance;
location and choice of health care providers;
quality of customer service;
comprehensiveness of coverage offered;
reputation for quality care;
financial stability of the plan; and
diversity of product offerings.

We compete with other managed care companies that may have broader geographical coverage, more established reputations in our markets, greater
market share, larger contracting scale, lower costs and/or greater financial and other resources. We also may face increased rate competition from certain Blue
Cross plan competitors that might be required by state regulation to reduce capital surpluses that may be deemed excessive. In addition, by 2014, PPACA, as
enacted, will significantly expand Medicaid and require states to establish a health insurance exchange which may affect competition among health plans.
The non-renewal or termination of our government contracts or unsuccessful bids for business with government agencies could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our contracts with state government programs are subject to renewal, termination and competitive bidding procedures. In particular, the contract
between our HealthCare USA subsidiary and the Missouri Medicaid program, MO HealthNet, is subject to two successive one-year extensions running
through June 30, 2012, if MO HealthNet so elects. MO HealthNet did elect to continue our first one-year extension which runs from July 1, 2010 through
June 30, 2011.
Certain health plans contract directly with the federal government, specifically the OPM. Our subcontracts to administer fee-for-service plans in the
FEHBP are also tied to annual contracts held between the employee organizations that sponsor those plans and OPM. These contracts are subject to annual
renewals.
If we are unable to renew or successfully re-bid for these and/or other of our state or federal contracts, or if such contracts were terminated or renewed
on less favorable terms, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
We depend on the services of non-exclusive independent agents and brokers to market our products to employers, and we cannot assure you
that they will continue to market our products in the future.
We depend on the services of independent agents and brokers to market our managed care products and services, particularly to small employer group
members. We do not have long term contracts with independent agents and brokers, who typically are not dedicated exclusively to us and frequently market
the health care products of our competitors. Due to mandates imposed on our industry by PPACA, we must spend a certain percentage of every premium
dollar on medical care. As a result, we may need to change our commission schedules in order to remain profitable. We face intense competition for the
services and allegiance of independent agents and brokers, and we cannot assure you that agents and brokers will continue to market our products in a fair and
consistent manner.
If we fail to obtain cost-effective agreements with a sufficient number of providers we may experience higher medical costs and a decrease in
our membership.
Our future results largely depend on our ability to enter into cost-effective agreements with hospitals, physicians and other health care providers. The
terms of those provider contracts will have a material effect on our medical costs and our ability to control these costs. Our ability to contract successfully
with a sufficiently large number of providers in a particular geographic market will affect the relative attractiveness of our managed care products in those
markets. In addition, our ability to contract at competitive rates with our PPO and workers’ compensation related providers will affect the attractiveness and
profitability of our products in the national account, network rental and workers’ compensation businesses.
In some of our markets, there are large provider systems that have a major presence. Some of these large provider systems have operated their own
health plans in the past or may choose to do so in the future. These provider systems could adversely affect our product offerings and results of operations if
they refuse to contract with us, place us at a competitive disadvantage or use their market position to negotiate contracts that are less favorable to us. Provider
agreements are subject to periodic renewal and renegotiation. We cannot assure you that these large provider systems will continue to contract with us or that
they will contract with us on terms that are favorable to us.
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Negative publicity regarding the managed health care industry generally, or our Company in particular, could adversely affect our results of
operations or business.
Over the last several years, the managed health care industry has been subject to a significant amount of negative publicity. Negative publicity regarding
the managed health care industry generally, or our Company in particular, may result in increased regulation and legislative review of industry practices,
further increasing our costs of doing business and adversely affecting our results of operations by:
•
•
•

requiring us to change our products and services;
increasing the regulatory burdens under which we operate; or
adversely affecting our ability to market our products or services to employers, individuals or other customers.

Negative publicity relating to our Company also may adversely affect our ability to attract and retain members.
The failure to effectively protect, maintain and develop our information technology systems could adversely affect our business and results of
operations.
We depend on our information technology systems for timely and accurate information. Our ability to adequately price our products and services,
provide effective and efficient service to our customers, and report our financial results timely and accurately depends significantly on the integrity of the data
in our information technology systems. Our information technology systems require an ongoing commitment of significant resources to protect, maintain and
enhance existing systems and develop and integrate new systems in order to keep pace with continuing changes in information processing technology,
evolving industry and regulatory standards and changing customer preferences.
There can be no assurance that our process of protecting, maintaining and enhancing existing systems, developing and integrating new systems and
improving service levels will not be delayed, disrupted or adversely affected by internal or external factors, or that additional systems issues will not arise in
the future. If the information we rely upon to run our businesses is found to be inaccurate or unreliable or if we fail to protect, maintain, enhance or develop
our information technology systems effectively, we could:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

lose existing customers;
have difficulty attracting new customers;
have problems in determining medical cost estimates and establishing appropriate pricing and reserves;
have difficulty preventing, detecting and controlling fraud;
have disputes with customers, physicians and other health care professionals;
have regulatory sanctions or penalties imposed;
have disruptions in our business operations;
have increases in administrative costs; or
suffer other adverse consequences.

In addition, we may from time to time contract and obtain significant portions of our systems-related or other services or facilities from independent
third parties. This dependence makes our operations vulnerable to such independent third parties’ failure to perform adequately under the contract. The
failure by an independent third party to perform could adversely affect our operations and hinder our ability to effectively maintain and use our information
technology systems.
We face periodic reviews, audits and investigations under our contracts with federal and state government agencies which could have adverse
findings that may negatively affect our business.
We contract with various federal and state governmental agencies to provide managed health care services. Pursuant to these contracts, we are subject to
various governmental reviews, audits and investigations to verify our compliance with the contracts and applicable laws and regulations. Any adverse review,
audit or investigation could result in:
•
•
•
•

refunding of amounts we have been paid pursuant to our government contracts;
imposition of fines, penalties and other sanctions on us;
loss of our right to participate in various federal programs;
damage to our reputation in various markets;
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•
•

increased difficulty in selling our products and services; and
loss of one or more of our licenses to act as an insurer or HMO or to otherwise provide a service.

CMS periodically performs RADV audits and may seek return of premium payments made to our Company if risk adjustment factors are not properly
supported by medical record data. We estimate and record reserves for CMS audits based on information available at the time the estimates are made. The
judgments and uncertainties affecting the application of these policies include significant estimates related to the amount of hierarchical condition category
(“HCC”) revenue subject to audit and anticipated error rates. Although our Company maintains reserves for its exposure to the RADV audits, actual results
could differ materially from those estimates. Accordingly, CMS RADV audit results could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.
We are subject to litigation, including litigation based on new or evolving legal theories that could adversely affect our results of operations.
Due to the nature of our business, we are subject to a variety of legal actions relating to our business operations including claims relating to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our denial of non-covered benefits;
vicarious liability for medical malpractice claims filed against our providers;
disputes with our providers alleging RICO and antitrust violations;
disputes with our providers over reimbursement and termination of provider contracts;
disputes related to our non-risk business, including actions alleging breach of fiduciary duties, claim administration errors and failure to disclose
network rate discounts and other fee and rebate arrangements;
disputes over our co-payment calculations;
customer audits of our compliance with our plan obligations; and
disputes over payments for out-of-network benefits.

We describe certain litigation to which we are or have been a party in Note L, Commitments and Contingencies, to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, plaintiffs continue to bring new types of legal claims against managed care companies. Recent court decisions and legislative activity
increase our exposure to these types of claims. In some cases, plaintiffs may seek class action status and substantial economic, non-economic or punitive
damages. The loss of even one of these claims, if it resulted in a significant damage award, could have an adverse effect on our financial condition or results
of operations. In the event a plaintiff was to obtain a significant damage award it may make reasonable settlements of claims more difficult to obtain. We
cannot determine with any certainty what new theories of recovery may evolve or what their effect may be on the managed care industry in general or on us in
particular.
We have, and expect to maintain, liability insurance coverage for some of the potential legal liabilities we may incur. Currently, professional errors and
omissions liability and employment practices liability insurance is covered through our captive subsidiary. Potential liabilities that we incur may not be
covered by insurance. Further, our insurers may dispute coverage or be unable to meet their obligations, or the amount of our insurance coverage may be
inadequate. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain insurance coverage in the future or that insurance coverage will continue to be available on a
cost effective basis, if at all.
Our stock price and trading volume may be volatile.
From time to time, the price and trading volume of our common stock, as well as the stock of other companies in the health care industry, may
experience periods of significant volatility. Company-specific issues and developments generally in the health care industry (including the regulatory
environment) and the capital markets and the economy in general may cause this volatility. Our stock price and trading volume may fluctuate in response to a
number of events and factors, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

variations in our operating results;
changes in the market’s expectations about our future operating results;
changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts concerning our Company or the health care industry generally;
operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors may deem comparable;
news reports relating to trends in our markets;
changes or proposed changes in the laws and regulations affecting our business;
acquisitions and financings by us or others in our industry; and
sales of substantial amounts of our common stock by our directors and executive officers or principal stockholders, or the perception that such sales
could occur.
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Our indebtedness imposes certain restrictions on our business and operations.
The indentures for our senior notes and bank credit agreement impose restrictions on our business and operations. These restrictions may limit our ability
to, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

incur additional debt;
pay dividends, repurchase common stock, or make other restricted payments;
create or permit certain liens on our assets;
sell assets;
create or permit restrictions on the ability of certain of our restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other distributions to us;
enter into transactions with affiliates;
enter into sale and leaseback transactions; and
consolidate or merge with or into other companies or sell all or substantially all of our assets.

Our ability to generate sufficient cash to service our indebtedness will depend on numerous factors beyond our control.
Our ability to service our indebtedness will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future. Our ability to generate the cash necessary to service our
indebtedness is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control. We cannot assure you
that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will be available in an amount sufficient to enable us to service
our indebtedness or to fund other liquidity needs. In addition, we will be more vulnerable to economic downturns, adverse industry conditions and competitive
pressures as a result of our significant indebtedness. We may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness before maturity. We cannot assure you that
we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness or that we will be able to refinance our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms.
A substantial amount of our cash flow is generated by our regulated subsidiaries.
Our regulated subsidiaries conduct a substantial amount of our consolidated operations. Consequently, our cash flow and our ability to pay our debt and
fund future acquisitions depends, in part, on the amount of cash that the parent company receives from our regulated subsidiaries. Our subsidiaries’ ability to
make any payments to the parent company will depend on their earnings, business and tax considerations, legal and regulatory restrictions and economic
conditions. Our regulated subsidiaries are subject to HMO and insurance regulations that require them to meet or exceed various capital standards and may
restrict their ability to pay dividends or make cash transfers to the parent company. If our regulated subsidiaries are restricted from paying the parent company
dividends or otherwise making cash transfers to the parent company, it could have a material adverse effect on the parent company’s cash flow. For additional
information regarding our regulated subsidiaries’ statutory capital requirements, see Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources - Statutory Capital Requirements,” of this Form 10-K.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law could delay, discourage or prevent a change in control of our Company that our
stockholders may consider favorable.
Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may delay, discourage or prevent a merger, acquisition or change in control
involving our Company that our stockholders may consider favorable. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for
stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. Among other things, these provisions:
•
•
•
•

provide for a classified board of directors with staggered three-year terms so that no more than one-third of our directors can be replaced at any
annual meeting;
provide that directors may be removed without cause only by the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of our outstanding shares;
provide that amendment or repeal of the provisions of our certificate of incorporation establishing our classified board of directors must be
approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of three-fourths of our outstanding shares; and
establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on by
stockholders at a meeting.

These provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may discourage transactions that otherwise could provide for the
payment of a premium over prevailing market prices for our common stock and also could limit the price that investors are willing to pay in the future for
shares of our common stock.
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Our results of operations and shareholders’ equity could be materially adversely affected if we have an impairment of our intangible assets.
Due largely to our past acquisitions, goodwill and other intangible assets represent a substantial portion of our total assets, as described in Note A,
Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Note E, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, to the consolidated financial
statements. In accordance with applicable accounting standards, we perform periodic assessments of our goodwill and other intangible assets to determine
whether all or a portion of their carrying values may no longer be recoverable, in which case a charge to earnings may be necessary. This impairment testing
requires us to make assumptions and judgments regarding the estimated fair value of our reporting units. Fair value is calculated using a blend of a projected
income and market value approach. Estimated fair values developed based on our assumptions and judgments might be significantly different if other
assumptions and estimates were to be used. Any future evaluations requiring an asset impairment of our goodwill and other intangible assets could materially
affect our results of operations and shareholders’ equity in the period in which the impairment occurs.
Item 1B: Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2: Properties
As of December 31, 2010, we leased approximately 89,000 square feet of space for our corporate office in Bethesda, Maryland. We also leased
approximately 1,936,000 aggregate square feet for office space, subsidiary operations and customer service centers for the various markets where our health
plans and other subsidiaries operate, of which approximately 4% is subleased. Our leases expire at various dates from 2011 through 2020. We also own nine
buildings throughout the country with approximately 798,000 square feet, which is used for administrative services related to our subsidiaries’ operations, of
which approximately 3% is subleased. We believe that our facilities are adequate for our operations.
Item 3: Legal Proceedings
See Legal Proceedings in Note L, Commitments and Contingencies, to the consolidated financial statements, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 4: (Removed and Reserved)
Not Applicable.
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PART II
Item 5: Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Price Range of Common Stock
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) stock market under the ticker symbol “CVH.” The following table sets forth
the quarterly range of the high and low sales prices of the common stock on the NYSE stock markets during the calendar period indicated. Such quotations
represent inter-dealer prices without retail markup, markdown or commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions:
2010
High
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$

2009
Low

27.27
25.53
22.14
27.44

$

High
21.82
17.59
16.61
20.35

$

Low
17.33
20.10
24.84
25.78

$

7.97
12.29
17.45
18.18

On January 31, 2011, we had approximately 574 stockholders of record, not including beneficial owners of shares held in nominee name. On January
31, 2011, our closing price was $29.97.
We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock and expect for the foreseeable future to retain all of our earnings to finance the development
of our business, repurchase our common stock or pay down our debt. Our ability to pay dividends is limited by certain covenants and restrictions contained in
our debt obligations and by insurance regulations applicable to our subsidiaries. Subject to the terms of such insurance regulations and debt covenants, any
future decision as to the payment of dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on our earnings, financial position, capital
requirements and other relevant factors. See Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The Company’s Board of Directors has approved a program to repurchase our outstanding common shares. Share repurchases may be made from time
to time at prevailing prices on the open market, by block purchase, or in private transactions. Under the share repurchase program, the Company did not
repurchase any shares of its common stock during 2010. The Company previously repurchased 1.5 million shares of its common stock during 2009 at an
aggregate cost of $30.0 million and 7.3 million shares during 2008 at an aggregate cost of $318.0 million. As of December 31, 2010, the total remaining
number of common shares the Company is authorized to repurchase under this program is 5.2 million.
The following table shows our purchases of our common shares during the quarter ended December 31, 2010 (in thousands, except average price per
share information).

Total Number of
Shares Purchased (1)
October 1-31, 2010
4
November 1-30,
2010
11
December 1-31,
2010
1
16
Totals
(1)
(2)

Average Price Paid per
Share
$
23.34

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans
-

Maximum Number of
Shares That May Yet
Be Purchased Under
The Plan or Program (2)
5,213

$

25.40

-

5,213

$
$

26.25
25.02

-

5,213
5,213

Includes shares purchased in connection with the vesting of restricted stock awards to satisfy employees’ minimum statutory tax withholding obligations.
These shares are under a stock repurchase program previously announced on December 20, 1999, as amended.
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Item 6: Selected Financial Data
(in thousands, except per share and membership data)
Operations Statement Data (1, 2)
Operating revenues
Operating earnings
Earnings before income taxes
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net earnings
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic (loss) earnings per share from discontinued operations
Total basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Diluted (loss) earnings per share from discontinued operations
Total diluted earnings per share
Dividends declared per share
Balance Sheet Data (1, 2)
Cash and investments
Total assets
Total medical liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Debt
Stockholders' equity
Operating Data (1, 2)
Medical loss ratio
Operating earnings ratio
Administrative expense ratio
Basic weighted average shares outstanding
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding
Total risk membership
Total non-risk membership

2010

2009

$ 11,587,916
689,285
686,534
438,616
438,616
3.00
3.00
2.97
2.97
-

$ 13,903,526
501,951
504,554
315,334
(73,033)
242,301
2.15
(0.50)
1.65
2.14
(0.50)
1.64
-

$

$

4,055,443
8,495,585
1,237,690
414,025
1,599,396
4,199,166
79.4%
5.9%
16.9%
146,169
147,579
3,961,000
1,157,000

3,855,647
8,166,532
1,605,407
456,518
1,599,027
3,712,554
85.4%
3.6%
15.5%
146,652
147,395
4,020,000
1,249,000

December 31,
2008

2007

2006

$ 11,734,227
585,529
571,861
362,000
19,895
381,895
2.43
0.13
2.56
2.41
0.13
2.54
-

$ 9,694,176
901,328
963,212
605,444
20,650
626,094
3.91
0.13
4.04
3.85
0.13
3.98
-

$ 7,549,253
828,539
883,021
551,457
8,588
560,045
3.48
0.05
3.53
3.42
0.05
3.47
-

$

$ 2,859,237
7,158,791
1,161,963
445,470
1,662,021
3,301,479

$ 2,793,800
5,665,107
1,121,151
309,616
760,500
2,953,002

3,171,121
7,727,398
1,446,391
368,482
1,902,472
3,430,669
84.0%
5.0%
16.5%
148,893
150,208
3,281,000
1,347,000

79.6%
9.3%
17.0%
154,884
157,357
3,140,000
1,533,000

79.3%
11.0%
15.6%
158,601
161,434
2,620,000
1,487,000

Balance Sheet Data includes acquisition balances as of December 31 of the year of acquisition. Operating Data includes the results of operations of
acquisitions from the date of the respective acquisition. See the notes to the consolidated financial statements for information about our acquisitions.
(2) Unless noted as discontinued operations, Operating Data excludes First Health Services Corporation (“FHSC”) operating results for each year presented
due to the sale of this business in July 2009. Balance Sheet Data does not exclude FHSC balances for 2008 and prior periods as amounts are immaterial. See
the notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information about our discontinued operations presentation.
(1)
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Item 7: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
This Item 7 contains forward-looking statements as described in Part I. These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties described in
Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of this Form 10-K. The organization of our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations is as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Executive-Level Overview
Critical Accounting Policies
New Accounting Standards
Acquisitions
Membership
Results of Operations
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Other Disclosures

Executive-Level Overview
General Operations
We are a diversified national managed healthcare company based in Bethesda, Maryland, operating health plans, insurance companies, network rental
and workers’ compensation services companies. Through our Health Plan and Medical Services, Specialized Managed Care, and Workers’ Compensation
reportable segments, which we also refer to as “Divisions,” we provide a full range of risk and fee-based managed care products and services to a broad cross
section of individuals, employer and government-funded groups, government agencies, and other insurance carriers and administrators.
Summary of 2010 Performance
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Revenues from continuing operations, excluding Medicare Advantage Private-Fee-For-Service (“PFFS”), increased 5.5% from the prior year.
Health Plan Commercial Group Risk membership growth of 223,000 from the prior year-end, an increase of 15.7%.
Medicaid membership growth of 64,000 from the prior year-end, an increase of 16.4%.
Cash flow from operations of $272.3 million, a decrease from the prior year primarily due to the run out of medical claims from the PFFS product.
Debt to capital ratio of 27.6%, a decrease of 8.3% from the prior year.
Operating earnings as a percentage of revenues were 5.9%, compared to 3.6% in the prior year.
Income from continuing operations of $438.6 million, an increase of 39.1% from 2009 income from continuing operations.
Diluted EPS from continuing operations of $2.97, an increase of 38.8% from 2009 diluted EPS from continuing operations.
Operating Revenue and Products

We operate health plans, insurance companies, managed care services companies and workers’ compensation services companies and generate our
operating revenues from premiums and fees for a broad range of managed care and management service products. Managed care premiums for our
commercial risk products, for which we assume full underwriting risk, can vary. For example, premiums for our PPO and POS products are typically lower
than our HMO premiums due to medical underwriting and higher deductibles and co-payments that are typically required of the PPO and POS members.
Managed care premium rates for our government programs, Medicare and state-sponsored managed Medicaid are largely established by governmental
regulatory agencies. These government products are offered in select markets where we believe we can achieve profitable growth based upon favorable
reimbursement levels, provider costs and regulatory climates.
Revenue for our management services products (“non-risk”) is generally derived from a fixed administrative fee, provided on a predetermined
contractual basis or on a percentage-of-savings basis, for access to our health care provider networks and health care management services, for which we do
not assume underwriting risk. The management services we provide typically include health care provider network management, clinical management,
pharmacy benefit management (“PBM”), bill review, claims repricing, claims processing, utilization review and quality assurance.
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Operating Expenses
We incur medical costs related to our products for which we assume underwriting risk. Our medical costs include medical claims paid under contractual
relationships with a wide variety of providers and capitation arrangements. Medical costs also include an estimate of claims incurred but not reported.
We maintain provider networks that furnish health care services through contractual arrangements with physicians, hospitals and other health care
providers. Prescription drug benefits are provided through a formulary comprised of an extensive list of drugs. Drug prices are negotiated at discounted rates
through a national network of pharmacies. Drug costs for our risk products are included in medical costs.
We have capitation arrangements for certain ancillary heath care services, such as laboratory services and, in some cases, physician and radiology
services. A small percentage of our membership is covered by global capitation arrangements. Under the typical arrangement, the provider receives a fixed
percentage of premium to cover costs of all medical care or of the specified ancillary services provided to the capitated members. Under some capitated and
professional capitation arrangements, physicians may also receive additional compensation from risk sharing and other incentive arrangements. Capitation
arrangements limit our exposure to the risk of increasing medical costs but expose us to risk as to the adequacy of the financial and medical care resources of
the provider organization. We are ultimately responsible for the coverage of our members pursuant to the customer agreements. To the extent a provider
organization faces financial difficulties or otherwise is unable to perform its obligations under the capitation arrangements, we will be required to perform
such obligations. Consequently, we may have to incur costs in excess of the amounts we would otherwise have to pay under the original global or ancillary
capitation through our contracted network arrangements. Medical costs associated with capitation arrangements made up approximately 6.4% of our total
medical costs for the year ended December 31, 2010.
We have established systems to monitor the availability, appropriateness and effectiveness of the patient care we provide. We collect utilization data in
each of our markets that we use to analyze over-utilization or under-utilization of services and assist our health plans in arranging for appropriate care for their
members and improving patient outcomes in a cost efficient manner. Medical directors also monitor the utilization of diagnostic services and encourage the
use of outpatient surgery and testing where appropriate. Each health plan collects data showing each physician’s utilization profile for diagnostic tests,
specialty referrals and hospitalization and presents such data to the health plan’s physicians. The medical directors monitor these results in an effort to ensure
the use of medically appropriate, cost-effective services.
We incur cost of sales expense for prescription drugs provided by our workers’ compensation pharmacy benefit manager and for the independent
medical examinations performed by physicians on injured workers. These costs are associated with fee-based products.
Our selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for personnel involved in the administration of services
we offer as well as commissions paid to brokers and agents who assist in the sale of our products. To a lesser extent, our selling, general and administration
expenses include other administrative and facility costs needed to provide these administrative services. We operate regional service centers that perform
claims processing, premium billing and collection, enrollment and customer service functions. Our regional service centers enable us to take advantage of
economies of scale, implement standardized management practices and capitalize on the benefits of our integrated information technology systems.
Cash Flows
We generate cash through operations. As a profitable company in an industry that is not capital equipment intensive, we have generally not needed to use
external financing to fund operations. Our primary use of cash is to pay medical claims. Any excess cash has historically been used for acquisitions, to repay
indebtedness and for repurchases of our common stock.
Critical Accounting Policies
We consider the accounting policies described below critical in preparing our consolidated financial statements. Critical accounting policies are ones that
require difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. The
judgments and uncertainties affecting the application of these policies include significant estimates and assumptions made by us using information available at
the time the estimates are made. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
Revenue Recognition
Managed care premiums are recorded as revenue in the month in which members are entitled to service. Premiums are based on both a per subscriber
contract rate and the number of subscribers in our records at the time of billing. Premium billings are generally sent to employers in the month preceding the
month of coverage. Premium billings may be subsequently adjusted to reflect changes in membership as a result of retroactive terminations, additions or other
changes. Due to early timing of the premium billing, we are able to identify in the current month the retroactive adjustments included on two subsequent
months’ billings. Current period revenues are adjusted to reflect these retroactive adjustments.
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Based on information received subsequent to generating premium billings, historical trends, bad debt write-offs and the collectibility of specific
accounts, we estimate, on a monthly basis, the amount of bad debt and future membership retroactivity and adjust our revenue and allowances accordingly.
As of December 31, 2010, we maintained allowances for retroactive billing adjustments of approximately $25.8 million, compared with approximately
$22.6 million at December 31, 2009. We also maintained allowances for doubtful accounts of approximately $7.1 million and $21.4 million as of December
31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The decrease from the prior year is primarily a result of our non-renewal of the PFFS product, which generated $2.9 billion
of revenue in 2009, and an improvement in our ongoing Medicare Part D collections. The calculation for these allowances is based on a percentage of the
gross accounts receivable with the allowance percentage increasing for older receivables.
We receive premium payments from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) on a monthly basis for our Medicare membership to
provide healthcare benefits to our Medicare members. Premiums are fixed (subject to retroactive risk adjustment) on an annual basis by contracts with CMS.
Membership and category eligibility are periodically reconciled with CMS and can result in adjustments to revenue. CMS uses a risk adjustment model that
incorporates the use of hierarchical condition category (“HCC”) codes to determine premium payments to health plans. We estimate risk adjustment revenues
based on the individual member diagnosis data (risk scores) submitted to CMS. Changes in revenue from CMS resulting from the periodic changes in risk
adjustments scores for our membership are recognized when the amounts become determinable and the collectibility is reasonably assured.
CMS periodically performs audits and may seek return of premium payments made to us if risk adjustment factors are not properly supported by
underlying medical record data. We estimate and record reserves for CMS audits based on information available at the time the estimates are made. The
judgments and uncertainties affecting the application of these policies include significant estimates related to the amount of HCC revenue subject to audit and
anticipated error rates. Although the Company maintains reserves for its exposure to the risk adjustment data validation (“RADV”) audits, actual results could
differ materially from those estimates.
We contract with the United States Office of Personnel Management (“OPM”) and with various federal employee organizations to provide health
insurance benefits under the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program (“FEHBP”). These contracts are subject to government regulatory oversight by the
Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) of OPM, which performs periodic audits of these benefit program activities to ensure that contractors meet their
contractual obligations with OPM. For our managed care contracts, the OIG conducts periodic audits to, among other things, verify that premiums established
under its contracts are in compliance with community rating requirements under the FEHBP. The OPM may seek premium refunds or institute other
sanctions against health plans that participate in the program. For our experience-rated plans, the OIG focuses on the appropriateness of contract charges, the
effectiveness of claims processing, financial and cost accounting systems, and the adequacy of internal controls to ensure proper contract charges and benefits
payments. The OIG may seek refunds of costs charged under these contracts or institute other sanctions against health plans. These audits are generally a
number of years in arrears. We estimate and record reserves for audit and other contract adjustments for both our managed care contracts and our experience
rated plans based on appropriate guidelines and historical results. Any differences between actual results and estimates are recorded in the year the audits are
finalized.
Medical Claims Expense and Liabilities
Medical liabilities consist of actual claims reported but not paid and estimates of health care services incurred but not reported. Medical liabilities
estimates are developed using actuarial principles and assumptions that consider, among other things, historical claims payment patterns, provider
reimbursement changes, historical utilization trends, current levels of authorized inpatient days, other medical cost inflation factors, membership levels,
benefit design changes, seasonality, demographic mix change and other relevant factors.
We employ a team of actuaries that have developed, refined and used the same set of reserve models over the past several years. These reserve models
do not calculate separate amounts for reported but not paid claims and incurred but not reported claims, but rather a single estimate of medical claims
liabilities. These reserve models make use of both historical claim payment patterns as well as emerging medical cost trends to project our best estimate of
claim liabilities. Within these models, historical data of paid claims is formatted into claim triangles which compare claim incurred dates to the claim payment
dates. This information is analyzed to create “completion factors” that represent the average percentage of total incurred claims that have been paid through a
given date after being incurred. Completion factors are applied to claims paid through the financial statement date to estimate the ultimate claim expense
incurred for the current period. Actuarial estimates of claim liabilities are then determined by subtracting the actual paid claims from the estimate of the
ultimate incurred claims.
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Actuarial standards of practice generally require the actuarially developed medical claims estimates to cover obligations under an assumption of
moderately adverse conditions. Adverse conditions are situations in which the actual claims are expected to be higher than the otherwise estimated value of
such claims. In many situations, the claims paid amount experienced will be less than the estimate that satisfies the actuarial standards of practice. Medical
claims liabilities are recorded at an amount we estimate to be appropriate. Adjustments of prior years’ estimates may result in additional medical costs or, as
we experienced during the last several years, a reduction in medical costs in the period an adjustment was made. Our reserve models have historically
developed favorably suggesting that the accrued liabilities calculated from the models were more than adequate to cover our ultimate liability for unpaid
claims.
The following table presents the components of the change in medical claims liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively (in thousands).
Medical liabilities, beginning of year

$

Acquisitions (1)

2010
1,605,407

$

2009
1,446,391

71,548

$

-

2008
1,161,963
7,590

Reported Medical Costs
Current year
Prior year development
Total reported medical costs

8,507,460
(241,513)
8,265,947

11,049,227
(189,833)
10,859,394

8,916,644
(48,065)
8,868,579

Claim Payments
Payments for current year
Payments for prior year
Total claim payments

7,491,891
1,185,476
8,677,367

9,598,222
1,123,131
10,721,353

7,577,939
1,013,216
8,591,155

Change in Part D Related Subsidy Liabilities

(27,845)

Medical liabilities, end of year

$

1,237,690

20,975
$

1,605,407

(586)
$

1,446,391

Supplemental Information:
Prior year development (2)
Current year paid percent (3)
(1)
(2)
(3)

2.2%
88.1%

2.1%
86.9%

0.7%
85.0%

Acquisition Balances represent medical liabilities of the acquired company as of the applicable acquisition date.
Prior year reported medical costs in the current year as a percentage of prior year reported medical costs.
Current year claim payments as a percentage of current year reported medical costs.

The negative medical cost amounts noted as “prior year development” are favorable adjustments for claim estimates being settled for amounts less than
originally anticipated. As noted above, these favorable developments from original estimates occur due to changes in medical utilization, mix of provider rates
and other components of medical cost trends. Medical claim liabilities are generally paid within several months of the member receiving service from the
provider. Accordingly, the 2010 prior year development relates almost entirely to claims incurred in calendar year 2009.
The significant favorable factors driving the overall 2010 favorable prior year development, excluding PFFS, include:
•
•
•
•

Lower than anticipated medical cost increases of $84.4 million.
Higher than expected completion factors of $27.2 million.
Lower than anticipated large claim liabilities of $18.2 million.
Lower than anticipated other specific case liabilities of $6.0 million.

The significant favorable factors driving the overall 2010 favorable prior year development for the PFFS product include:
•
•
•
•

Lower than anticipated medical cost increases of $67.6 million.
Higher than expected completion factors of $29.7 million.
Lower than anticipated large claim liabilities of $0.5 million.
Lower than anticipated other specific case liabilities of $6.4 million.

The reduction in total reported medical cost from 2009 to 2010 was driven primarily as a result of our non-renewal of the Medicare PFFS product
effective January 1, 2010. Prior year development experienced in 2010 was more favorable compared to amounts experienced in 2009. The higher favorable
development is primarily due to lower than expected medical cost increases in the Medicare Advantage Coordinated Care Plan (“Medicare Advantage CCP”)
and PFFS products for 2009.
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The change in Medicare Part D related subsidy liabilities identified in the table above represents subsidy amounts received from CMS for reinsurance
and for cost sharing related to low-income individuals. These subsidies are recorded in medical liabilities and we do not recognize premium revenue or claims
expense for these subsidies.
For the more recent incurred months, the percentage of claims paid relative to claims incurred in those months is generally low. As a result, the
completion factor methodology is less reliable for such months. For that reason, incurred claims for recent months are not projected solely from historical
completion and payment patterns. Instead, they are projected by estimating the claims expense for those months based upon recent claims expense levels and
health care trend levels, or “trend factors.” As these months mature over time, the two estimates (completion factor and trend) are blended with completion
factors being used exclusively for older months.
Within the reserve setting methodologies for inpatient and non-inpatient services, we use certain assumptions. For inpatient services, authorized days are
used for utilization factors, while cost trend assumptions are incorporated into per diem amounts. The per diem estimates reflect anticipated effects of changes
in reimbursement structure and severity mix. For non-inpatient services, a composite trend assumption is applied which reflects anticipated changes in cost
per service, provider contracts, utilization and other factors.
Changes in the completion factors, trend factors and utilization factors can have a significant effect on the claim liability. The following example (in
thousands, except percentages) provides the estimated effect to our December 31, 2010 unpaid claims liability assuming hypothetical changes in the
completion, trend and inpatient day factors. While we believe the selection of factors and ranges provided are reasonable, certain factors and actual results
may differ.
Claims Trend Factor
Inpatient Day Factor
Completion Factor
Increase
(Decrease) Increase in
(Decrease) Increase in
(Decrease) Increase in
(Decrease) in
Unpaid Claims
(Decrease) Increase in
Unpaid Claims
(Decrease) Increase in
Unpaid Claims
Completion Factor
Liabilities
Claims Trend Factor
Liabilities
Inpatient Day Factor
Liabilities
1.0 %
(54,248)
(4.0) %
(73,763)
(1.5) %
(3,272)
0.7 %
(36,467)
(2.5) %
(46,102)
(1.0) %
(2,181)
0.3 %
(18,023)
(1.0) %
(18,441)
(0.5) %
(1,091)
(0.3)%
18,145
1.0%
18,441
0.5%
1,091
(0.7) %
36,967
2.5%
46,102
1.0%
2,181
(1.0) %
55,362
4.0%
73,763
1.5%
3,272
We also establish reserves, if required, for the probability that anticipated future health care costs and contract maintenance costs under our existing
provider contracts will exceed anticipated future premiums and reinsurance recoveries on those contracts.
A regular element of our unpaid medical claim liability estimation process is the examination of actual results and, if appropriate, the modification of
assumptions and inputs related to the process based upon past experience. Our reserve setting methodologies have taken these changes into consideration
when determining the factors used in calculating our medical claims liabilities as of December 31, 2010 by choosing factors that reflect more recent
experience.
We believe that the amount of medical liabilities is adequate to cover our ultimate liability for unpaid claims as of December 31, 2010. However, actual
claim payments and other items may differ from established estimates.
Investments
We account for investments in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 320 “Investments – Debt and Equity Securities.” We
invest primarily in fixed income securities and classify all of our investments as available-for-sale. Investments are evaluated on an individual security basis at
least quarterly to determine if declines in value are other-than-temporary. In making that determination, we consider all available evidence relating to the
realizable value of a security. This evidence includes, but is not limited to, the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than the amortized cost basis;
adverse conditions specifically related to the security, an industry or geographic area;
the historical and implied volatility of the fair value of the security;
the payment structure of the debt security and the likelihood of the issuer being able to make payments that increase in the future;
failure of the issuer of the security to make scheduled interest or principal payments;
any changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency;
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•
•

recoveries or additional declines in fair value subsequent to the balance sheet date; and
if we have decided to sell the security or it is more-likely-than-not that we will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost.

For debt securities, if we intend to either sell or determine that we will more-likely-than-not be required to sell a debt security before recovery of the
entire amortized cost basis or maturity of the debt security, we recognize the entire impairment in earnings. If we do not intend to sell the debt security and
we determine that we will not more-likely-than-not be required to sell the debt security but we do not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis, the
impairment is bifurcated into the amount attributed to the credit loss, which is recognized in earnings, and all other cases, which are recognized in other
comprehensive income. Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are determined on a specific identification basis.
We use prices from independent pricing services and, to a lesser extent, indicative (non-binding) quotes from independent brokers to measure the fair
value of our investment securities. We utilize multiple independent pricing services and brokers to obtain fair values; however, we generally obtain one price/
quote for each individual security.
We perform an analysis on market liquidity and other market related conditions to assess if the evaluated prices represent a reasonable estimate of their
fair value. Examples of the procedures performed include, but are not limited to, an on-going review of pricing service methodologies, review of the prices
received from the pricing service and comparison of prices for certain securities with two different price sources for reasonableness. We monitor pricing
inputs to determine if the markets from which the data is gathered are active. As further validation, we sample a security’s past fair value estimates and
compare the valuations to actual transactions executed in the market on similar dates. As a result of this analysis, if we determine there is a more appropriate
fair value based upon available market data, which happens infrequently, the price of the security is adjusted accordingly.
Generally, we do not adjust prices received from pricing services or brokers unless it is evident from our verification procedures the fair value
measurement is not consistent with ASC Topic 820. Based upon our internal price verification procedures and review of fair value methodology
documentation provided by independent pricing services, we have concluded that the fair values provided by pricing services and brokers are consistent with
the guidance in ASC Topic 820.
The following table includes only our investments in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2010. For these investments, the table shows the gross
unrealized losses and fair value aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss
position (in thousands).
Description of Securities
State and municipal bonds
U.S. Treasury securities
Government sponsored enterprises
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities
Corporate debt and other securities
Total

Less than 12 months
12 months or more
Fair Value
Unrealized Losses Fair Value
Unrealized Losses Fair Value
$ 156,894 $
(3,068) $
$
- $ 156,894
5,890
(7)
5,890
19,551
(318)
19,551
59,738
(1,269)
17
(1)
59,755
34,405
(588)
34,405
$ 276,478 $
(5,250) $
17
$
(1) $ 276,495

Total
Unrealized Losses
$
(3,068)
(7)
(318)
(1,270)
(588)
$
(5,251)

The unrealized losses presented in this table do not meet the criteria for an other-than-temporary impairment. The unrealized losses are the result of
interest rate movements. We do not intend to sell and it is not more-likely-than-not that we will be required to sell before a recovery of the amortized cost
basis of these securities.
Our municipal bond investments remain at an investment grade status based on their own merits (excluding monoline insurers). Although we do not rely
on bond insurers exclusively to maintain our high level of investment credit quality, $331.7 million of our $883.7 million total state and municipal bond
holdings are insured through a monoline insurer. For our mortgaged-backed and asset-backed securities, our holdings remain at investment grade with an
AAA rating. We participate in only the higher level investment tranches. For our asset-backed securities, we only participate in offerings that are over
collateralized to further protect our principal investment.
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill
Goodwill is subject to an annual assessment and periodic assessments if other indicators are present for impairment by applying a fair-value-based test.
We performed a goodwill impairment analysis, at the reporting unit level, as of October 1, our annual impairment test date. However, each year we could be
required to evaluate the recoverability of goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets prior to the required annual assessment if there is any indication
of a potential impairment. Those indications may include experiencing disruptions to business, unexpected significant declines in operating results, regulatory
actions (such as heath care reform) that may affect operating results, divestiture of a significant component of the business or a sustained decline in market
capitalization.
The goodwill impairment test compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of a reporting unit
exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not impaired. For our impairment analysis we relied on both the income and market
approaches. The income approach is based on the present value of expected future cash flows. The income approach involves estimating the present value of
our estimated future cash flows utilizing a risk adjusted discount rate. The market approach estimates the Company’s fair value by comparing our Company to
similar publicly traded entities and also by analyzing the recent sales of similar companies. The approaches were reviewed together for consistency and
commonality.
In order to further validate the fair values determined using the income and market approach for each of our reporting units, we compare the aggregate
fair value of our reporting units to our market capitalization. The objective of this comparison is to determine whether the quoted market price is indicative of
the fair value of its reporting units. In addressing the relationship of the determined fair value of our reporting units to our market capitalization, we
considered factors outlined in ASC Topic 350, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other,” including:
•
•
•
•

the fair value of a reporting unit refers to the amount at which the unit as a whole could be bought or sold in a current transaction between willing
parties;
quoted market prices in active markets are the best evidence of fair value and shall be used as the basis for the measurement, if available;
the market price of an individual equity security (and thus the market capitalization of a reporting unit with publicly traded equity securities) may
not be representative of the fair value of the reporting unit as a whole; and
the quoted market price of an individual equity security, therefore, need not be the sole measurement basis of the fair value of a reporting unit.

As of October 1, 2010 our market capitalization was below our book value. We concluded that this did not affect the overall goodwill impairment
analysis, as we believe our suppressed market capitalization to be primarily attributed to negative market conditions as a result of the recent economic
recession and the enactment of health care reform. We will continue to monitor our market capitalization as a potential impairment indicator considering
overall market conditions and managed care industry events. Any impairment charges that may result will be recorded in the period in which the impairment
is identified.
We reconcile the aggregate fair value of our reporting units to our market capitalization, the difference of which is generally referred to as an implied
control premium. We then collect data on historical control premiums that resulted from business combinations of entities of a similar size and/or within our
industry and concluded that our implied control premium was reasonable. While we believe we have made reasonable estimates and assumptions to calculate
the fair values of the reporting units and other intangible assets, it is possible a material change could occur. Under the income approach, we assumed certain
growth rates, capital expenditures, discount rates and terminal growth rates in our calculations. If the assumptions used in our fair-value-based tests differ
from actual results, the estimates underlying our goodwill impairment tests could be adversely affected.
See Note E, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, to the consolidated financial statements for additional disclosure related to our goodwill and other
intangible assets which is incorporated herein by reference.
Other Intangible Assets
In accordance with ASC 350-30, “General Intangibles Other than Goodwill,” we test intangible assets not subject to amortization for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. The impairment test consists of a comparison of
the fair value of an intangible asset with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss shall be
recognized in an amount equal to that excess. We have chosen October 1 as our annual impairment testing date. Our only intangible asset that is not subject
to amortization is a trade name which we determined was not impaired based on the result of the October 1, 2010 analysis.
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Also in accordance with ASC 350-30 we review intangible assets that are subject to amortization for recoverability whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss shall be recognized if the carrying amount of an intangible asset
is not recoverable and its carrying amount exceeds its fair value. In 2010, we did not incur an impairment charge related to our other intangible assets. Our
intangible assets that are subject to amortization consist of our customer lists, licenses, and provider networks.
See Note E, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, to the consolidated financial statements for additional disclosure related to our goodwill and other
intangible assets which is incorporated herein by reference.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
We account for share-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 718 “Compensation – Stock Compensation.” Under the fair
value recognition provisions of ASC Topic 718, determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards
require the input of subjective assumptions, including the expected life of the share-based payment awards and stock price volatility. We believe that a blend
of the implied volatility of our tradeable options and the historical volatility of our share price is a better indicator of expected volatility and future stock price
trends than historical volatility alone. Therefore, the expected volatility was based on a blend of market-based implied volatility and the historical volatility of
our stock. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards represent our best estimates. In addition, we are required to
estimate the expected forfeiture rate and recognize expense only for those shares expected to vest. If our actual forfeiture rate is materially different from our
estimate, the stock-based compensation expense could be significantly different from what we have recorded in the current period. See Note H, Stock-Based
Compensation, to the consolidated financial statements for additional information on stock-based compensation which is incorporated herein by reference.
New Accounting Standards
See Note A, Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the consolidated financial statements for information and disclosures
related to new accounting standards which is incorporated herein by reference.
Acquisitions
See Note C, Acquisitions, to the consolidated financial statements for information and disclosures related to acquisitions which is incorporated herein by
reference.
Membership
The following table presents our membership as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands).
As of December 31,
2010
2009
1,641
1,418
698
685
224
186
468
402
3,031
2,691

Membership by Product
Health Plan Commercial Risk
Health Plan Commercial ASO
Medicare Advantage CCP
Medicaid Risk
Health Plan Total
Medicare Advantage PFFS
Other National Risk
Other National ASO
Total Medical Membership

459
3,490

329
2
564
3,586

Medicare Part D

1,628

1,683

Total Membership

5,118

5,269

Total Health Plan membership increased 340,000 compared to December 31, 2009, primarily reflecting an increase in Commercial and Medicare
Advantage CCP membership from our acquisitions of Preferred Health Systems, Inc. (“PHS”) in the first quarter of 2010 and MHP, Inc. (“MHP”) in the
fourth quarter of 2010. The increase also included organic growth in the Commercial membership and increases in the Medicaid membership. Medicaid
membership increased as we began enrolling Medicaid members in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the state of Nebraska during 2010, as well as
steady growth in other Medicaid markets due to higher unemployment. These increases were partially offset by organic Commercial ASO membership losses
as a result of group terminations outpacing new sales.
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The decrease in Medicare PFFS membership of 329,000 members is due to our decision not to renew our PFFS product for the 2010 plan year. Other
National ASO membership decreased 105,000 members, primarily due to the attrition of membership associated with our loss of National Accounts business.
The decrease in Medicare Part D of 55,000 members is the result of a reduction in the number of low-income regions in which we have contracts, from
29 in 2009 to 21 in 2010, which was offset by growth in our other Medicare Part D products.
Results of Continuing Operations
The following table is provided to facilitate a discussion regarding the comparison of our consolidated results of continuing operations for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2010 (in thousands, except diluted earnings per share amounts):
Continuing Operations
Total operating revenues
Operating earnings
Operating earnings as a % of revenue
Income from continuing operations
Diluted earnings per share
Selling, general and administrative as a percentage of revenue

2010

2009

$ 11,587,916 $ 13,903,526
$ 689,285 $ 501,951
5.9%
3.6%
$ 438,616 $ 315,334
2.97
2.14
16.9%

15.5%

Increase
(Decrease)

2009

2008

(16.7%) $ 13,903,526 $ 11,734,277
37.3% $ 501,951 $ 585,529
2.3%
3.6%
5.0%
39.1% $ 315,334 $ 362,000
38.8%
2.14
2.41
1.4%

15.5%

16.5%

Increase
(Decrease)
18.5%
(14.3%)
(1.4%)
(12.9%)
(11.2%)
(1.0%)

Comparison of 2010 to 2009
As discussed in Note D, Discontinued Operations, to the consolidated financial statements which is incorporated herein by reference, on July 31, 2009
the Company sold its Medicaid/Public entity business, First Health Services Corporation (“FHSC”), and therefore its operations were classified as
“discontinued” on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and excluded from the information below. Accordingly, the amounts and discussion
below relate to only the Company’s results from continuing operations for all years presented.
Managed care premium revenue decreased from the prior year as a result of our exit from the PFFS product line. This exit accounted for a decline of
$2.9 billion in revenue during the current year. Partially offsetting this decrease was an increase in revenue as a result of the acquisitions of PHS and MHP in
2010, an increase in revenue from Medicare Advantage CCP due to an increase in membership, and an increase in Medicare Part D revenue due to a slightly
higher premium yield in 2010.
Medical costs decreased from the prior year primarily as a result of not renewing our PFFS product. Partially offsetting this decrease was an increase in
medical costs as a result of the acquisitions of PHS and MHP in 2010. Total medical costs as a percentage of premium revenue, “medical loss ratio” or
“MLR,” decreased 6.0% over the prior year to 79.4% from 85.4% as a result of the change in the mix of business resulting from the exit of the PFFS product,
which had a higher MLR of 92.0%. Additionally, we experienced lower than expected medical trend levels in 2010 which resulted in improved MLR
percentages in all lines of business.
Cost of sales increased during the current year due to the growth of our pharmacy benefit management program in the Workers’ Compensation Division.
Selling, general and administrative expense decreased from the prior year primarily due to lower salaries and benefits costs as well as decreased broker
commissions. The salaries and benefits costs decrease resulted from a reduction in the number of full-time employees associated with the non-renewal of the
PFFS product and continued general headcount reductions. Additionally, salaries and benefits declined as a result of executive severance accruals that
occurred during the prior year that did not occur in the current year. Broker commissions decreased primarily as a result of the non-renewal of the PFFS
product. Although lower in absolute terms, selling, general and administrative expense as a percentage of operating revenues increased as a result of the large
decrease in operating revenues in the current year associated with the non-renewal of the PFFS product which had a high premium rate and a low relative
expense level.
The charge for provider class action results from the Court of Appeal, Third Circuit for the State of Louisiana decision to affirm the trial court’s decision
to grant summary judgment against a wholly-owned subsidiary of Coventry in provider class action litigation in Louisiana state court. As of December 31,
2010 this amount was accrued in “accounts payable and other accrued liabilities” in the accompanying balance sheets. For additional information regarding
this matter, refer to Note L, Commitments and Contingencies, to the consolidated financial statements which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Depreciation and amortization expense was lower during the current year primarily due to the prior year including a write down in value of certain longlived assets as well as certain assets becoming fully depreciated.
Interest expense decreased during the current year due to the lower average debt balance outstanding compared to the prior year.
Other income, net was lower during the current year as the prior year included a gain on the repayment of outstanding debt.
The provision for income taxes increased from the prior year due to the increase in earnings. The effective tax rate on continuing operations decreased
to 36.1% as compared to 37.5% for the prior year due primarily to the proportion of our earnings in states with lower tax rates.
Comparison of 2009 to 2008
Managed care premium revenue increased primarily as a result of higher membership in our Medicare business in Part D, PFFS, and CCP as a result of
successful enrollment for 2009. The revenue increases were also a result of increased individual membership. Partially offsetting this increase was lower
revenue for our Commercial Risk business due to membership declines.
Management services revenue increased primarily due to the growth of our pharmacy benefit management program in the Workers’ Compensation
Division.
Medical costs increased primarily as a result of the increase in Medicare membership, as discussed above. MLR increased over the prior year as a result
of a change in our mix of business primarily related to Medicare Advantage, Part D, and Commercial Risk.
Cost of sales increased due to the growth of the pharmacy benefit management program revenues in the Workers’ Compensation Division.
Selling, general and administrative expense increased primarily due to the costs associated with the growth in the Medicare business, including higher
wage expense, an increase in broker commission costs and other member related costs due to the higher Medicare membership. Additionally there was higher
wage expense related to annual incentive compensation accruals in the current year, while such types of incentive payments were not earned and accrued in
2008; new executive hires in the current year; and severance expense related to terminated employees in 2009. Selling, general and administrative expense as
a percentage of revenue improved as a result of expenses being controlled at a rate lower than the increase in revenue.
Depreciation and amortization expense increased in 2009 primarily due to impairment charges to our customer list balances during 2009.
Interest expense decreased due to the repayment of the Company’s revolving credit facility and repurchase of senior notes during 2009 as well as
decreased interest rates on the revolving credit facility during the current year.
Other income, net increased for the current year due to a charge of $33.5 million for the other-than-temporary impairment of investment securities
recorded in 2008. This other-than-temporary impairment loss did not reoccur in 2009. Additionally, other income, net increased due to gains of $8.4 million
on the repurchase of outstanding senior notes during 2009. Partially offsetting the increases was a $39 million current year interest income decrease resulting
from lower interest rates on the large percentage of the portfolio invested in Treasury instruments and money market funds.
The effective tax rate on continuing operations increased to 37.5% as compared to 36.7% for the prior year due primarily to the proportion of our
earnings in states with higher tax rates.
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Segment Results from Continuing Operations
The Company’s segment results are as follows.
Year Ended
December 31,
2010
2009

Continuing Operations
Operating Revenues (in thousands)
Commercial Risk
Commercial Management Services
Medicare Advantage
Medicaid Risk
Health Plan and Medical Services
Medicare Part D
Other Premiums
Other Management Services
Specialized Managed Care
Workers’ Compensation
Other/Eliminations
Total Operating Revenues

$

$

5,540,470 $
327,084
2,114,205
1,133,353
9,115,112
1,604,198
100,130
101,017
1,805,345
755,055
(87,596)
11,587,916 $

Increase
(Decrease)

5,174,772 $
346,042
4,901,918
1,066,231
11,488,963
1,545,858
94,562
93,079
1,733,499
757,105
(76,041)
13,903,526 $

Year Ended
December 31,
2009
2008

365,698 $
(18,958)
(2,787,713)
67,122
(2,373,851)
58,340
5,568
7,938
71,846
(2,050)
(11,555)
(2,315,610) $

5,174,772 $
346,042
4,901,918
1,066,231
11,488,963
1,545,858
94,562
93,079
1,733,499
757,105
(76,041)
13,903,526 $

222,945 $
56,723
(13,274)
219
266,613 $

1,957,265 $
339,861
516,277
(10,099)
2,803,304 $

Increase
(Decrease)

5,421,984 $
352,369
3,177,244
1,087,189
10,038,786
847,702
64,783
89,626
1,002,111
736,695
(43,365)
11,734,227 $

(247,212)
(6,327)
1,724,674
(20,958)
1,450,177
698,156
29,779
3,453
731,388
20,410
(32,676)
2,169,299

Gross Margin (in thousands)
Health Plan and Medical Services
Specialized Managed Care
Workers’ Compensation
Other/Eliminations
Total

$

$

2,180,210 $
396,584
503,003
(9,880)
3,069,917 $

1,957,265 $
339,861
516,277
(10,099)
2,803,304 $

1,887,998 $
250,158
541,095
(9,203)
2,670,048 $

69,267
89,703
(24,818)
(896)
133,256

Revenue and Medical Cost Statistics
Managed Care Premium Yields (PMPM):
Health plan commercial risk $314.58 $301.63
4.3% $301.63 $286.30
5.4%
Medicare Advantage risk (1) $876.67 $855.16
2.5% $855.16 $862.60
(0.9%)
Medicare Part D (2)
$ 87.96 $ 84.40
4.2% $ 84.40 $ 88.34
(4.5%)
Medicaid risk
$218.98 $229.94 (4.8%) $229.94 $208.50 10.3%
Medical Loss Ratios:
Health plan commercial risk
79.2%
81.9% (2.7%)
81.9%
81.7% 0.2%
Medicare Advantage risk
82.0%
89.9% (7.9%)
89.9%
89.0% 0.9%
Medicare Part D
83.7%
85.7% (2.0%)
85.7%
84.1% 1.6%
Medicaid risk
85.7%
87.6% (1.9%)
87.6%
85.3% 2.3%
79.4%
85.4% (6.0%)
85.4%
84.0% 1.4%
Total
(1) Revenue PMPM excludes the effect of revenue ceded to external parties.
(2) Revenue PMPM excludes the effect of CMS risk-share premium adjustments and revenue ceded to external parties.
Comparison of 2010 to 2009
Health Plan and Medical Services Division
Health Plan and Medical Services Division revenue decreased for the year primarily due to our exit from the PFFS product line which resulted in a
decline of $2.9 billion. Partially offsetting this decrease in revenue was an increase across each of our other risk products. The increase in Commercial Risk
revenue was due to the acquisitions of PHS and MHP in 2010. There was an increase in the average realized premium per member per month for the
Commercial Risk business due to renewal rate increases.
The increase in Medicare Advantage CCP revenue was attributable to the acquisition of MHP as well as the increase in organic membership associated
with that product. The Medicare Advantage premium per member per month increased in 2010 as a result of the exit from the PFFS product which had a
lower premium rate than the Medicare Advantage CCP product. The PFFS premium yield was lower than the Medicare Advantage CCP premium rate since
PFFS typically did not include a pharmacy benefit. The increase in Medicaid revenue was attributable to commencing operations during 2010 in the Nebraska
and Pennsylvania markets. The Medicaid premium per member per month decreased in 2010 as a result of program benefit changes in Missouri, our largest
Medicaid market. Effective October 1, 2009, the pharmacy benefit was removed from the program and thus was no longer included in the Missouri Medicaid
rate payment.
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Gross margin increased for the year, primarily due to the improved medical loss ratios for the Health Plan Commercial Risk and Medicare Advantage
CCP products. The Commercial Risk MLR decreased from the prior year primarily due to the lower than expected utilization trends and more benign flu
season than 2009. The Medicare Advantage CCP MLR decrease resulted from lower than expected utilization trends and demographic changes within the
product. Partially offsetting these increases in gross margin was a decrease in gross margin resulting from our exit from the PFFS product.
Specialized Managed Care Division
Specialized Managed Care Division revenue increased for the year primarily due to an increase in Medicare Part D revenue which resulted from the
higher membership volumes in the early portion of 2010. Including the effect of the CMS risk sharing premium adjustments as well as ceded revenue, the
premium per member per month was $82.86 in 2010 compared to $80.98 in 2009. Excluding the effect of CMS risk sharing premium adjustments and
revenue ceded to external parties, Medicare Part D premium per member per month for 2010 increased to $87.96 compared to $84.40 in 2009, primarily due
to pharmacy cost trends.
When reviewing the premium yield for Medicare Part D business, we believe that adjusting for the ceded revenue is useful for comparisons to
competitors that may not have similar ceding arrangements. When reviewing the Medicare Part D business, adjusting for the risk sharing amounts is useful to
understand the results of the Part D business because of our expectation that the risk sharing revenue will eventually be insignificant on a full year basis.
The increase in gross margin was primarily driven by improved MLR for the Medicare Part D product in 2010 compared to the prior year periods. The
improvement in MLR was primarily attributed to improved performance in our mainstream products which make up the majority of our Part D business.
Workers’ Compensation Division
Revenue in the Workers’ Compensation Division decreased slightly from the prior year period primarily due to a decline in volume in our network and
clinical programs, partially offset by the growth of our pharmacy benefit management program.
Workers’ Compensation gross margin decreased for the current year due to declines in our network and clinical program volumes, which are higher
margin products, partially offset by increases attributable to the growth of our pharmacy benefit management program which operates at a lower margin.
Comparison of 2009 to 2008
Health Plan and Medical Services Division
Health Plan and Medical Services revenue increased over the prior year primarily due to membership growth in the Medicare PFFS products, coupled
with an increase in the average realized premium yield PMPM for the product. After deducting revenue ceded to third parties, the Medicare Advantage risk
premium yield PMPM for the year increased to $798.16 in 2009 from $742.07 in 2008. The increase is a result of a smaller portion of our Medicare PFFS
business in 2009 being ceded to external parties through quota share arrangements. When reviewing the premium yield for Medicare Advantage business, we
believe that adjusting for the ceded revenue is useful for comparisons to competitors that may not have similar ceding arrangements. Additionally, the
Medicare Advantage risk premium yields have increased as a result of higher risk scores.
Medicaid premium yields increased as a result of rate increases in Missouri, our largest Medicaid market, effective July 1, 2008 and July 1, 2009 as well
as rate increases in Virginia and West Virginia effective July 1, 2009. The yields also increased due to the termination of our Pennsylvania Medicaid
behavioral health contract, which had a lower premium yield. These increases in premium yield were offset by declines in the membership of the Medicaid
Risk product. Membership declines also contributed to the reduction in revenue for Commercial Risk products.
Gross margin increased primarily due to the growth in the Medicare PFFS and Medicare Advantage businesses as well as the improved medical loss
ratios for the Medicare PFFS product. The Medicare PFFS MLRs decreased over the prior year as the prior year included unfavorable IBNR reserve
development. The increases in gross margin were partially offset by gross margin declines in Commercial Risk and Medicaid. The Commercial Risk decline
in gross margin is a result of the decline in Commercial Risk membership discussed earlier. The decline in Medicaid gross margin was due to a higher
medical loss ratio in 2009 as a result of higher medical cost trends and higher inpatient utilization without rate increases sufficient to cover these cost
increases.
Specialized Managed Care Division
Specialized Managed Care Division revenue experienced a significant increase over the prior year due to the large increase in membership for the
Medicare Part D product. Medicare Part D premium yields for 2009, excluding the effect of CMS risk sharing premium adjustments and revenue ceded to
external parties, decreased compared to 2008, primarily due to the mix of products sold in 2009. The majority of the Medicare Part D growth was in the lower
cost, leaner benefit plans, which have a lower premium. Including the effect of the CMS risk sharing premium adjustments as well as the ceded revenue, the
premium yields were $80.98 for 2009 compared to $78.84 in 2008. The increase is a result of a smaller portion of our Medicare Part D business in 2009
being ceded to external parties through quota share arrangements.
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When reviewing the premium yield for Medicare Part D business, we believe that adjusting for the ceded revenue is useful for comparisons to
competitors that may not have similar ceding arrangements. When reviewing the Medicare Part D business, adjusting for the risk sharing amounts is useful to
understand the results of the Part D business because of our expectation that the risk sharing revenue will eventually be insignificant on a full year basis.
The gross margin for the Specialized Managed Care Division improved for 2009 primarily as a result of increased Part D membership during the current
periods, offset by an increase in the Part D MLR due to higher than anticipated pharmacy costs in one product.
Workers’ Compensation Division
Revenue in the Workers’ Compensation Division increased in 2009 primarily due to the growth of our pharmacy benefit management program. The
increase was partially offset by lower revenue in the Division’s other business lines as a result of lower claim volume.
Workers’ Compensation gross margin decreased over the prior year due to the decline in claims volume in our bill review business, which is a higher
margin product, and growth in the pharmacy benefit management program which operates at a lower margin.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity
The nature of a majority of our operations is such that cash receipts from premium revenues are typically received up to two months prior to the expected
cash payment for related medical costs. Premium revenues are typically received at the beginning of the month in which they are earned, and the
corresponding incurred medical expenses are paid in a future time period, typically 15 to 60 days after the date such medical services are rendered. The lag
between premium receipts and claims payments creates positive cash flow and overall cash growth. As a result, we typically hold approximately one to two
months of “float.” In addition, accumulated earnings provide further positive cash flow.
Our investment guidelines require our fixed income securities to be investment grade in order to provide liquidity to meet future payment obligations and
minimize the risk to the principal. The fixed income portfolio includes government and corporate securities with an average quality rating of “AA” and a
modified duration of 3.61 years as of December 31, 2010. Typically, the amount and duration of our short-term assets are more than sufficient to pay for our
short-term liabilities and we do not anticipate that sales of our long-term investment portfolio will be necessary to fund our claims liabilities.
Our cash and investments, consisting of cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, and long-term investments, but excluding deposits of $79.9
million restricted under state regulations, increased $195.2 million to $4.0 billion at December 31, 2010 from $3.8 billion at December 31, 2009.
The demand for our products and services is subject to many economic fluctuations, risks and uncertainties that could materially affect the way we do
business. For instance, due to the non-renewal of our PFFS product, we paid medical claims in 2010 without the benefit of premium collections for this
product. As a result, this had a negative effect on cash flows in our regulated subsidiaries. Despite the effect, we have ample current liquidity as a result of
planning for the non-renewal of the PFFS product. See Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in this Form 10-K for more information. Management believes that
the combination of our ability to generate cash flows from operations, cash and investments on hand, and the excess funds held in certain of our regulated
subsidiaries will be sufficient to fund continuing operations, capital expenditures, debt interest costs, debt principal repayments, required payments resulting
from judgments or settlements in the Louisiana provider class action litigation, and any other reasonably likely future cash requirements. In addition, our
long-term investment portfolio is available for further liquidity needs including satisfaction of policy holder benefits.
Cash Flows
Operating Activities
Net cash from operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2010 was a result of net earnings generated by our normal operations during the
period and non-cash adjustments to earnings including the class action charge. These cash inflows were partially offset by a decrease in medical claim
liabilities associated with the non-renewal of the PFFS product. Since premium revenues are generally received in advance of the expected cash payment for
the related medical costs, the result is strong cash inflows upon the implementation of a benefit program and cash outflows upon the termination. The cash
outflows for PFFS for the year ended December 31, 2010 were approximately $338.5 million. Also partially offsetting the operating cash inflow for the
period was a decrease in other payables primarily as a result of the timing of Federal and State income tax payments.
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Our net cash from operating activities in 2010 was $609.6 million lower than the 2009 period as the current year period reflects the medical claim
payments associated with the PFFS product run out. During 2009, we experienced large positive cash flows from operating activities primarily due to
membership growth across the Medicare products.
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures in 2010 of approximately $63.3 million consisted primarily of computer hardware, software and related costs associated with the
development and implementation of improved operational and communication systems. Projected capital expenditures in 2011 of approximately $65 to $75
million consist primarily of computer hardware, software and other equipment.
Net cash from investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2010 was an inflow due to proceeds received from investment maturities and sales
during the period, partially offset by investment purchases and the payment for our acquisitions of PHS and MHP, net of cash acquired.
Financing Activities
Our Board of Directors has approved a program to repurchase our outstanding common stock. Stock repurchases may be made from time to time at
prevailing prices on the open market, by block purchase or in private transactions. As a part of this program, no shares were repurchased in 2010, 1.5 million
shares were purchased in 2009 at an aggregate cost of $30.0 million and 7.3 million shares of our common stock were purchased in 2008 at an aggregate cost
of $318.0 million. As of December 31, 2010, the total remaining common shares we are authorized to repurchase under this program is 5.2 million. Excluded
from these share repurchase program amounts are shares purchased in exchange for employee payroll taxes on vesting of restricted stock awards as these
purchases are not part of the program.
We did not make any debt repayments during 2010. Refer to Note K, Debt, to the consolidated financial statements for more information regarding our
debt.
Health Plans
Our regulated HMO and insurance company subsidiaries are required by state regulatory agencies to maintain minimum surplus balances, thereby
limiting the dividends the parent may receive from our regulated entities. During 2010, we received $319.4 million in dividends from our regulated
subsidiaries and we made $11.5 million in capital contributions to them. We had $1.9 billion of regulated capital and surplus at December 31, 2010.
The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) has proposed that states adopt risk-based capital (“RBC”) standards which are a
method of measuring the minimum amount of capital appropriate for a managed care organization to support its overall business operations in consideration
of its size and risk profile. The managed care organization’s RBC is calculated by applying factors to various assets, premiums and reserve items. The factor
is higher for those items with greater underlying risk and lower for less risky items. The adequacy of a managed care organization’s actual capital can then be
measured by a comparison to its RBC as determined by the formula. Our health plans are required to submit a RBC report to the NAIC and their domiciled
state’s department of insurance with their annual filing.
Regulators will use the RBC results to determine if any regulatory actions are required. Regulatory actions that could take place, if any, range from filing
a financial action plan explaining how the plan will increase its statutory net worth to the approved levels, to the health plan being placed under regulatory
control.
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The majority of states in which we operate health plans have adopted a RBC policy that recommends the health plans maintain statutory reserves at or
above the “Company Action Level” which is currently equal to 200% of their RBC. Some states in which our regulated subsidiaries operate require deposits
to be maintained with the respective states’ departments of insurance. The table below summarizes our statutory reserve information, as of December 31, 2010
and 2009 (in millions, except percentage data).

Regulated capital and surplus
200% of RBC (1, 2)
Excess capital and surplus above 200% of RBC (1, 2)
Capital and surplus as percentage of RBC (1, 2)
Statutory deposits
(1)
(2)

$
$
$
$

2010
(unaudited)
1,908.7
633.8
1,274.9
602%
79.9

2009
$
$
$
$

1,636.2
812.2
824.0
403%
75.3

RBC amounts are not audited.
The State of Florida does not have a RBC requirement for its regulated HMOs. Accordingly, the statutory reserve information provided for
our health plans domiciled in Florida is based on the actual statutory minimum capital required by the State of Florida.

The increase in capital and surplus for our regulated subsidiaries primarily resulted from net earnings and capital contributions made by the parent
company and the acquisitions of PHS and MHP, partially offset by dividends paid to the parent company.
We believe that all subsidiaries which incur medical claims maintain more than adequate liquidity and capital resources to meet these short-term
obligations as a matter of both Company policy and applicable department of insurance regulations.
Excluding funds held by entities subject to regulation and excluding our equity method investments, we had cash and investments of approximately $1.1
billion and $713.0 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The increase resulted from earnings from non-regulated businesses and dividends
from our regulated subsidiaries. These were partially offset by cash paid for acquisitions and capital infusions into our subsidiaries.
Other
As of December 31, 2010, we were contractually obligated to make the following payments during the next five years and thereafter (in thousands):
Payments Due by Period
Contractual Obligations
Senior notes
Interest payable on senior notes
Credit facilities
Interest payable on credit facilities (1)
Operating leases
Total contractual obligations
Less sublease income
Net contractual obligations
(1)

$

$

Total
1,219,367 $
338,769
380,029
4,831
125,484
2,068,480
(5,418)
2,063,062 $

Less than
1 Year

1 - 3 Years
3 - 5 Years
- $
233,903 $
603,109 $
76,912
133,508
116,746
380,029
3,160
1,671
34,116
47,074
30,154
114,188
796,185
750,009
(1,751)
112,437 $

(2,273)
793,912 $

(1,318)
748,691 $

More than
5 Years
382,355
11,603
14,140
408,098
(76)
408,022

Interest payable on credit facilities has been estimated based on interest rates as of December 2010 and assumes no additional changes in the
principal amount.

The table above does not reflect the timing of cash payments related to income taxes or legal contingencies. Refer to Note I, Income Taxes, and Note L,
Commitments and Contingencies, to the consolidated financial statements for additional information related to our income taxes, operating leases and other
contingencies.
We have typically paid 90% to 95% of medical claims within six months of the date incurred and approximately 99% of medical claims within nine
months of the date incurred. Accordingly, we believe medical claims liabilities are short-term in nature and therefore do not meet the listed criteria for
classification as contractual obligations and have been excluded from the table above. As of December 31, 2010, we had $136.3 million of unrecognized tax
benefits. The above table excludes these amounts due to uncertainty of timing and amounts regarding future payments.
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Other Disclosures
Legislation and Regulation
As a managed health care company, we are subject to extensive government regulation of our products and services. The laws and regulations affecting
our industry generally give state and federal regulatory authorities broad discretion in their exercise of supervisory, regulatory and administrative powers.
These laws and regulations are intended primarily for the benefit of the members of the health plans. Managed care laws and regulations vary significantly
from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and changes are frequently considered and implemented. Likewise, interpretations of these laws and regulations are also
subject to change.
The full effect of any current or future legislation provisions adopted at the state or federal level cannot be accurately predicted at this time. See
“Government Regulation” under Part I, Item 1, “Business” for additional discussion of government regulation that affects our businesses.
Inflation
In recent years, health care cost inflation has exceeded the general inflation rate. To reduce the effect of health care cost inflation on our business
operations in which we assume underwriting risk, we have, where possible, increased premium rates and implemented cost control measures in our patient
care management and provider contracting. We cannot be certain that we will be able to increase future premium rates at a rate that equals or exceeds the
health care cost inflation rate or that our other cost control measures will be effective.
2011 Outlook
Health Plan and Medical Services Division – We expect our Commercial Risk membership will be flat to slightly down for 2011 as compared to
approximately 1.6 million members in 2010. The forecasted Commercial group MLR is expected to be in the range of 80.5% to 81.5%, an increase from the
2010 MLR of 79.2% largely driven by compliance with new healthcare reform regulations. The forecasted Commercial Individual MLR is expected to be in
the range of 75.0% to 77.0%, an increase from the 2010 MLR of 66.1%, largely driven by compliance with new healthcare reform regulations.
For our Health Plan based Medicare Advantage CCP product, we are forecasting membership to be flat to slightly down for 2011 as compared to 2010
results. We expect the 2011 Medicare Advantage MLR to be consistent with our Medicare bids in the mid 80%s, an increase from the 2010 MLR of 82.0%.
For our Health Plan based Medicaid business, we are forecasting 2011 membership to grow in the mid single digits as compared to 2010 with a MLR in
the high 80%s.
Specialized Managed Care Division – We anticipate membership in our Medicare Part D product to be down by approximately 500,000 members in
2011 from the 2010 ending membership of approximately 1.6 million. This decrease reflects the loss of auto assign regions as well as membership losses
driven by a reduction in product offerings from five in 2010 to two in 2011. Our MLR expectation for 2011 will be similar to our actual results in 2010, which
was in the mid 80%s.
Workers Compensation Division – We believe our Workers Compensation Division will grow slightly compared to 2010 with continued focus on the
supporting administrative cost structure.
Regarding our balance sheet and liquidity, we ended the year with approximately $850 million in free cash at the parent level. We have a net balance
owing on our revolving line of credit of $380 million. As usual, our first priority with our free cash will be to support the regulatory capital needs of our
subsidiaries and to maintain liquidity.
Regarding our effective tax rate, we expect it will range from 36% to 37% for the full year of 2011.
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Item 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Under an investment policy approved by our Board of Directors, we invest primarily in marketable U.S. government and agency, state, municipal,
mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities and corporate debt obligations that are investment grade. Our Investment Policy and Guidelines generally do not
permit the purchase of equity-type investments or fixed income securities that are below investment grade. Our investment guidelines include a permitted
exception to allow for such investments if those investments are obtained through a business combination and, if in our best interest, such investments were
not disposed within 90 days after acquisition. As described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, we acquired investments in an equipment
leasing limited liability company through our acquisition of First Health. We have classified all of our investments as available-for-sale. We are exposed to
certain market risks including interest rate risk and credit risk.
We have established policies and procedures to manage our exposure to changes in the fair value of our investments. Our policies include an emphasis
on credit quality and the management of our portfolio’s duration and mix of securities. We believe our investment portfolio is diversified and currently expect
no material loss to result from the failure to perform by the issuers of the debt securities we hold. The mortgage-backed securities are insured by several
associations, including Government National Mortgage Administration, Federal National Mortgage Association and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation.
We invest primarily in fixed income securities. Investments are evaluated on an individual security basis at least quarterly to determine if declines in
value are other-than-temporary. In making that determination, we consider all available evidence relating to the realizable value of a security. This evidence
includes, but is not limited to, the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than the amortized cost basis;
adverse conditions specifically related to the security, an industry or geographic area;
the historical and implied volatility of the fair value of the security;
the payment structure of the debt security and the likelihood of the issuer being able to make payments that increase in the future;
failure of the issuer of the security to make scheduled interest or principal payments;
any changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency;
recoveries or additional declines in fair value subsequent to the balance sheet date; and
if we have decided to sell the security or it is more-likely-than-not that we will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost.

For debt securities, if we intend to either sell or determine that we will more-likely-than-not be required to sell a debt security before recovery of the
entire amortized cost basis or maturity of the debt security, we recognize the entire impairment in earnings. If we do not intend to sell the debt security and
we determine that we will not more-likely-than-not be required to sell the debt security but we do not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis, the
impairment is bifurcated into the amount attributed to the credit loss, which is recognized in earnings, and all other cases, which are recognized in other
comprehensive income. Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are determined on a specific identification basis. See Note G, Investments and
Fair Value Measurements, to our consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K for more information concerning other-than-temporary impaired
investments.
Our investments at December 31, 2010 mature according to their contractual terms, as follows, in thousands (actual maturities may differ because of call
or prepayment rights):
Amortized
Cost

As of December 31, 2010
Maturities:
Within 1 year
1 to 5 years
5 to 10 years
Over 10 years
Total
Equity method investments (1)
Total short-term and long-term securities
(1)

$

$

174,639
889,990
499,632
543,137
2,107,398

Fair
Value
$

$

176,400
922,696
519,296
554,473
2,172,865
28,590
2,201,455

Includes investments in entities accounted for under the equity method of accounting and therefore are presented at their carrying
value.
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Our projections of hypothetical net gains (losses) in fair value of our market rate sensitive instruments, should potential changes in market rates occur,
are presented below. The projections are based on a model, which incorporates effective duration, convexity and price to forecast hypothetical instantaneous
changes in interest rates of positive and negative 100, 200 and 300 basis points. The model only takes into account the fixed income securities in the portfolio
and excludes all cash. While we believe that the potential market rate change is reasonably possible, actual results may differ.

$

(300)
154,059

$

Increase (decrease) in fair value of portfolio
given an interest rate (decrease) increase of X basis points
As of December 31, 2010
(in thousands)
(200)
(100)
100
126,679
$
72,249
$
(77,929)
$
46

200
(153,959)

$

300
(227,122)
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Item 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Coventry Health Care, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Coventry Health Care, Inc. as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2010. Our audits also
included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Coventry Health Care,
Inc. at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2010, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule referred
to above, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth
therein.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Coventry Health Care, Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
February 25, 2011
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Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands)
December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $7,073 and $21,350 as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively
Other receivables, net
Other current assets
Total current assets
Long-term investments
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Other long-term assets
Total assets

$

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Medical liabilities
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities

$

Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.01 par value; 570,000 authorized 191,512 issued and 149,427 outstanding in 2010 190,462
issued and 147,990 outstanding in 2009
Treasury stock, at cost; 42,085 in 2010; 42,472 in 2009
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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$

1,853,988 $
16,849
276,694
515,882
371,528
3,034,941

1,418,554
442,106
258,993
496,059
234,446
2,850,158

2,184,606
262,282
2,550,570
431,886
31,300
8,495,585 $

1,994,987
271,931
2,529,284
471,693
48,479
8,166,532

1,237,690 $
942,226
103,082
2,282,998

1,605,407
682,171
110,855
2,398,433

1,599,396
414,025
4,296,419

1,599,027
456,518
4,453,978

1,915

1,905

(1,268,456)
1,784,826
41,081
3,639,800
4,199,166
8,495,585 $

(1,282,054)
1,750,113
41,406
3,201,184
3,712,554
8,166,532
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Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)
For the years ended December 31,
2010
2009
2008
Operating revenues:
Managed care premiums
Management services
Total operating revenues

$10,414,640 $12,717,399 $10,563,163
1,173,276
1,186,127
1,171,064
11,587,916 13,903,526 11,734,227

Operating expenses:
Medical costs
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative
Charge for provider class action
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

8,265,947
252,052
1,961,947
278,000
140,685
10,898,631

10,859,394
240,828
2,151,799
149,554
13,401,575

8,868,579
195,600
1,940,820
143,699
11,148,698

Operating earnings

689,285

501,951

585,529

Interest expense
Other income, net

80,418
77,667

84,875
87,478

96,386
82,718

Earnings before income taxes

686,534

504,554

571,861

Provision for income taxes

247,918

189,220

209,861

Income from continuing operations

438,616

315,334

362,000

(73,033)

19,895

(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net earnings

$

438,616 $

242,301 $

381,895

$
$

3.00 $
3.00 $

2.15 $
(0.50)
1.65 $

2.43
0.13
2.56

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
$
Diluted (loss) earnings per share from discontinued operations
Total diluted earnings per share
$

2.97 $
2.97 $

2.14 $
(0.50)
1.64 $

2.41
0.13
2.54

Net earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic (loss) earnings per share from discontinued operations
Total basic earnings per share

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Effect of dilutive options and restricted stock
Diluted

146,169
1,410

146,652
743

148,893
1,315

147,579

147,395

150,208

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
(in thousands, except shares which are in millions)

Common Stock Treasury Stock, Additional Paid-In
Shares Amount
at Cost
Capital
(987,132) $
1,702,989 $
Balance, December 31, 2007 189.9 $ 1,899 $
Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income:
Holding gain, net
Reclassification adjustment
Other comprehensive income
Deferred tax effect
Comprehensive income
Employee stock plans activity
0.4
4
Treasury shares acquired
Balance, December 31, 2008 190.3 $ 1,903 $
Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income:
Holding gain, net
Reclassification adjustment
Other comprehensive income
Deferred tax effect
Comprehensive income
Employee stock plans activity
0.2
2
Treasury shares acquired
Balance, December 31, 2009 190.5 $ 1,905 $
Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income:
Holding gain, net
Reclassification adjustment
Other comprehensive income
Deferred tax effect
Comprehensive income
Employee stock plans activity
1
10
Treasury shares acquired
Balance, December 31, 2010 191.5 $ 1,915 $

Accumulated Other
Retained Total Stockholders'
Comprehensive Income
(Loss), Net
Earnings
Equity
6,735 $2,576,988 $
3,301,479
381,895

381,895

7,652
(3,996)
(1,426)
22,607
(323,137)
(1,287,662) $

45,591
1,748,580 $

8,965 $2,958,883 $
242,301

3,656
(1,426)
384,125
68,202
(323,137)
3,430,669
242,301

64,791
(11,609)
(20,741)
35,568
(29,960)
(1,282,054) $

1,533
1,750,113 $

41,406 $3,201,184 $
438,616

53,182
(20,741)
274,742
37,103
(29,960)
3,712,554
438,616

10,501
(11,034)
208
13,598
(1,268,456) $

34,713
1,784,826 $

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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41,081 $3,639,800 $

(533)
208
438,291
48,321
4,199,166
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Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,
2010
2009
2008
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings
$
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of stock compensation
Deferred income tax benefit
Loss on other-than-temporarily impaired securities
Charge for provider class action
Loss on disposal of FHSC
Gain on repurchase of debt
Other adjustments
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of the purchase of subsidiaries:
Accounts receivable
Other receivables
Medical liabilities
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Other changes in assets and liabilities
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures, net
Proceeds from sales of investments
Proceeds from maturities of investments
Purchases of investments
(Payments) / proceeds for acquisitions, net
Proceeds from FHSC disposal, net
Net cash from investing activities

438,616 $

242,301 $

381,895

140,685
40,532
(130,749)
278,000
18,586

151,815
47,047
(87,610)
81,557
(8,371)
8,642

150,226
60,582
(34,178)
36,160
(4,628)
10,243

(2,389)
(2,399)
(439,265)
(46,174)
(23,191)
272,252

12,258
19,235
159,095
223,182
32,692
881,843

(28,699)
(198,904)
276,417
(49,689)
27,931
627,356

(63,257)
(60,323)
(69,371)
561,457
292,515
696,806
573,625
522,144
166,034
(819,808) (1,140,475) (1,034,892)
(102,356)
10,197
(137,374)
115,437
149,661
(260,505)
(378,797)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of stock
Payments for repurchase of stock
Proceeds from issuance of debt, net
Repayment of debt
Excess tax benefit from stock compensation
Net cash from financing activities

15,484
(4,888)
2,925
13,521

1,224
(32,796)
(294,930)
604
(325,898)

7,233
(323,137)
668,409
(423,872)
387
(70,980)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

435,434
295,440
177,579
1,418,554 1,123,114
945,535
$1,853,988 $ 1,418,554 $ 1,123,114

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Income taxes paid

$ 77,973 $
$ 471,479 $

84,383 $
190,703 $

93,219
273,917

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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COVENTRY HEALTH CARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
A. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Coventry Health Care, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company” or “Coventry”) is a diversified national managed health care company based
in Bethesda, Maryland operating health plans, insurance companies, network rental and workers’ compensation services companies. Through its Health Plan
and Medical Services, Specialized Managed Care and Workers’ Compensation reportable segments, the Company provides a full range of risk and fee-based
managed care products and services to a broad cross section of individuals, employer and government-funded groups, government agencies, and other
insurance carriers and administrators.
Since the Company began operations in 1987 with the acquisition of the American Service Companies entities, including Coventry Health and Life
Insurance Company (“CH&L”), the Company has grown substantially through acquisitions. See Note C, Acquisitions, to the consolidated financial statements
for information on the Company’s recent acquisitions.
Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation - The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States and include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All inter-company transactions have been eliminated.
Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
amounts.
Significant Customers - The Company’s health plan commercial business is diversified across a large customer base and no customer group comprises
10% or more of Coventry’s managed care premiums. The Company received 35.6%, 50.7% and 38.1% of its managed care premiums for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, from the federal Medicare program throughout its various health plan markets and from national Medicare
Part D and Medicare Advantage Private-Fee-For-Service (“PFFS”) products. The decline in 2010 is primarily a result of the Company’s non-renewal of the
Medicare PFFS product effective January 1, 2010. The Company also received 10.9%, 8.4% and 10.3% of its managed care premiums for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, from state-sponsored Medicaid programs throughout its various health plan markets. For the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the State of Missouri accounted for almost half of the Company’s Medicaid premiums. Additionally, the Company
received 11.2%, 11.3% and 10.7% of its management services revenue from a single customer, Mail Handlers Benefit Plan (“MHBP”), for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents consist principally of money market funds, commercial paper, certificates of deposit, and
treasury bills. The Company considers all highly liquid securities purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Investments - The Company accounts for investments in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 320-10 “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” ASC 320-10-35-35 “Accounting for Debt
Securities After an Other-than-Temporary Impairment,” and Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2010-06, “Improving Disclosures about Fair Value
Measurements.” The Company adopted the new disclosure provisions of ASU 2010-06 during the first quarter of 2010, except for the gross disclosures
regarding purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the roll forward of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements, which are required for the Company
beginning with the filing of its quarterly filing on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2011. The Company invests primarily in fixed income
securities and classifies all of its investments as available-for-sale. Investments are evaluated on an individual security basis at least quarterly to determine if
declines in value are other-than-temporary. In making that determination, the Company considers all available evidence relating to the realizable value of a
security. This evidence is reviewed at the individual security level and includes, but is not limited to, the following:
•
•
•

the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than the amortized cost basis;
adverse conditions specifically related to the security, an industry or geographic area;
the historical and implied volatility of the fair value of the security;
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•
•
•
•
•

the payment structure of the debt security and the likelihood of the issuer being able to make payments that increase in the future;
failure of the issuer of the security to make scheduled interest or principal payments;
any changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency;
recoveries or additional declines in fair value subsequent to the balance sheet date; and
if the Company has decided to sell the security or it is more-likely-than-not that the Company will be required to sell the security before recovery of
its amortized cost.

For debt securities, if the Company intends to either sell or determine that it will more-likely-than-not be required to sell a debt security before recovery
of the entire amortized cost basis or maturity of the debt security, the Company recognizes the entire impairment in earnings. If the Company does not intend
to sell the debt security and the Company determines that it will not more-likely-than-not be required to sell the debt security but it does not expect to recover
the entire amortized cost basis, the impairment is bifurcated into the amount attributed to the credit loss, which is recognized in earnings, and all other cases,
which are recognized in other comprehensive income. Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are determined on a specific identification basis.
Investments with original maturities in excess of three months and less than one year are classified as short-term investments and generally consist of
corporate bonds, U.S. Treasury notes and commercial paper. Long-term investments have original maturities in excess of one year and primarily consist of
fixed income securities.
Other Receivables - Other receivables include pharmacy rebate receivables of $310.7 million and $314.9 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. Other receivables also include Medicare Part D program related risk share and subsidy receivables, Medicare risk adjuster receivables, Office of
Personnel Management (“OPM”) receivables, interest receivables, and any other receivables that do not relate to premiums. The increase in other receivables
during 2010 primarily resulted from an increase in the Medicare Part D related receivables.
Other Current Assets – Other Current Assets primarily include deferred tax assets and also includes prepaid expenses. See Note I, Income Taxes, to
the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
Property and Equipment - Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method over the shorter of the estimated lives of the related assets or over the term of the respective leases, if applicable. In accordance with ASC 350-40,
“Internal – Use Software,” the cost of internally developed software is capitalized and included in property and equipment. The Company capitalizes costs
incurred during the application development stage for the development of internal-use software. These costs primarily relate to payroll and payroll-related
costs for employees along with costs incurred for external consultants who are directly associated with the internal-use software project. See Note F, Property
and Equipment, to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
Long-term Assets - Long-term assets primarily include assets associated with senior note issuance costs and reinsurance recoveries. The reinsurance
recoveries were obtained with the acquisition of First Health Group Corp. (“First Health”) and are related to certain life insurance receivables from a third
party insurer for liabilities that have been ceded to that third party insurer.
Business Combinations, Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intangibles - The Company accounts for Business Combinations in accordance with
ASC 805-10 and accounts for goodwill and other intangibles in accordance with ASC 350-10. Goodwill and other intangible assets that have indefinite lives
are subject to a periodic assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value-based test. The Company’s annual impairment test date is October 1 of each
fiscal year. For goodwill, the Company performs a two-step impairment test. In the first step, the Company compares the fair value of each reporting unit to
its carrying value. The Company has five reporting units: Health Plans, Workers’ Compensation, MHNet, Medicare Part D, and Network Rental. The
Company determines the fair value of its reporting units based on a weighting of income and market approaches. The market approach estimates the reporting
unit’s fair value by utilizing market multiples of revenue or earnings for comparable companies. The income approach is based on the present value of
estimated future cash flows. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to that unit, goodwill is not impaired
and no further testing is performed. If the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, then the
Company must perform the second step of the impairment test in order to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. If the carrying
value of a reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, the Company records an impairment charge equal to the difference. Impairment charges
are recorded in the period incurred. See Note E, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, to the consolidated financial statements for disclosure related to these
assets.
The fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is estimated and compared to the carrying value. The Company estimates the fair value of the
indefinite-lived intangible asset using an income approach. The Company recognizes an impairment loss when the estimated fair value of the indefinite-lived
intangible asset is less than the carrying value.
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Other acquired intangible assets are separately recognized upon meeting certain criteria. Such intangible assets include, but are not limited to, trade and
service marks, health provider contracts, customer lists and licenses. An intangible asset that is subject to amortization is tested for recoverability whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Company amortizes other acquired intangible assets with
finite lives using the straight-line method over the estimated economic lives of the assets, ranging from three to 20 years.
Discontinued Operations – The Company accounts for discontinued operations in accordance with ASC 360-10 “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” The Company determines whether the group of assets being disposed of comprises a component of the entity, which
requires cash flows that can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the entity. The Company also determines whether the cash flows associated with the
group of assets have been or will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the Company as a result of the disposal transaction and whether the Company
has no significant continuing involvement in the operations of the group of assets after disposal. If these determinations result in an affirmative response, the
results of operations of the asset group being disposed of, as well as the gain or loss on disposal are aggregated for separate presentation apart from the
continuing operating results of the Company in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note D, Discontinued Operations, to the consolidated
financial statements for additional disclosure related to discontinued operations.
Medical Liabilities and Expense - Medical liabilities consist of actual claims reported but not paid and estimates of health care services incurred but not
reported. The estimated claims incurred but not reported are based on historical data, current enrollment, health service utilization statistics and other related
information. In determining medical liabilities, the Company employs standard actuarial reserve methods that are specific to each market’s membership,
product characteristics, geographic territories and provider network. The Company also considers utilization frequency and unit costs of inpatient, outpatient,
pharmacy and other medical expenses, as well as claim payment backlogs and the timing of provider reimbursements. The Company also establishes reserves,
if required, for the probability that anticipated future health care costs and contract maintenance costs under the group of existing contracts will exceed
anticipated future premiums and reinsurance recoveries on those contracts. These accruals are continually monitored and reviewed, and as settlements are
made or accruals adjusted, differences are reflected in current operations. Changes in assumptions for medical costs caused by changes in actual experience
could cause these estimates to change in the near term.
The following table presents the components of the change in medical claims liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively (in thousands).
Medical liabilities, beginning of year

$

Acquisitions (1)

2010
1,605,407

$

2009
1,446,391

71,548

$

-

2008
1,161,963
7,590

Reported Medical Costs
Current year
Prior year development
Total reported medical costs

8,507,460
(241,513)
8,265,947

11,049,227
(189,833)
10,859,394

8,916,644
(48,065)
8,868,579

Claim Payments
Payments for current year
Payments for prior year
Total claim payments

7,491,891
1,185,476
8,677,367

9,598,222
1,123,131
10,721,353

7,577,939
1,013,216
8,591,155

Change in Part D Related Subsidy Liabilities

(27,845)

Medical liabilities, end of year

$

1,237,690

20,975
$

1,605,407

(586)
$

1,446,391

Supplemental Information:
Prior year development (2)
Current year paid percent (3)
(1)
(2)
(3)

2.2%
88.1%

2.1%
86.9%

0.7%
85.0%

Acquisition balances represent medical liabilities of the acquired company as of the applicable acquisition date.
Prior year reported medical costs in the current year as a percentage of prior year reported medical costs.
Current year claim payments as a percentage of current year reported medical costs.

The negative medical cost amounts noted as “prior year development” are favorable adjustments for claim estimates being settled for amounts less
than originally anticipated. As noted above, these favorable developments from original estimates occur due to changes in medical utilization, mix of provider
rates and other components of medical cost trends. Medical claim liabilities are generally paid within several months of the member receiving service from
the provider. Accordingly, the 2010 prior year development relates almost entirely to claims incurred in calendar year 2009.
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The change in Medicare Part D related subsidy liabilities identified in the table above represent subsidy amounts received from Centers for Medicare &
Medicaid Services (“CMS”) for reinsurance and for cost sharing related to low-income individuals. These subsidies are recorded in medical liabilities and the
Company does do not recognize premium revenue or claims expense for these subsidies.
Other Long-term Liabilities - Other long-term liabilities consist primarily of deferred tax liabilities, liability for unrecognized tax benefits and
liabilities associated with the 401(k) Restoration and Deferred Compensation Plan.
Comprehensive Income – Comprehensive income includes net earnings and unrealized net gains and losses on investment securities. Other
comprehensive income is net of reclassification adjustments to adjust for items currently included in net earnings, such as realized gains and losses on
investment securities. The deferred tax provision for unrealized holding gains arising from investment securities during the years ended December 31, 2010,
2009 and 2008 was $4.1 million, $25.3 million, and $3.0 million, respectively. The deferred tax provision for reclassification adjustments for gains included
in net earnings on investment securities during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $4.3 million, $4.5 million, and $1.6 million,
respectively.
Revenue Recognition - Managed care premiums are recorded as revenue in the month in which members are entitled to service. Premiums are based on
a per subscriber contract rate and the subscribers in the Company’s records at the time of billing. Premium billings are generally sent to employers in the
month preceding the month of coverage. Premium billings may be subsequently adjusted to reflect changes in membership as a result of retroactive
terminations, additions or other changes. Payments received in advance of the period of coverage are recognized as deferred revenue. The Company also
receives premium payments from CMS on a monthly basis for its Medicare membership. Membership and category eligibility are periodically reconciled with
CMS and such reconciliations could result in adjustments to revenue. CMS uses a risk adjustment model to determine premium payments to health
plans. This risk adjustment model apportions premiums paid to all health plans according to health severity based on diagnosis data provided to CMS. The
Company estimates risk adjustment revenues based on the diagnosis data submitted to CMS. Changes in revenue from CMS resulting from the periodic
changes in risk adjustments scores for the Company’s membership are recognized when the amounts become determinable and the collectibility is reasonably
assured.
The Company also receives premium payments on a monthly basis from the state Medicaid programs with which the Company contracts for the
Medicaid members for whom it provides health coverage. Membership and category eligibility are periodically reconciled with the state Medicaid programs
and such reconciliations could result in adjustments to revenue. Premiums collected in advance are recorded as deferred revenue.
The Medicare Part D program gives beneficiaries access to prescription drug coverage. Coventry has been awarded contracts by CMS to offer various
Medicare Part D plans on a nationwide basis, in accordance with guidelines put forth by the agency. Payments from CMS under these contracts include
amounts for premiums, amounts for risk corridor adjustments, and amounts for reinsurance and low-income cost subsidies.
The Company recognizes premium revenue for the Medicare Part D program ratably over the contract period for providing insurance coverage.
Regarding the CMS risk corridor provision, an estimated risk sharing receivable or payable is recognized based on activity-to-date. Activity for CMS risk
sharing is accumulated at the contract and plan benefit package level and recorded within the consolidated balance sheet in other receivables or other accrued
liabilities depending on the net contract balance at the end of the reporting period with corresponding adjustments to premium revenue. Costs for covered
prescription drugs are expensed as incurred.
Subsidy amounts received for reinsurance and for cost sharing related to low-income individuals are recorded in medical liabilities and will offset
medical costs when paid. The Company does not recognize premium revenue or claims expense for these subsidies as the Company does not incur any risk
with this part of the program. The majority of these receivables and payables are related to low-income subsidy and reinsurance amounts either owed by or
owed to CMS. A reconciliation of the final risk sharing, low-income subsidy and reinsurance subsidy amounts is performed following the end of each contract
year.
The table below summarizes the CMS receivables and payables, for all contract years, at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (in thousands).
December 31, 2010
Total Medicare Part D CMS Receivables, net
Total Medicare Part D CMS Payables, net

$
$
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58,202 $
(53,280) $

December 31, 2009
9,146
(62,519)
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The CMS risk sharing receivables are included in other receivables while the CMS risk sharing payables are included in accounts payable and other
accrued liabilities. The reinsurance and low-income subsidy receivables are included in other receivables while the reinsurance and low-income subsidy
payables are included in medical liabilities.
The Company has quota share arrangements on business with certain individual and employer groups with some of its Medicare distribution partners
covering portions of the Company’s Medicare Part D and, previously, Medicare PFFS products. The Medicare PFFS products were not renewed for the 2010
plan year and, accordingly, the quota share arrangements were discontinued with a two year run out provision. As a result of the quota share arrangements,
for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company ceded premium revenue of $49.8 million, $416.5 million and $574.1 million,
respectively, and the associated medical costs to these partners. The ceded amounts are excluded from the Company’s results of operations. The Company is
not relieved of its primary obligation to the policyholder under this ceding arrangement.
Management services revenue is generally a fixed administrative fee, provided on a predetermined contractual basis or on a percentage-of-savings basis,
for access to the Company’s health care provider networks and health care management services, for which it does not assume underwriting risk. Percentage
of savings revenue is determined using the difference between charges billed by contracted medical providers and the contracted reimbursement rates for the
services billed and is recognized based on claims processed. The management services the Company provides typically include health care provider network
access, clinical management, pharmacy benefit management, bill review, claims repricing, claims processing, utilization review and quality assurance.
The Company enters into performance guarantees with employer groups where it pledges to meet certain standards. These standards vary widely and
could involve customer service, member satisfaction, claims processing, claims accuracy and telephone response time, among others. The Company also
enters into financial guarantees which can take various forms including, among others, achieving an annual aggregate savings threshold, achieving a targeted
level of savings per-member per-month, or achieving overall network penetration in defined demographic markets. For each guarantee, the Company
estimates and records performance based revenue after considering the relevant contractual terms and the data available for the performance based revenue
calculation. Pro-rata performance based revenue is recognized on an interim basis taking into account the ultimate rights and obligations of the parties upon
termination of the contracts.
Revenue for pharmacy benefit management services for the Workers' Compensation business is derived on a pre-negotiated amount per pharmacy claim
which includes the cost of the pharmaceutical. Revenue and a corresponding cost of sales to a third-party vendor related to the sale of pharmaceuticals is
recorded when a pharmacy transaction is processed by the Company. No pharmacy rebate revenue is collected or recorded related to the Company’s
Workers’ Compensation business.
Based on information received subsequent to premium billings being sent, historical trends, bad debt write-offs and the collectibility of specific accounts,
the Company estimates, on a monthly basis, the amount of bad debt and future retroactivity and adjusts its revenue and reserves accordingly.
Premiums for services to federal employee groups are subject to audit and review by the OPM on a periodic basis. Such audits are usually a number of
years in arrears. The Company estimates and records reserves for audit and other contract adjustments for both its managed care contracts and experience
rated plans based on appropriate guidelines and historical results. Adjustments are recorded as additional information regarding the audits and reviews
becomes available. Any differences between actual results and estimates are recorded in the period the audits are finalized.
Cost of Sales – Cost of sales consists of the expense for prescription drugs provided by the Company’s Workers’ Compensation pharmacy benefit
manager and for the independent medical examinations performed by physicians on injured workers. These costs are associated with fee-based products and
exclude the cost of drugs related to the risk products recorded in medical costs.
Contract Acquisition Costs – Costs related to the acquisition of customer contracts, such as commissions paid to outside brokers, are paid on a monthly
basis and expensed as incurred. For the Medicare Advantage business, the Company advances commissions and defers amortization of these costs to the
period in which revenue associated with the acquired customer is earned, which is generally not more than one year.
Income Taxes – The Company files a consolidated federal tax return for the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company accounts for income taxes in
accordance with ASC Topic 740, “Income Taxes.” The deferred tax assets and/or liabilities are determined by multiplying the differences between the
financial reporting and tax reporting bases for assets and liabilities by the enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when such differences are recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. The realization of total
deferred tax assets is contingent upon the generation of future taxable income in the tax jurisdictions in which the deferred tax assets are located. Taxable
income includes the effect of the reversal of deferred tax liabilities. Valuation allowances are provided to reduce such deferred tax assets to amounts morelikely-than-not to be ultimately realized.
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Earnings Per Share - Basic earnings per share are based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted
earnings per share assume the exercise of all options and the vesting of all restricted stock using the treasury stock method. Potential common stock
equivalents to purchase 10.3 million, 12.2 million and 8.3 million shares for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, were excluded
from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the potential common stock equivalents were anti-dilutive.
Other Income, net - Other income, net includes interest income, net of fees, gains on the repayment of debt, realized gains and losses on sales of
investments and charges on the other-than-temporary impairment of investment securities.
New Accounting Standards
In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-06, “Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements.” ASU 2010-06 requires the disclosure of
additional information about transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, requires the separate presentation (gross basis) of
information about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements of financial instruments in the roll forward of activity in fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), and requires expanded disclosures regarding the determination of fair value measurements. The Company adopted
the new disclosure provisions during the first quarter of 2010, except for the gross disclosures regarding purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the roll
forward of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements, which are required for the Company beginning with its filing on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2011. The adoption of ASU 2010-06 did not affect the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
B. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company has the following three reportable segments: Health Plan and Medical Services, Specialized Managed Care and Workers’
Compensation. Each of these reportable segments, which the Company also refers to as “Divisions,” is separately managed and provides separate operating
results that are evaluated by the Company’s chief operating decision maker.
The Health Plan and Medical Services Division is primarily comprised of the Company’s traditional health plan commercial risk, Medicare Advantage
and Medicaid businesses and products. Additionally, through this Division the Company contracts with various federal employee organizations to provide
health insurance benefits under the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program (“FEHBP”) and offers managed care and administrative products to
businesses that self-insure the health care benefits of their employees. This Division also contains the dental services business. The Company did not renew
its Medicare PFFS products effective for the 2010 plan year. Prior to the non-renewal, PFFS was part of this Division.
The Specialized Managed Care Division includes the Company’s Medicare Part D, network rental and behavioral health benefits businesses. As
discussed in Note D, Discontinued Operations, to the consolidated financial statements, prior to its sale on July 31, 2009 the Company’s Medicaid/Public
entity, First Health Services Corporation (“FHSC”), provided products and services to State Medicaid agencies and other government funded
programs. FHSC operations are excluded from the Company’s results of continuing operations.
The Workers’ Compensation Division is comprised of the Company’s workers’ compensation services businesses which provide fee-based, managed
care services such as provider network access, bill review, care management services and pharmacy benefit management to underwriters and administrators of
workers’ compensation insurance.
The table below summarizes the results from continuing operations of the Company’s reportable segments through the gross margin level, as that is the
measure of profitability used by the chief operating decision maker to assess segment performance and make decisions regarding the allocation of
resources. A reconciliation of gross margin to operating earnings at a consolidated level for continuing operations is also provided. Total assets by reportable
segment are not disclosed as these assets are not reviewed separately by the Company’s chief operating decision maker. The dollar amounts in the segment
tables are presented in thousands.
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Year Ended December 31, 2010
Health Plan
and Medical
Services
Operating revenues
Managed care premiums
Management services
Total operating revenues
Medical costs
Cost of sales
Gross margin

$

$

Specialized
Managed Care

8,788,028
327,084
9,115,112
6,934,902
2,180,210

$

1,704,328
101,017
1,805,345
1,408,761
396,584

$

Workers’
Comp.
$

$

755,055
755,055
252,052
503,003

Continuing
Operations
Total

Elim.
$

$

(77,716)
(9,880)
(87,596)
(77,716)
(9,880)

Selling, general and administrative
Charge for provider class action
Depreciation and amortization
Operating earnings

$

$

10,414,640
1,173,276
11,587,916
8,265,947
252,052
3,069,917

$

1,961,947
278,000
140,685
689,285

Year Ended December 31, 2009

Operating revenues
Managed care premiums
Management services
Total operating revenues
Medical costs
Cost of sales
Gross margin

Health Plan and
Medical
Services

Specialized
Managed Care

$

$

$

11,142,921
346,042
11,488,963
9,531,698
1,957,265

$

1,640,420
93,079
1,733,499
1,393,638
339,861

Workers’
Comp.
$

$

757,105
757,105
240,828
516,277

Continuing
Operations
Total

Elim.
$

$

(65,942)
(10,099)
(76,041)
(65,942)
(10,099)

Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Operating earnings

$

$

12,717,399
1,186,127
13,903,526
10,859,394
240,828
2,803,304

$

2,151,799
149,554
501,951

Year Ended December 31, 2008

Operating revenues
Managed care premiums
Management services
Total operating revenues
Medical costs
Cost of sales
Gross margin

Health Plan and
Medical
Services

Specialized
Managed Care

$

$

$

9,686,417
352,369
10,038,786
8,150,788
1,887,998

Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Operating earnings

$

912,485
89,626
1,002,111
751,953
250,158

Workers’
Comp.
$

$

736,695
736,695
195,600
541,095

Continuing
Operations
Total

Elim.
$

$

(35,739)
(7,626)
(43,365)
(34,162)
(9,203)

$

$

10,563,163
1,171,064
11,734,227
8,868,579
195,600
2,670,048

$

1,940,820
143,699
585,529

C. ACQUISITIONS
During the three years ended December 31, 2010, the Company completed four business combinations. These business combinations were accounted for
using the acquisition method of accounting and therefore the operating results of each acquisition have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements since the date of their acquisition. The purchase price for each business combination was allocated to the assets, including the identifiable
intangible assets and liabilities based on estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the net identifiable assets acquired was allocated to
goodwill.
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The following table summarizes the business combinations for the year ended December 31, 2010. The allocation of the purchase price is preliminary
and is based upon information that was available to management at the time the consolidated financial statements were prepared. The purchase price,
inclusive of all retroactive balance sheet settlements to date and transaction cost adjustments, is presented below (in millions):
Effective Date

Market

Price

Preferred Health Systems, Inc. (“PHS”)

February 1, 2010

Multiple Markets

$

93.8

MHP, Inc. (“MHP”)

October 1, 2010

Multiple Markets

$

102.8

On February 1, 2010, the Company completed its acquisition of PHS, a commercial health plan based in Wichita, Kansas serving approximately 100,000
commercial group risk members and 20,000 commercial self-funded members. The acquisition of PHS strengthens Coventry’s presence in the Kansas
market. As part of the acquisition, the Company recognized a liability for potential contingent earn-outs that are attributed to certain performance measures
by PHS. At December 31, 2010, the liability was not significant.
On October 1, 2010, the Company completed its acquisition of MHP, a diversified health plan with approximately 90,000 commercial risk members,
60,000 commercial self-funded members and 30,000 Medicare Advantage Coordinated Care Plan members throughout Missouri and northwest
Arkansas. The Company acquired MHP to expand its footprint in the Missouri market.
The PHS and MHP acquisitions are not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, individually or in the aggregate. As a result of the
PHS and MHP acquisitions the Company recorded $21.9 million of goodwill as of December 31, 2010, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax
purposes.
On February 13, 2008, the Company completed its acquisition of MHNet, a behavioral health company based in Austin, Texas. On May 14, 2008, the
Company completed its acquisition of a majority ownership interest in Group Dental Service, Inc. (“GDS”), a dental company based in Rockville,
Maryland. As a result of the MHNet and GDS acquisitions the Company has recorded $110.6 million of goodwill as of December 31, 2010, none of which is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
D. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On July 31, 2009, the Company completed the sale of its fee-based Medicaid services subsidiary FHSC for $117.5 million in cash, which included
adjustments for changes in working capital. FHSC was a component of the Company’s business operations within its Specialized Managed Care operating
segment. In accordance with ASC 205-20 “Discontinued Operations,” FHSC’s operations and disposal costs are presented as (loss) income from discontinued
operations, net of tax in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
The following table presents select FHSC discontinued operations information (in thousands):
Years ended December 31,
2009
2008
FHSC revenues
FHSC earnings before taxes
FHSC goodwill impairment, before taxes
Loss on disposal of FHSC, before taxes
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, including loss on disposal in 2009, before taxes
Provision for taxes on discontinued operations and disposal of FHSC
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax

$

89,808

$

14,218
(72,373)
(4,123)
(62,278)
10,755
(73,033)

$

179,419

$

33,915
33,915
14,020
19,895

The Company considered the sale of FHSC a potential indicator of impairment and in accordance with ASC Topic 350, “Intangibles – Goodwill and
Other,” it was determined that the carrying value of the reporting unit was in excess of fair value. Accordingly, the Company performed an estimate of the
probable impairment loss, determined that the goodwill allocated to the reporting unit was impaired, and recorded a gross impairment charge of $72.4 million
during the quarter ended June 30, 2009.
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The table below shows the carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities of FHSC as of December 31, 2008 that were included as part of
the disposal group on the July 31, 2009 sale (in thousands):
FHSC Assets
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other
Current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill and other intangibles
Deferred tax asset
Other assets
Total Assets
FHSC Liabilities
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Deferred tax liability
Total Liabilities

$

$

27,084
2,180
29,264
4,192
161,930
4,833
102
200,321

$
$

6,625
3,337
1,362
11,324

E. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows (in thousands):
Total
Balance, December 31, 2008
FHSC impairment charge
FHSC sale
Other adjustments
Balance, December 31, 2009
Acquisition of PHS
Acquisition of MHP
Other adjustments
Balance, December 31, 2010

$

$

$

2,695,025
(72,373)
(85,724)
(7,644)
2,529,284
16,987
4,920
(621)
2,550,570

The Company completed its 2010 annual impairment test of goodwill in accordance with ASC Topic 350 and determined that there were no
impairments. In performing its impairment analysis the Company identified its reporting units in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 350 and ASC
Topic 280, “Segment Reporting.”
In accordance with ASC Topic 350, for the purpose of testing goodwill for impairment, acquired assets and assumed liabilities were assigned to a
reporting unit as of the acquisition date if both of the following criteria were met: (1) the asset will be employed in or the liability relates to the operations of a
reporting unit and (2) the asset or liability will be considered in determining the fair value of the reporting unit. Corporate assets or liabilities were also
assigned to a reporting unit if both of these criteria were met.
In order to determine the fair value of its reporting units, the Company weighted the income approach and the market approach. Under the income
approach, the Company assumed certain growth rates, capital expenditures, discount rates and terminal growth rates in its calculations. The key assumptions
used to determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting units included terminal values based upon long term growth rates and a discount rate based on the
Company’s weighted average cost of capital adjusted for the risks associated with the operations. The market approach estimates the Company’s fair value by
utilizing market multiples.
As an overall test of the reasonableness of the estimated fair values of the reporting units, the Company compared the aggregate fair values of its
reporting units to its market capitalization. The comparison confirmed that the determined fair values were representative of market views when applying a
reasonable control premium. The Company determined that its implied control premium was reasonable based on a review of such premiums identified in
recent acquisitions for entities of similar size and/or in similar industries.
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The Company will continue to monitor its market capitalization in relation to aggregate fair values of its reporting units to determine if events and
circumstances warrant the performance of an interim impairment analysis.
Other Intangible Assets
The other intangible asset balances are as follows (in thousands):
Gross
Carrying
Amount
As of December 31, 2010
Amortized other intangible assets
Customer Lists
HMO Licenses
Provider Networks
Trade Names
Total amortized other intangible assets
Unamortized other intangible assets
Trade Name
Total unamortized other intangible assets
Total other intangible assets

$

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Amortization
Period

283,978 $
7,717
17,605
3,025
312,325 $

295,084
4,883
45,595
424
345,986

7-15 Years
20 Years
15-20 Years
3-4 Years

$

579,062 $
12,600
63,200
3,449
658,311 $

$
$
$

85,900 $
85,900 $
744,211 $

- $
- $
312,325 $

85,900
85,900
431,886

---

As of December 31, 2009
Amortized other intangible assets
Customer Lists
HMO Licenses
Provider Networks
Trade Names
Total amortized other intangible assets

$

Unamortized other intangible assets
Trade Name
Total unamortized other intangible assets
Total other intangible assets

224,789 $
7,122
14,353
1,954
248,218 $

331,173
5,478
47,647
1,495
385,793

7-15 Years
20 Years
15-20 Years
3-4 Years

$

555,962 $
12,600
62,000
3,449
634,011 $

$
$
$

85,900 $
85,900 $
719,911 $

- $
- $
248,218 $

85,900
85,900
471,693

---

Other intangible asset amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $64.1 million, $71.0 million, and $65.6 million,
respectively.
In 2009, we recorded a $5.5 million impairment charge to our customer list balances primarily as a result of lower than expected customer retention
levels. The impairment charges, which are included in the line item depreciation and amortization in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations,
related to components of its Health Plan and Medical Services operating segment and its Specialized Managed Care operating segment, respectively. The fair
values were based on present value calculations which are Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
The Company performed an impairment test of its unamortized other intangible asset (trade name) as of October 1, 2010, and determined that the asset
was not impaired.
For the years ending December 31, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, and 2015, the Company’s estimated intangible amortization expense is $64.9 million, $64.6
million, $64.2 million, $63.7 million and $32.1 million, respectively. The weighted-average amortization period is approximately 10 years for other intangible
assets.
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F. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment is comprised of the following (in thousands):

Land
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Developed software
Equipment
Sub-total
Less: accumulated depreciation
Property and equipment, net

$

$

As of December 31,
2010
2009
24,779 $
24,779
144,585
142,605
199,416
174,887
367,560
336,904
736,340
679,175
(474,058)
(407,244)
262,282 $
271,931

Depreciation
Period
--1-40 Years
1-9 Years
3-7 Years

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $76.6 million, $80.8 million and $84.6 million, respectively. Included
in the depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $25.2 million, $25.4 million and $29.9 million, respectively, of
amortization expense for developed software.
G. INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Investments
The Company considers all of its investments as available-for-sale securities. For debt securities, if the Company intends to either sell or determine that
it will more-likely-than-not be required to sell a debt security before recovery of the entire amortized cost basis or maturity of the debt security, the Company
recognizes the entire impairment in earnings. If the Company does not intend to sell the debt security and the Company determines that it will not morelikely-than-not be required to sell the debt security but it does not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis, the impairment is bifurcated into the
amount attributed to the credit loss, which is recognized in earnings, and all other cases, which are recognized in other comprehensive income. Realized gains
and losses on the sale of investments are determined on a specific identification basis. Certain prior year investment balances have been reclassified in the
tables below to conform to the 2010 presentation requirements.
The amortized cost, gross unrealized gain or loss and estimated fair value of short-term and long-term investments by security type were as follows at
December 31, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):
Amortized
Cost
As of December 31, 2010
State and municipal bonds
U.S. Treasury securities
Government-sponsored enterprise securities (1)
Residential mortgage-backed securities (2)
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities (3)
Corporate debt and other securities

$

856,838 $
84,739
332,421
308,250
22,025
29,143
473,982
2,107,398 $

$

Unrealized
Gain
29,886 $
3,667
7,477
10,421
952
1,192
17,123
70,718 $

Unrealized
Loss

Fair
Value

(3,068) $
(7)
(318)
(1,270)
(588)
(5,251) $

Equity method investments (4)
$
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883,656
88,399
339,580
317,401
22,977
30,335
490,517
2,172,865
28,590
2,201,455
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Amortized
Cost
As of December 31, 2009
State and municipal bonds
U.S. Treasury securities
Government-sponsored enterprise securities (1)
Residential mortgage-backed securities (2)
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities (3)
Corporate debt and other securities

$

Unrealized
Gain

863,561 $
566,057
231,645
229,665
26,891
48,434
357,594
2,323,847 $

$

Unrealized
Loss

37,392 $
2,572
4,225
10,581
344
4,441
12,373
71,928 $

Fair
Value

(1,371) $
(32)
(330)
(932)
(507)
(1,170)
(1,091)
(5,433) $

Equity method investments (4)
$
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

899,582
568,597
235,540
239,314
26,728
51,705
368,876
2,390,342
46,751
2,437,093

Includes FDIC-insured Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program securities.
Agency pass-through, with the timely payment of principal and interest guaranteed.
Includes auto loans, credit card debt and rate reduction bonds.
Includes investments in entities accounted for under the equity method of accounting and therefore are presented at their carrying value.

The Company adopted the provisions of ASC 320-10-65-1 related to its fixed maturity securities as of April 1, 2009. The portion of the Company’s
impairment charge recorded prior to 2009 that was not related to a belief that the entire amortized cost basis would not be recovered, credit deterioration of the
specific security, or securities that the Company has made the decision to sell was insignificant. Accordingly, the Company did not record a cumulative effect
transition adjustment upon adoption.
The Company acquired eight separate investments (tranches) in a limited liability company that invests in equipment leased to third parties, through its
acquisition of First Health on January 28, 2005. The total investment as of December 31, 2010 was $27.0 million and is accounted for using the equity
method. The Company’s proportionate share of the partnership’s income is included in other income in the Company’s statements of operations. The
Company has between a 20% and 25% interest in the limited partners’ share of each individual tranche of the partnership (approximately 10% of the total
partnership). The Company determined that events and changes in circumstances have occurred indicating that the carrying value might not be fully
recoverable. Accordingly, the investment was evaluated to determine fair value. As a result of this evaluation, the Company recorded an impairment charge
of $5.0 million and $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of available for sale debt securities by contractual maturity were as follows at December 31, 2010 and 2009
(in thousands):
As of December 31, 2010
Amortized
Fair
Cost
Value
Maturities:
Within 1 year
1 to 5 years
5 to 10 years
Over 10 years
Total

$

$

174,639
889,990
499,632
543,137
2,107,398

$

As of December 31, 2009
Amortized
Fair
Cost
Value
176,400
922,696
519,296
554,473
2,172,865

$

$

$

612,960
753,697
440,552
516,638
2,323,847

$

$

616,177
780,908
459,092
534,165
2,390,342

Investments with long-term option adjusted maturities, such as residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities, are included in the “Over 10
years” category. Actual maturities may differ due to call or prepayment rights.
Gross investment gains of $15.5 million and gross investment losses of $4.5 million were realized on sales of investments for the year ended December
31, 2010. This compares to gross investment gains of $14.0 million and gross investment losses of $2.4 million realized on sales of investments for the year
ended December 31, 2009, and gross investment gains of $7.6 million and gross investment losses of $37.0 million realized on sales and the other-thantemporary impairment of investments for the year ended December 31, 2008. The Company’s other-than-temporary impairment charge and its realized gains
and losses are recorded in other income, net in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.
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The following table shows the Company’s investments’ gross unrealized losses and fair value at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, aggregated
by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position (in thousands).
At December 31, 2010
Description of Securities
State and municipal bonds
U.S. Treasury securities
Government sponsored enterprises
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities
Corporate debt and other securities
Total
At December 31, 2009
Description of Securities
State and municipal bonds
U.S. Treasury securities
Government sponsored enterprises
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities
Corporate debt and other securities
Total

Less than 12 months
12 months or more
Fair Value
Unrealized Losses Fair Value
Unrealized Losses Fair Value
$ 156,894 $
(3,068) $
$
- $ 156,894
5,890
(7)
5,890
19,551
(318)
19,551
59,738
(1,269)
17
(1)
59,755
34,405
(588)
34,405
$ 276,478 $
(5,250) $
17
$
(1) $ 276,495

Fair Value
$
49,963
8,146
45,331
28,461
2,505
119,594
$ 254,000

Less than 12 months
Unrealized Losses Fair Value
$
(833) $
12,898
(32)
(330)
(645)
9,658
(17)
5,580
2,255
(1,091)
$
(2,948) $
30,391

Total
Unrealized Losses
$
(3,068)
(7)
(318)
(1,270)
(588)
$
(5,251)

12 months or more
Total
Unrealized Losses Fair Value Unrealized Losses
$
(538) $
62,861 $
(1,371)
8,146
(32)
45,331
(330)
(287)
38,119
(932)
(490)
8,085
(507)
(1,170)
2,255
(1,170)
119,594
(1,091)
$
(2,485) $ 284,391 $
(5,433)

The unrealized losses presented in this table do not meet the criteria for treatment as an other-than-temporary impairment. The unrealized losses are the
result of interest rate movements. The Company has not decided to sell and it is not more-likely-than not that the Company will be required to sell before a
recovery of the amortized cost basis of these securities.
The Company continues to review its investment portfolios under its impairment review policy. Given the current market conditions and the significant
judgments involved, there is a continuing risk that declines in fair value may occur and that other-than-temporary impairments may be recorded in future
periods.
Fair Value Measurements
ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures,” defines fair value and requires a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs
used in measuring fair value based on the quality and reliability of the inputs or assumptions used in fair value measurements.
The Company’s Level 1 securities primarily consist of U.S. Treasury securities and cash. The Company determines the estimated fair value for its Level
1 securities using quoted (unadjusted) prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
The Company’s Level 2 securities primarily consist of government-sponsored enterprise securities, state and municipal bonds, mortgage-backed
securities, asset-backed securities, corporate debt and money market funds. The Company determines the estimated fair value for its Level 2 securities using
the following methods: quoted prices for similar assets/liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets in non-active markets (few
transactions, limited information, non-current prices and high variability over time), inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset/liability
(e.g. interest rates, yield curves volatilities and default rates, among others), and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by other observable
market data.
The Company’s Level 3 securities primarily consist of corporate financial holdings and mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities that were thinly
traded due to market volatility and lack of liquidity. The Company determines the estimated fair value for its Level 3 securities using unobservable inputs that
cannot be corroborated by observable market data including, but not limited to, broker quotes, default rates, benchmark yields, credit spreads and prepayment
speeds.
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The following table presents the fair value hierarchy for the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2010
and 2009 (in thousands):

At December 31, 2010

Total

Quoted Prices in Active Markets Significant Other Observable
Significant Unobservable Inputs
for Identical Assets
Inputs
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Cash and cash equivalents
$1,853,988 $
State and municipal bonds
883,656
U.S. Treasury securities
88,399
Government-sponsored enterprise
securities
339,580
Residential mortgage-backed securities
317,401
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
22,977
Asset-backed securities
30,335
Corporate debt and other securities
490,517
Total
$4,026,853 $

At December 31, 2009

Total

326,258 $
88,399

1,527,730 $
883,656
-

-

414,657 $

339,580
317,181
22,977
30,208
489,787
3,611,119 $

220
127
730
1,077

Quoted Prices in Active Markets Significant Other Observable
for Identical Assets
Inputs
Significant Unobservable Inputs
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Cash and cash equivalents
$1,418,554 $
State and municipal bonds
899,582
U.S. Treasury securities
568,597
Government-sponsored enterprise
securities
235,540
Residential mortgage-backed securities
239,314
Commercial mortgage-backed securities
26,728
Asset-backed securities
51,705
Corporate debt and other securities
368,876
Total
$3,808,896 $

398,073 $
568,597

1,020,481 $
899,582
-

-

966,670 $

235,540
236,214
26,728
47,267
360,250
2,826,062 $

3,100
4,438
8,626
16,164

During the year ended December 31, 2010, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2. The following table provides a summary of changes in
the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 financial assets for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31, 2010
Total Level 3 Municipal bonds
$
16,164 $
- $
(513)
-

Beginning Balance, January 1
Transfers to (from) Level 3 (1)
Total gains or losses (realized / unrealized)
Included in earnings
Included in other comprehensive income
Purchases, issuances and settlements
Ending Balance, December 31, 2010
$

7,944
(7,241)
(15,277)
1,077 $

- $

Mortgage-backed
securities
Asset-backed securities Corporate and other
3,100 $
4,438 $
8,626
(470)
470
(513)
730
(664)
(2,476)
220 $

3,168
(2,944)
(5,005)
127 $

4,046
(3,633)
(7,796)
730

(1) During 2010, one investment previously classified as Level 3 was reclassified to Level 2 because observable market data became available to price this
security.
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Year Ended December 31, 2009
Total Level 3 Municipal bonds
$
23,155 $
7,980 $
-

Beginning Balance, January 1
Transfers to (from) Level 3
Total gains or losses (realized / unrealized)
Included in earnings
Included in other comprehensive income
Purchases, issuances and settlements
Ending Balance, December 31, 2009
$

13,245
7,866
(28,102)
16,164 $

Mortgage-backed
securities

2,683
(10,663)
- $

Asset-backed securities Corporate and other
- $
2,250 $
12,925
-

3,255
1,355
(1,510)
3,100 $

1,614
2,534
(1,960)
4,438 $

5,693
3,977
(13,969)
8,626

H. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
The Company has one stock incentive plan, the Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Stock Incentive Plan”) under which shares of the
Company’s common stock are authorized for issuance to key employees, consultants and directors in the form of stock options, restricted stock and other
stock-based awards. Shares available for issuance under the Stock Incentive Plan were 5.7 million as of December 31, 2010.
Stock Options
Under the Stock Incentive Plan, the terms and conditions of option grants are established on an individual basis with the exercise price of the options
being equal to not less than 100% of the fair value of the underlying stock at the date of grant. Options generally become exercisable after one year in either
33% or 25% increments per year and expire ten years from the date of grant.
The Company continues to use the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model and amortizes compensation expense over the requisite service period of
the grant. The methodology used in 2010 to derive the assumptions used in the valuation model is consistent with that used in prior years. The following
average values and weighted-average assumptions were used for option grants.
2010
Black-Scholes-Merton Value
Dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected life (in years)

$

2009
7.45
0.0%
1.4%
47.4%
3.5

$

2008
7.11
0.0%
1.7%
60.8%
3.8

$

13.16
0.0%
2.9%
32.3%
4.2

The Company has not paid dividends in the past nor does it expect to pay dividends in the future. As such, the Company used a dividend yield
percentage of zero. The Company uses a risk-free interest rate consistent with the yield available on a U.S. Treasury note with a term equal to the expected
term of the underlying grants. The expected volatility was estimated based upon a blend of the implied volatility of the Company’s tradeable options and the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price. The expected life was estimated based upon exercise experience of option grants made in the past to
Company employees.
The Company recorded compensation expense related to stock options of approximately $21.0 million, $30.6 million and $35.3 million, for the years
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Cash received from stock option exercises was $15.5 million, $1.2 million and $7.2 million, for the
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $11.3 million, $1.5 million, and $10.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. The tax benefit realized from stock option exercises was $4.1 million, $0.5 million and $3.7 million, for the years ended December 31, 2010,
2009 and 2008, respectively. As of December 31, 2010, there was $21.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost (net of expected forfeitures) related
to nonvested stock option grants which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.8 years.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2010:
Shares
(in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2010
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled and expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2010
Exercisable at December 31, 2010

13,033
1,721
(1,050)
(1,444)
12,260
8,611

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price
$
$
$
$
$
$

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

35.67
20.95
14.75
40.03
34.88 $
39.18 $

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual Life

36,814
14,466

5.16
3.71

Restricted Stock Awards
Under the Stock Incentive Plan, restricted stock awards generally vest in 25% increments per year. The fair value of restricted stock awards is based on
the market price of our common stock on the date of grant and is amortized over various vesting periods through 2014. Restricted stock awards may also
include a performance measure that must be met for the restricted stock award to vest.
The Company recorded compensation expense related to restricted stock grants, including restricted stock granted in prior periods, of approximately
$19.5 million, $16.5 million and $25.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The total unrecognized compensation
cost (net of expected forfeitures) related to the restricted stock was $29.6 million at December 31, 2010, and is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 1.9 years. The weighted-average fair value of restricted stock granted was $21.45, $16.43 and $39.06 per share for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $14.4
million, $8.5 million and $17.3 million, respectively.
The following table summarizes restricted stock award activity for the year ended December 31, 2010:
Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair
Value Per Share

Shares
(in thousands)
Nonvested, January 1, 2010
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

2,226
885
(665)
(273)

$
$
$
$

24.43
21.45
27.78
25.81

Nonvested, December 31, 2010

2,173

$

22.01

Performance Share Units
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2010, the Company granted performance share units (“PSUs”) to key employees pursuant to the Stock
Incentive Plan. The PSUs represent hypothetical shares of the Company’s common stock. The holders of PSUs have no rights as shareholders with respect to
the shares of the Company’s common stock to which the awards relate. The PSUs will vest based upon the achievement of certain performance goals and vest
over various periods through 2011. All PSUs that vest will be paid out in cash based upon the price of the Company’s common stock and therefore are
classified as a liability by the Company. The related liability on the Company’s books at December 31, 2010 was $23.1 million, of which $18.2 million was
paid out in February 2011. The liability on the Company’s books at December 31, 2009 was $13.8 million. During the twelve months ended December 31,
2010 the Company paid $10.9 million for PSUs that vested December 31, 2009. The Company recorded compensation expense related to the PSUs of
approximately $20.2 million and $13.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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The following table summarizes PSU activity for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 (in thousands):
Units
Outstanding, January 1, 2010
Granted
Vested
Cancelled/Forfeited
Outstanding, December 31, 2010

368
923
(661)
(45)
585

I. INCOME TAXES
The provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
2010
Current provision:
Federal
State
Deferred benefit:
Federal
State
Income tax expense

$

$

Years ended December 31,
2009

350,451
28,216
(117,600)
(13,149)
247,918

$

$

233,951
42,002
(60,864)
(25,869)
189,220

$

$

2008
210,877
32,210
(36,050)
2,824
209,861

The Company’s effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate of 35% as a result of the following:
Years ended December 31,
2010
2009
35.00%
35.00%

Statutory federal tax rate
Effect of:
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Tax exempt investment income
Remuneration disallowed
Other
Effective tax rate

1.56%
(1.34%)
0.55%
0.34%
36.11%
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1.72%
(1.71%)
0.35%
2.14%
37.50%

2008
35.00%
2.42%
(1.55%)
0.00%
0.83%
36.70%

Table of Contents

The effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2010 and
2009 are presented below (in thousands):
December 31,
2010
2009
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforward
Deferred compensation
Deferred revenue
Medical liabilities
Accounts receivable
Other accrued liabilities
Unrealized capital losses
Capital loss carryforward
Internally developed software
Other assets
Gross deferred tax assets
Less valuation allowance
Deferred tax asset

$

$

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gain on securities
Other liabilities
Depreciation
Intangibles
Internally developed software
Tax liability of limited partnership investment
Gross deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax asset (1)

$

$

59,002
77,892
7,578
101,302
2,280
208,514
2,512
17,469
476,549
(3,632)
472,917

$

(24,386)
(19,734)
(8,614)
(189,160)
(24,007)
(26,523)
(292,424)
180,493

$

$

$

28,359
66,464
8,392
79,781
9,011
96,393
2,670
1,787
1,221
18,079
312,157
(3,101)
309,056
(25,085)
(9,959)
(35,502)
(187,527)
(41,804)
(299,877)
9,179

Includes $339.6 million and $207.1 million classified as current assets at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and $(159.1) million and
$(198.0) million classified as noncurrent assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

(1)

At December 31, 2010, the Company had approximately $151 million of federal and $257 million of state tax net operating loss carryforwards. The
Federal net operating losses were primarily acquired through various acquisitions and are subject to limitation under Internal Revenue Code Section 382. The
net operating loss carryforwards can be used to reduce future taxable income and expire over varying periods through the year 2030. A valuation allowance
of approximately $3.6 million and $3.1 million has been recorded as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, for certain net operating loss deferred tax
assets as the Company believes it is not more-likely-than-not that these deferred tax assets will be realized before expiration of those net operating losses.
A reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 is as follows (in thousands):
Gross unrecognized tax benefits - beginning balance
Gross increases to tax positions taken in the current period
Gross increases to tax positions taken in prior periods
Gross decreases to tax positions taken in prior periods
Decreases relating to settlements with tax authorities
Decreases due to a lapse of statute of limitations
Gross unrecognized tax benefits - ending balance

$

$

2010
129,084 $
100,426
7,128
(94,712)
(5,671)
136,255 $

2009
51,841 $
98,254
17,865
(34,777)
(4,099)
129,084 $

2008
83,482
25,469
14,456
(68,585)
(874)
(2,107)
51,841

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits, as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate was $43.3
million and $40.4 million, respectively. Further, the Company is unaware of any positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months.
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Penalties and tax-related interest expense are reported as a component of income tax expense. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the total amount of
income tax-related accrued interest and penalties, net of related tax benefit, recognized in the statement of financial position was $9.2 million and $6.5
million, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the total amount of income tax-related accrued interest and penalties, net of related tax benefit,
recognized in the statement of operations was $4.0 million, $2.8 million and $2.4 million, respectively.
The Company is regularly audited by federal, state and local tax authorities, and from time to time these audits result in proposed assessments. Tax
years 2007-2009 remain open to examination by these tax jurisdictions. The Company believes appropriate provisions for all outstanding issues have been
made for all jurisdictions and all open years.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company settled certain income tax examinations with various state and local tax authorities. Tax
assessed as a result of these examinations was not material. During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) completed its
examination of the income tax returns for the Company for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. Tax assessed as a result of this examination was
not material. First Health Group Corporation (“FHGC”) is also subject to ongoing examinations by certain state tax authorities for pre-acquisition years. The
Company believes that adequate accruals have been provided for all FHGC open tax years.
J. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Employee Retirement Plans
The Company sponsors one defined contribution retirement plan qualifying under the Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k): the Coventry Health Care,
Inc. Retirement Savings Plan (the “Savings Plan”). All employees of Coventry Health Care, Inc. and employees of its subsidiaries can elect to participate in
the Savings Plan. T. Rowe Price is the custodial trustee of all Savings Plan assets, participant loans and the Coventry Health Care, Inc. common stock in the
Savings Plan.
Under the Savings Plan, participants may defer up to 75% of their eligible compensation, limited by the maximum compensation deferral amount
permitted by applicable law. The Company makes matching contributions in the Company’s common stock equal to 100% of the participant’s contribution on
the first 3% of the participant’s eligible compensation and equal to 50% of the participant’s contribution on the second 3% of the participant’s eligible
compensation. Participants vest immediately in all safe harbor matching contributions. The Savings Plan permits all participants, regardless of service, to sell
the employer match portion of the Coventry common stock in their accounts, during certain times of the year, and transfer the proceeds to other Coventry
401(k) funds of their choosing. All costs of the Savings Plan are funded by the Company and participants as they are incurred.
As a result of corporate acquisitions and transactions, the Company has acquired entities that have sponsored other qualified plans. All qualified plans
sponsored by the acquired subsidiaries of the Company have either terminated or merged with and into the Savings Plan. The cost of the Savings Plan,
including the acquired plans, for 2010, 2009 and 2008 was approximately $27.4 million, $30.3 million and $31.5 million, respectively.
401(k) Restoration and Deferred Compensation Plan
The Company is the sponsor of a 401(k) Restoration and Deferred Compensation Plan (“RESTORE”). Under RESTORE, participants may defer up to
75% of their base salary and up to 100% of any bonus awarded. The Company makes matching contributions equal to 100% of the participant’s contribution
on the first 3% of the participant’s compensation and 50% of the participant’s contribution on the second 3% of the participant’s compensation. Participants
vest in the Company’s matching contributions ratably over two years. All costs of RESTORE are funded by the Company as they are incurred.
The cost, principally employer matching contributions, of RESTORE charged to operations for 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $0.4 million, $0.9 million and
$0.2 million, respectively.
Executive Retention Plans
The Company was the sponsor of a deferred compensation plan that was designed to promote the retention of key senior management and to recognize
their strategic importance to the Company. The fixed dollar and stock equivalent allocations charged to operations for this plan was $1.6 million and $1.1
million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. The liability for this plan was $1.4 million at December 31, 2009 and, during 2010, this plan was settled and paid out.
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Stock Incentive Plan
For information regarding the Company’s stock-based compensation, please refer to Note H, Stock-Based Compensation, to the consolidated financial
statements.
K. DEBT
The Company’s outstanding debt was as follows at December 31, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):
December 31,
December 31,
2010
2009
5.875% Senior notes due 1/15/12, net of repurchases
$
233,903 $
233,903
6.125% Senior notes due 1/15/15, net of repurchases
228,845
228,845
5.95% Senior notes due 3/15/17, net of repurchases and unamortized discount of $880 at December 31, 2010
382,355
382,213
6.30% Senior notes due 8/15/14, net of unamortized discount of $834 at December 31, 2010
374,264
374,037
Revolving Credit Facility due 7/11/12, 0.81% weighted average interest rate for the period ended December 31,2010
380,029
380,029
Total Debt
$
1,599,396 $
1,599,027
During 2010, the Company made no principal repayments on its outstanding senior notes or revolving credit facility.
During 2009, the Company repaid a total of $68.9 million principal of outstanding senior notes for payments of $59.9 million, resulting in a gain of $8.4
million. These gains were net of the write off of deferred financing costs. The funds for the repayments were provided by cash from operations.
During 2009, the Company repaid $235 million on its revolving credit facility. The remaining outstanding balance of $380 million will be used to
optimize the Company’s liquidity position and for other general corporate purposes.
During 2008, the Company repaid a principal total of $10 million of its outstanding 5.95% Senior Notes due March 15, 2017.
During 2008, the Company drew down $543.5 million from its Revolving Credit Facility and repaid $103.5 million of this amount. The remaining
outstanding balance of $615.0 million was used to optimize the Company’s liquidity position during the current uncertain macroeconomic environment and
for general corporate purposes. Also, from time to time throughout 2008 the Company drew down amounts as needed and repaid certain amounts on its
Revolving Credit Facility for general corporate purposes.
The Company’s senior notes and credit facility contain certain covenants and restrictions regarding, among other things, additional debt, dividends or
other restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, asset dispositions and consolidations or mergers. Additionally, the Company’s credit facility requires
compliance with a leverage ratio of 3 to 1. The Company’s credit facility and certain of its senior notes also include, as an event of default, the entry of a
judgment against the Company or a subsidiary in excess of a specified amount ($50 million in the case of the credit agreement and $20 million in the case of
the applicable senior notes) if enforcement proceedings are commenced or if enforcement is not stayed for a period of 30 consecutive days. As described in
Note L, Commitments and Contingencies, to the consolidated financial statements, the Company had filed an appeal with the State of Louisiana intermediate
appellate court of the partial summary judgment against FHGC which was denied. FHGC has filed an application for a writ of appeal with the Louisiana
Supreme Court with respect to the class decertification order and the partial summary judgment order. The decision to grant or deny the application for a writ
of appeal is at the discretion of the Louisiana Supreme Court. The Louisiana Supreme Court has not yet issued a decision on either of these applications. On
December 6, 2010, the Company entered into a Memorandum of Understanding setting forth settlement terms of a partial summary judgment. On February 2,
2011, FHGC, counsel for the class representatives and the class representatives executed a definitive settlement agreement which was acceptable to
FHGC. As set forth in the settlement agreement, certain contingencies must be satisfied before the settlement becomes final. For additional information
regarding this contingency, see Note L, Commitments and Contingencies, to the consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2010, the Company
was in compliance with the applicable covenants and restrictions under its senior notes and credit facility.
Loans under the credit facilities bear interest at a margin or spread in excess of either (1) the one-, two-, three-, six-, nine-, or twelve- month rate for
Eurodollar deposits (the “Eurodollar Rate”) or (2) the greater of the federal funds rate plus 0.5% or the base rate of the Administrative Agent (“Base Rate”), as
selected by the Company. The margin or spread depends on the Company’s non-credit-enhanced long-term senior unsecured debt ratings and varies from
0.350% to 1.000% for Eurodollar Rate advances and from 0.000% to 0.500% for Base Rate advances.
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As of December 31, 2010, the aggregate maturities of debt based on their contractual terms, gross of unamortized discount, are as follows (in thousands):
Year
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
Thereafter
Total

Amount
$

$

613,932
375,098
228,845
383,235
1,601,110

L. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
As of December 31, 2010, the Company is contractually obligated to make the following minimum lease payments, including arrangements that may be
noncancelable and may include escalation clauses, within the next five years and thereafter (in thousands):
Lease Payments
Sublease Income
Net Lease Payments
2011
$
34,116 $
(1,751) $
32,365
2012
27,742
(1,497)
26,245
2013
19,333
(777)
18,556
2014
12,816
(426)
12,390
2015
9,513
(439)
9,074
Thereafter
21,964
(528)
21,436
Total
$
125,484 $
(5,418) $
120,066
The Company operates in leased facilities with original lease terms of up to thirteen years with options for renewal. Total rent expense was $32.4
million, $35.6 million and $40.8 million, for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Legal Proceedings
In the normal course of business, the Company has been named as a defendant in various legal actions such as actions seeking payments for claims
denied by the Company, medical malpractice actions, employment related claims and other various claims seeking monetary damages. The claims are in
various stages of proceedings and some may ultimately be brought to trial. Incidents occurring through December 31, 2010 may result in the assertion of
additional claims. The Company maintains general liability, professional liability and employment practices liability insurances in amounts that it believes are
appropriate, with varying deductibles for which it maintains reserves. The professional errors and omissions liability and employment practices liability
insurances are carried through its captive subsidiary. Although the results of pending litigation are always uncertain, the Company does not believe the results
of such actions currently threatened or pending, including those described below, will individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its
consolidated financial position or results of operations.
The Company has received a subpoena from the U.S. Attorney for the District of Maryland, Northern Division, requesting information regarding the
operational process for confirming Medicare eligibility for its Workers’ Compensation set-aside product. The Company is fully cooperating and is providing
the requested information. The Company cannot predict what, if any, actions may be taken by the U.S. Attorney. However, based on the information known to
date, the Company does not believe that the outcome of this investigation will have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations.
FHGC, a subsidiary of the Company, is a party to various lawsuits filed in the state and federal courts of Louisiana involving disputes between providers
and workers’ compensation payors who access FHGC’s contracts with these providers to reimburse them for services rendered to injured workers. FHGC has
written contracts with providers in Louisiana which expressly state that the provider agrees to accept a specified discount off their billed charges for services
rendered to injured workers. The discounted rate set forth in the FHGC provider contract is less than the reimbursement amount set forth in the Louisiana
Workers’ Compensation Fee Schedule. For this reason, workers’ compensation insurers and third-party administrators (“TPAs”) for employers who self
insure workers’ compensation benefits, contract with FHGC to access the FHGC provider contracts. Thus, when a FHGC contracted provider renders services
to an injured worker, the workers’ compensation insurer or the TPA reimburses the provider for those services in accordance with the discounted rate in the
provider’s contract with FHGC. These workers’ compensation insurers and TPAs are referred to as “payors” in the FHGC provider contract and the contract
expressly states that the discounted rate will apply to those payors who access the FHGC contract. Thus, the providers enter into these contracts with FHGC
knowing that they will be paid the discounted rate by every payor who chooses to access the FHGC contract. So that its contracted providers know which
payors are accessing their contract, FHGC sends regular written notices to its contracted providers and maintains a provider website which lists each and
every payor who is accessing the FHGC contract.
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Four providers who have contracts with FHGC filed a state court class action lawsuit against FHGC and certain payors alleging that FHGC violated
Louisiana’s Any Willing Provider Act (the “Act”), which requires a payor accessing a preferred provider network contract to give a one time notice 30 days
before that payor uses the discounted rate in the preferred provider network contract to pay the provider for services rendered to a member insured under that
payor’s health benefit plan. These provider plaintiffs allege that the Act applies to medical bills for treatment rendered to injured workers and that the Act
requires point of service written notice in the form of a benefit identification card. If a payor is found to have violated the Act’s notice provision, the court
may assess up to $2,000 in damages for each instance when the provider was not given proper notice that a discounted rate would be used to pay for the
services rendered. In response to the state court class action, FHGC and certain payors filed a suit in federal court against the same four provider plaintiffs in
the state court class action seeking a declaratory judgment that FHGC’s contracts are valid and enforceable, that its contracts are not subject to the Act since
that Act does not apply to medical services rendered to injured workers and that FHGC is exempt from the notice requirements of the Act because it has
contracted directly with each provider in its network. The federal district court ruled in favor of FHGC and declared that its contracts are not subject to the
Act, that FHGC was exempt from the Act’s notice provision because it contracted directly with the providers, and that FHGC’s contracts were valid and
enforceable, i.e., the four provider plaintiffs were required to accept the discounted rate in accordance with the terms of their written contracts with FHGC.
Despite the federal court’s decision, the provider plaintiffs continued to pursue their state court class action against FHGC and filed a motion for partial
summary judgment seeking damages of $2,000 for each provider visit where the provider was not given a benefit identification card at the time the service
was performed. In response to the motion for partial summary judgment filed in the state court action, FHGC obtained an order from the federal court which
enjoined, barred and prevented any of the four provider plaintiffs or their counsel from pursuing any claim against FHGC before any court or tribunal arising
under the Act. Despite the issuance of this federal court injunction, the provider plaintiffs and their counsel pursued their motion for partial summary
judgment in the state court action. Before the state court held a hearing on the motion for partial summary judgment, FHGC moved to decertify the class on
the basis that the four named provider plaintiffs had been enjoined by the federal court from pursuing their claims against FHGC. The state court denied the
motion to decertify the class but did enter an order permitting FHGC to file an immediate appeal of the state court’s denial of the motion. Even though FHGC
had filed its appeal and there were no class representatives since all four named plaintiffs had been enjoined from pursuing their claims against FHGC, the
state court held a hearing and granted the plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary judgment. The amount of the partial summary judgment was $262 million.
FHGC appealed both the partial summary judgment order and the denial of class decertification order to the state’s intermediate appellate court. Both appeals
were denied by the intermediate appellate court. FHGC has filed an application for a writ of appeal with the Louisiana Supreme Court with respect to the
class decertification order and the partial summary judgment order. The decision to grant or deny the application for a writ of appeal is at the discretion of the
Louisiana Supreme Court. The Louisiana Supreme Court has not yet issued a decision on either of these applications. FHGC also filed a motion with the
federal court to enforce the federal court’s prior judgments and for sanctions against the provider plaintiffs for violating those judgments which barred and
enjoined them from pursuing their claims against FHGC in the state courts. That motion also sought to enjoin the state courts from proceeding in order to
protect and effectuate the federal court’s judgments. FHGC’s motion was denied by the federal court.
As a result of the Louisiana appellate court’s decision on July 1, 2010 to affirm the state trial court’s summary judgment order, the Company recorded a
$278 million pre-tax charge to earnings and a corresponding accrued liability during the quarter ended June 30, 2010. This amount represents the $262
million judgment amount plus post judgment interest and is included in “accounts payable and other accrued liabilities” in the accompanying balance
sheets. The Company has accrued for legal fees expected to be incurred related to this case as well as post judgment interest subsequent to the second quarter
charge, which are included in “accounts payable and other accrued liabilities” in the accompanying balance sheets.
On December 6, 2010, FHGC entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with attorneys representing the four plaintiffs and the class setting forth the
settlement terms of the $262 million partial summary judgment entered in the class action lawsuit. The Memorandum of Understanding provides that subject
to the execution of a settlement agreement acceptable to FHGC and final non-appealable approval of such settlement by the Louisiana state court, FHGC will
pay $150.5 million to satisfy in full the amount of the partial summary judgment and to resolve and settle all claims of the class, including claims for pre and
post judgment interest, attorneys fees and costs. In addition, Coventry will assign to the class certain rights it has to the proceeds of FHGC’s insurance
policies relating to the claims asserted by the class. Pursuant to the Memorandum of Understanding, the parties have also agreed to request that the
appropriate courts stay all related proceedings and consideration of any pending appellate writ applications, and to stay the effect of any outstanding
judgments until the settlement agreement is prepared, executed and receives final court approval.
In exchange for the settlement payment by FHGC, class members will release FHGC and all of its affiliates and clients for any claims relating in any
way to re-pricing, payment for, or reimbursement of a workers’ compensation bill, including but not limited to claims under the Act. Plaintiffs have also
agreed to a notice procedure that FHGC may follow in the future to comply with the Act. As noted, the Memorandum of Understanding is contingent upon the
execution of a definitive settlement agreement acceptable to FHGC. Under Louisiana law, once the parties have executed such a settlement agreement, they
must apply to the court for approval of the settlement following a court-supervised process of notice to the class and an opportunity for the class to be heard
about the fairness of the settlement or exclude themselves from the settlement.
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On February 2, 2011, FHGC, counsel for the class representatives and the class representatives executed a definitive settlement agreement which was
acceptable to FHGC. The settlement agreement contains the same terms and conditions as was set forth in the Memorandum of Understanding. As noted
above and as set forth in the settlement agreement, certain contingencies (preliminary court approval; resolutions of objections filed by class members
challenging the fairness of the settlement; class members excluded from the settlement not exceeding a materiality threshold; and, final court approval) must
be satisfied before the settlement becomes final. Given these various contingencies which must be satisfied before the settlement becomes final, no changes
have been made to the previously recorded amounts.
In a related matter, FHGC has filed another lawsuit in Louisiana federal district court against 85 Louisiana providers seeking a declaratory judgment that
its contracts are valid and enforceable, that its contracts are not subject to the Louisiana’s Any Willing Provider Act because its contracts pertain to payment
for services rendered to injured workers, and FHGC is exempt from the notice provision of the Any Willing Provider Act because it has contracted directly
with the providers. As a result of the Memorandum of Understanding and the settlement agreement executed in connection with the provider class action
lawsuit in Louisiana referenced above, this lawsuit will be stayed and dismissed if the settlement agreement of the class action lawsuit becomes final.
On September 3, 2009, a shareholder, who owned less than 5,000 shares, filed a putative securities class action against the Company and three of its
current and former officers in the federal district court of Maryland. Subsequent to the filing of the complaint, three other shareholders and/or investor groups
filed motions with the court for appointment as lead plaintiff and approval of selection of lead and liaison counsel. By agreement, the four shareholders
submitted a stipulation to the court regarding appointment of lead plaintiff and approval of selection of lead and liaison counsel. In December, 2009, the court
approved the stipulation and ordered the lead plaintiff to file a consolidated and amended complaint. To date, no consolidated and amended complaint has
been filed. The purported class period is February 9, 2007 to October 22, 2008. The complaint alleges that the Company’s public statements contained false,
misleading and incomplete information regarding the Company’s profitability, particularly the profit margins for its Medicare PFFS products. The Company
will vigorously defend against the allegations in the lawsuit and has filed a motion to dismiss the complaint which is pending before the court. Although it
cannot predict the outcome, the Company believes this lawsuit will not have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations.
On October 13, 2009, two former employees and participants in the Coventry Health Care Retirement Savings Plan filed a putative ERISA class action
lawsuit against the Company and several of its current and former officers, directors and employees in the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland.
Plaintiffs allege that defendants breached their fiduciary duties under ERISA by offering and maintaining Company stock in the Plan after it allegedly became
imprudent to do so and by allegedly failing to provide complete and accurate information about the Company’s financial condition to plan participants in SEC
filings and public statements. Three similar actions by different plaintiffs were later filed in the same court and were consolidated on December 9, 2009. A
consolidated complaint has not yet been filed. The Company intends to vigorously defend against the allegations in the consolidated lawsuit and has filed a
motion to dismiss the complaint which is pending before the court. Although it cannot predict the outcome, the Company believes this lawsuit will not have a
material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations.
There were several lawsuits filed against our Florida health plan by non-participating providers seeking to be paid their full billed charges for services
rendered to Florida members. The Florida health plan reimburses non-participating providers at rates which are usual and customary for similar services in the
same geographical area. The Company has settled these lawsuits for amounts that did not have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of
operations.
Capitation Arrangements
The Company has capitation arrangements for certain ancillary heath care services, such as laboratory services and, in some cases, physician and
radiology services. A small percentage of the Company’s membership is covered by global capitation arrangements. Under the typical arrangement, the
provider receives a fixed percentage of premium to cover costs of all medical care or of the specified ancillary services provided to the capitated members.
Under some capitated and professional capitation arrangements, physicians may also receive additional compensation from risk sharing and other incentive
arrangements. Capitation arrangements limit the Company’s exposure to the risk of increasing medical costs, but expose the Company to risk as to the
adequacy of the financial and medical care resources of the provider organization. The Company is ultimately responsible for the coverage of its members
pursuant to the customer agreements. To the extent that a provider organization faces financial difficulties or otherwise is unable to perform its obligations
under the capitation arrangements, the Company will be required to perform such obligations. Consequently, the Company may have to incur costs in excess
of the amounts it would otherwise have to pay under the original global or ancillary capitation through our contracted network arrangements. Medical costs
associated with capitation arrangements made up approximately 6.4%, 2.9% and 4.1% of the Company’s total medical costs for the years ended December 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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CMS Audits
CMS periodically performs audits and may seek return of premium payments made to the company if risk adjustment factors are not properly supported
by medical record data. We estimate and record reserves for CMS audits based on information available at the time the estimates are made. The judgments
and uncertainties affecting the application of these policies include significant estimates related to the amount of HCC revenue subject to audit and anticipated
error rates. Although the Company maintains reserves for its exposure to the risk adjustment data validation (“RADV”) audits, actual results could differ
materially from those estimates. Accordingly, CMS audit results could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, and cash
flows.
M. CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK
The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, investments in fixed income securities and
accounts receivable. The Company invests its excess cash in state and municipal bonds, U.S. Treasury and agency securities, mortgage-backed securities,
asset-backed securities, corporate debt and other securities. Investments in marketable securities are managed within guidelines established by the Board of
Directors, which only allow for the purchase of investment-grade fixed income securities and limits exposure to any one issuer. The fair value of the
Company’s financial instruments is equivalent to their carrying value. There is some credit risk associated with these instruments.
The Company is a provider of health insurance coverage to the State of Illinois employees and their dependents. In August 2009, the State of Illinois
notified the Company of the State’s significant budget deficit and subsequently the State has limited payments to the Company based on available cash.
As of December 31, 2010, the Company has an outstanding premium receivable balance from the State of Illinois of approximately $50.1 million which
represents four months of health insurance premiums. As the receivable is from a governmental entity which has been making payments, including accrued
interest on late payments, we believe that the full receivable balance will ultimately be realized and therefore we have not reserved against the outstanding
balance. The Company’s regulated subsidiaries are required to submit statutory-basis financial statements to state regulatory agencies. For those financial
statements, in accordance with state regulations, this receivable is being treated as an admitted asset in its entirety.
Concentration of credit risk with respect to receivables is limited due to the large number of customers comprising the Company’s customer base and
their breakdown among geographical locations. The Company believes the allowance for doubtful accounts adequately provides for estimated losses as of
December 31, 2010. The Company has a risk of incurring losses if such allowances are not adequate.
The Company contracts with a pharmacy benefit management (“PBM”) vendor to manage our pharmacy benefits for our members and to provide rebate
administration services on behalf of the Company. As of December 31, 2010, the Company had pharmacy rebate receivables of $310.7 million due from the
PBM vendor resulting from the normal cycle of rebate processing, data submission and collection of rebates. The Company has credit risk due to the
concentration of receivables with this single vendor although the Company does not consider the associated credit risk to be significant. The Company only
records the pharmacy rebate receivables to the extent that the amounts are deemed probable of collection.
N. STATUTORY INFORMATION
The Company’s regulated HMO and insurance company subsidiaries are required by state regulatory agencies to maintain minimum surplus balances,
thereby limiting the dividends the parent may receive from its regulated entities. During 2010, the Company received $319.4 million in dividends from its
regulated subsidiaries and paid $11.5 million in capital contributions to these subsidiaries.
The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) has proposed that states adopt risk-based capital (“RBC”) standards which are a
method of measuring the minimum amount of capital appropriate for a managed care organization to support its overall business operations in consideration
of its size and risk profile. The managed care organization’s RBC is calculated by applying factors to various assets, premiums and reserve items. The factor
is higher for those items with greater underlying risk and lower for less risky items. The adequacy of a managed care organization’s actual capital can then be
measured by a comparison to its RBC as determined by the formula. The Company’s health plans are required to submit an RBC report to the NAIC and their
domiciled state’s department of insurance with their annual filing.
Regulators will use the RBC results to determine if any regulatory actions are required. Regulatory actions that could take place, if any, range from filing
a financial action plan explaining how the plan will increase its statutory net worth to the approved levels, to the health plan being placed under regulatory
control.
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The majority of states in which the Company operates health plans have adopted a RBC policy that recommends the health plans maintain statutory
reserves at or above the “Company Action Level,” which is currently equal to 200% of their RBC. Some states in which the Company’s regulated
subsidiaries operate require deposits to be maintained with the respective states’ departments of insurance. The table below summarizes the Company’s
statutory reserve information as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 (in millions, except percentage data).

Regulated capital and surplus
200% of RBC (1, 2)
Excess capital and surplus above 200% of RBC (1, 2)
Capital and surplus as percentage of RBC (1, 2)
Statutory deposits
(1)
(2)

$
$
$
$

2010
(unaudited)
1,908.7
633.8
1,274.9
602%
79.9

2009
$
$
$
$

1,636.2
812.2
824.0
403%
75.3

RBC amounts are not audited.
The State of Florida does not have a RBC requirement for its regulated HMOs. Accordingly, the statutory reserve information provided for
the Company’s health plans domiciled in Florida is based on the actual statutory minimum capital required by the State of Florida.

The increase in capital and surplus for our regulated subsidiaries primarily resulted from net earnings, acquisition of PHS and MHP, and capital
contributions made by the parent company, partially offset by dividends paid to the parent company.
The Company believes that all subsidiaries which incur medical claims maintain more than adequate liquidity and capital resources to meet these shortterm obligations as a matter of both Company policy and applicable department of insurance regulations.
Excluding funds held by entities subject to regulation and excluding our equity method investments, the Company had cash and investments of
approximately $1.1 billion and $713.0 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The increase resulted from earnings from non-regulated
businesses, and dividends from the Company’s regulated subsidiaries. These were partially offset by capital infusions into the Company’s subsidiaries.
O. OTHER INCOME, NET
Other income, net for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 includes interest income, net of fees, of approximately $70.8 million, $65.5
million and $104.6 million, respectively. Other income, net includes gains of $8.4 million and $4.6 million on the repayment of outstanding debt for the years
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Other income, net included a gain on disposal of investments of $11.0 million and $11.6 million for the
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2008, other income, net included a charge of $33.5 million for the
other-than-temporary impairment of investment securities. As discussed in Note G, Investments and Fair Value Measurements, to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company recorded an impairment charge, related to the Company’s equity method investments, of $5.0 million and $2.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
P. SHARE REPURCHASE PROGRAM
The Company’s Board of Directors has approved a program to repurchase its outstanding common shares. Share repurchases may be made from time to
time at prevailing prices on the open market, by block purchase, or in private transactions. As a part of this program, the Company made no purchases of
common stock during 2010. The Company purchased 1.5 million shares of its common stock during 2009 at an aggregate cost of $30.0 million and 7.3
million shares of its common stock during 2008 at an aggregate cost of $318.0 million. As of December 31, 2010, the total remaining common shares the
Company is authorized to repurchase under this program is 5.2 million. Excluded from these amounts are shares purchased in exchange for employee payroll
taxes on vesting of restricted stock awards as these purchases are not part of the program.
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Q. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
The following is a summary of unaudited quarterly results of operations (in thousands, except per share data) for the years ended December 31, 2010 and
2009. Due to rounding of quarterly results, total amounts for each year may differ immaterially from the annual results.

Operating revenues
Operating earnings
Earnings before income taxes
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net earnings
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations
Total basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations
Total diluted earnings per share

March 31,
2010
$
2,858,978
155,066
155,223
97,325
97,325
0.67
0.67
0.66
0.66

Operating revenues
Operating earnings
Earnings before income taxes
Income from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net earnings
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations
Total basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations
Total diluted earnings per share

March 31,
2009
$
3,532,895
63,325
61,061
38,108
6,060
44,168
0.26
0.04
0.30
0.26
0.04
0.30

(1)

$

$

Quarters Ended
June 30,
September 30,
2010 (1)
2010
2,868,141 $
2,835,781
5,230
291,943
3,242
292,222
1,021
189,945
1,021
189,945
0.01
1.30
0.01
1.30
0.01
1.29
0.01
1.29

December 31,
2010
$
3,025,016
237,046
235,846
150,326
150,326
1.02
1.02
1.01
1.01

Quarters Ended
June 30,
September 30,
2009
2009
3,498,374
$
3,444,110
102,459
152,762
112,579
150,077
67,708
100,439
(49,283)
(29,810)
18,425
70,629
0.46
0.68
(0.33)
(0.20)
0.13
0.48
0.46
0.68
(0.34)
(0.20)
0.12
0.48

December 31,
2009
$
3,428,147
183,406
180,838
109,080
109,080
0.75
0.75
0.74
0.74

As a result of the Louisiana appellate court’s decision on July 1, 2010 to affirm the state trial court’s summary judgment order, the company recorded a
$278 million pre-tax charge to earnings and a corresponding accrued liability during the quarter ended June 30, 2010. See Note L, Commitments and
Contingencies, to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

R. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION
Allen F. Wise, Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company, owns a majority interest in Health Risk Partners (“HRP”), an organization that has
entered into a written contract with the Company to provide various services relating to the Company’s Medicare line of business. The contract was
negotiated and entered into on an arms-length basis. Two other Directors of the Company own minority interests in HRP. Specifically, HRP provides
operational consulting, data processing, data reporting, and chart review/coding services, premium reconciliation, and hierarchical condition categories
(“HCC”) revenue compliance related to the Company’s Medicare business. For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Company incurred
expenses of approximately $15.4 million, $12.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively, to HRP for services rendered under the contract. At December 31,
2010 and 2009, the Company had accrued amounts to HRP of approximately $1.8 million and $4.6 million. These amounts are recognized within accounts
payable and other accrued liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
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Item 9: Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A: Controls and Procedures
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Coventry’s management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the U.S. Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended) is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that the Company’s receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of
compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.
Coventry’s management has performed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2010 based on criteria established by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”), Internal Controls – Integrated
Framework, and believes that the COSO framework is a suitable framework for such an evaluation. Management has concluded that the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2010.
The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the
independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010, and their
opinion is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We have performed an evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this report of the effectiveness of our “disclosure controls and procedures” (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer. Based upon our evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2010 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Changes to certain processes, information technology
systems and other components of internal control over financial reporting resulting from the acquisitions may occur and will be evaluated by management as
such integration activities are implemented.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Coventry Health Care, Inc.
We have audited Coventry Health Care, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Coventry Health
Care, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Coventry Health Care, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010,
based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Coventry Health Care, Inc.’s
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2010 of Coventry Health Care, Inc., and our report dated February 25, 2011 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
February 25, 2011
Item 9B: Other Information
None.
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PART III
Item 10: Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information set forth under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and “Corporate
Governance” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 19, 2011, which we intend to file within 120
days after our fiscal year-end, is incorporated herein by reference. As provided in General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K and Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of
Regulation S-K, information regarding executive officers of our Company is provided in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption,
“Executive Officers of our Company.”
Item 11: Executive Compensation
The information set forth under the caption “Executive Compensation” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be held on May 19, 2011, which we intend to file within 120 days after our fiscal year-end, is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12: Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information set forth under the captions “Voting Stock Ownership of Principal Stockholders, Directors and Executive Officers” in our definitive
Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 19, 2011, which we intend to file within 120 days after our fiscal year-end,
is incorporated herein by reference.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth certain information, as of December 31, 2010, concerning shares of common stock authorized for issuance under all of our
equity compensation plans.

Plan Category
Equity compensation plans
approved by stockholders
Equity compensation plans
not approved by
stockholders
Total

(a)

(b)

(c)

Number of securities to be issued upon
exercise of outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-Average exercise price
of outstanding options, warrants,
and rights

Number of securities remaining available for
future issuance under equity compensation
plans (excluding securities reflected in column
(a))

12,358,945(1) $

34.88(2)

5,699,255

-

-

-

12,358,945

-

5,699,255

(1)

Includes stock options and restricted stock units convertible into stock under the Company’s Amended and Restated 2004 Incentive Plan, which
was approved by the stockholders on May 21, 2009. Also includes stock options under the Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Incentive Plan,
which was approved by the stockholders on June 8, 2000. Restricted stock awards were issued on the date of grant and are not included.

(2)

Includes only outstanding stock options and stock units granted under the Amended and Restated 2004 Incentive Plan and the Amended and
Restated 1998 Stock Incentive Plan. Restricted stock awards were issued on the date of grant and are not included.

Item 13: Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information set forth under the captions “Transactions With Related Persons, Promoters and Certain Control Persons” and “Corporate Governance”
in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 19, 2011, which we intend to file within 120 days after our
fiscal year-end, is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 14: Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information set forth under the captions “Fees Paid to Independent Auditors” and “Procedures for Pre-approval of Independent Auditor Services” in
our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 19, 2011, which we intend to file within 120 days after our
fiscal year-end, is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15: Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) 1. Financial Statements
Form 10-K
Pages
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

47

Consolidated Balance Sheets, December 31, 2010 and 2009

48

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

49

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

50

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

51

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

52 – 77

2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule I, Condensed Financial Information of Parent Company
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
COVENTRY HEALTH CARE, INC.
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)
December 31,
2010
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Other receivables, net
Other current assets
Total current assets

$

Long-term investments
Property and equipment, net
Investment in subsidiaries
Other long-term assets
Total assets

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities

$

Long-term debt, net
Notes payable to subsidiary
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $.01 par value; 570,000 authorized
191,512 issued and 149,427 outstanding in 2010
190,462 issued and 147,990 outstanding in 2009
Treasury stock, at cost; 42,085 in 2010; 42,472 in 2009
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$

See accompanying notes to the condensed financial statements.
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814,811
61
4,510
27,429
846,811
30,125
2,766
5,187,346
91,852
6,158,900

273,868
273,868

December 31,
2009
$

$

$

344,025
195,071
6,597
35,556
581,249
28,830
4,226
4,914,948
81,117
5,610,370

200,547
200,547

1,599,396
65,000
21,470
1,959,734

1,599,026
69,235
29,008
1,897,816

1,915

1,905

(1,268,456)
1,784,826
41,081
3,639,800
4,199,166
6,158,900 $

(1,282,054)
1,750,113
41,406
3,201,184
3,712,554
5,610,370
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
COVENTRY HEALTH CARE, INC.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands)
For the years ended December 31,
2010
2009
2008
Revenues:
Management fees charged to operating subsidiaries

$ 208,453

$ 252,962

$ 192,359

170,524
939
82,590
254,053

214,733
2,208
88,250
305,191

133,008
1,034
104,811
238,853

629

8,456

8,139

(44,971)

(43,773)

(38,355)

16,239

16,415

14,076

Income (loss) before equity in net earnings of subsidiaries

(28,732)

(27,358)

(24,279)

Equity in net earnings of subsidiaries

467,348

269,659

406,174

$ 438,616

$ 242,301

$ 381,895

Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Total expenses
Investment and other income, net
Loss before income taxes and equity in net
earnings of subsidiaries
Benefit for income taxes

Net earnings

See accompanying notes to the condensed financial statements.
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
COVENTRY HEALTH CARE, INC.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
For the years ended December 31,
2010
2009
2008
$ (21,032) $ 114,403 $ (28,165)

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures, net
518
Proceeds from the sales and maturities of investments 196,052
Purchases of investments and other
--Capital contributions to subsidiaries
(142,271)
Dividends from subsidiaries
530,589
(Payments) / Proceeds for acquisitions, net
(102,356)
Net cash from investing activities
482,532
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of stock
Payments for repurchase of stock
Repayment of debt
Repayment of note to subsidiaries
Proceeds from issuance of debt
Excess tax benefit from stock compensation
Net cash from financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

275
308,742
(259,955)
(293,750)
635,137
10,197
400,646

(1,472)
147,764
(238,578)
(225,199)
639,050
(137,374)
184,191

15,484
1,224
7,233
(4,888)
(32,796) (323,137)
--(294,930) (423,872)
(4,235)
(28,728)
(12,307)
----668,409
2,925
604
387
9,286
(354,626)
(83,287)
470,786
160,423
72,739
344,025
183,602
110,863
$ 814,811 $ 344,025 $ 183,602

See accompanying notes to the condensed financial statements.
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COVENTRY HEALTH CARE, INC.
SCHEDULE I – PARENT COMPANY ONLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Coventry Health Care, Inc. (“Coventry” or the “Company”) parent company financial information has been derived from its consolidated financial
statements and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K. The accounting policies for the registrant
are the same as those described in Note A, Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. The accounts of all subsidiaries are excluded from the parent company financial information.
For information regarding the Company’s debt, commitments and contingencies and income taxes, refer to the respective notes to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
B. SUBSIDIARY TRANSACTIONS
Through intercompany service agreements approved, if required, by state regulatory authorities, our parent company charges a management fee for
reimbursement of certain centralized services provided to its subsidiaries.
The captions “Capital contributions to subsidiaries” and “Dividends from subsidiaries” on the condensed statements of cash flows include amounts from
our regulated and non-regulated subsidiaries. During 2010, 2009 and 2008 we received $319.4 million, $121.0 million and $332.1 million in dividends from
our regulated subsidiaries, respectively, and infused $11.5 million, $293.8 million and $225.2 million in capital contributions into our regulated subsidiaries,
respectively.
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3. Exhibits Required To Be Filed By Item 601 of Regulation S-K
Exhibit No.

Description of Exhibit

2.1

Membership Interest Purchase Agreement among Steven M. Scott, M.D., and Rebecca J. Scott, as tenants by the entirety, Rebecca J.
Scott FHPA Trust, Florida Health Plan Administrators, LLC and Coventry Health Care, Inc., dated as of July 6, 2007 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 12, 2007).

3.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Coventry Health Care, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Coventry's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006, filed on August 9, 2006).

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Coventry Health Care, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Coventry's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on March 10, 2009).

4.1

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Coventry's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2005, filed on March 9, 2006).

4.2

Indenture for the 2012 Notes, dated as of January 28, 2005, between Coventry Health Care, Inc., as Issuer, and Wachovia Bank,
National Association, a national banking association, as Trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Coventry’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on January 28, 2005).

4.3

Form of Note for the 2012 Notes issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of January 28, 2005, between Coventry Health Care, Inc., as
Issuer, and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on January 28, 2005).

4.4

Indenture for the 2015 Notes, dated as of January 28, 2005, between Coventry Health Care, Inc., as Issuer, and Wachovia Bank,
National Association, a national banking association, as Trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Coventry’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on January 28, 2005).

4.5

Form of Note for the 2015 Notes issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of January 28, 2005, between Coventry Health Care, Inc., as
Issuer, and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Coventry’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on January 28, 2005).

4.6

Registration Rights Agreement for the 2012 Notes, dated as of January 28, 2005, by and among Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Lehman
Brothers Inc., CIBC World Markets Corp., ABN AMRO Incorporated, Banc of America Securities LLC, Wachovia Securities, BNP
Paribas, BNY Capital Markets, Inc. and Piper Jaffray & Co. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Coventry’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on January 28, 2005).

4.7

Registration Rights Agreement for the 2015 Notes, dated as of January 28, 2005, by and among Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Lehman
Brothers Inc., CIBC World Markets Corp., ABN AMRO Incorporated, Banc of America Securities LLC, Wachovia Securities, BNP
Paribas, BNY Capital Markets, Inc. and Piper Jaffray & Co. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Coventry’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on January 28, 2005).

4.8

Indenture, dated as of March 20, 2007, between Coventry Health Care, Inc., as Issuer, and The Bank of New York, as Trustee
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 20, 2007).

4.9

Officers’ Certificate pursuant to the Indenture, dated March 20, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Coventry’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed March 20, 2007).

4.10

Global Note for the 2017 Notes, dated as of March 20, 2007, between Coventry Health Care, Inc., as Issuer, and The Bank of New
York, as Trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 20, 2007).

4.11

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 27, 2007, among Coventry Health Care, Inc., as Issuer, and Union Bank of California,
as Trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 27, 2007).

4.12

Officers’ Certificate pursuant to the Indenture, dated August 27, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Coventry’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed August 27, 2007).
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4.13

Global Note for the 2014 Notes, dated as of August 27, 2007, between Coventry Health Care, Inc., as Issuer, and Union Bank of
California, as Trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 20, 2007).

10.1

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated July 11, 2007, by and among Coventry Health Care, Inc., as borrower, with several
banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time parties thereto, Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, J.P. Morgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agent, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Lehman Brothers Commercial Bank, and The Royal Bank of
Scotland PLC, as Co-Documentation Agents, and Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., as Joint Lead
Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 17,
2007).

10.2

* Employment Agreement between Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Dale B. Wolf, dated as of December 19, 2007, effective January 1,
2008 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 20, 2007).

10.3

* Separation of Employment Agreement and General Release, dated May 4, 2009, by and between Dale B. Wolf and Coventry Health
Care, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 7, 2009).

10.4

* Employment Agreement between Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Shawn M. Guertin, dated as of December 19, 2007, effective January
1, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 20, 2007).

10.5

Separation and Consulting Agreement, dated November 16, 2009, by and between Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Shawn M. Guertin
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 20, 2009).

10.6

* Employment Agreement between Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Allen F. Wise, dated as of April 30, 2009, effective as of January 26,
2009 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 7, 2009).

10.7

* Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement between Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Allen F. Wise, executed as of June 16, 2010
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 17, 2010).

10.8

* Employment Agreement between Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Harvey C. DeMovick, dated as of May 17, 2009, effective as of
February 2, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Coventry’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 26, 2010, as
amended on March 12, 2010).

10.9

* Employment Agreement between Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Francis S. Soistman, dated as of December 19, 2007, effective
January 1, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 20, 2007).

10.10

* Employment Agreement between Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Thomas C. Zielinski, dated as of December 19, 2007, effective
January 1, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Coventry’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, filed
on February 28, 2008).

10.11

* Employment Agreement between Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Michael D. Bahr, dated May 18, 2010.

10.13

* Employment Agreement effective as of June 17, 1999, executed by James E. McGarry and Coventry Health Care, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1999, filed on August 16,
1999).

10.14

* Summary of Coventry Health Care, Inc. 2011 Executive Management Incentive Plan.

10.15

* 2011 Coventry Health Care, Inc. Executive Management Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Coventry’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2011).
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10.16

* 2006 Compensation Program for Non-Employee Directors, effective January 1, 2006 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 10, 2005).

10.17

* Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, effective January 1, 2006 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to
Coventry's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, filed on March 9, 2006).

10.18

* Summary of Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation.

10.19

* Coventry Health Care, Inc. Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Incentive Plan, amended as of June 5, 2003 (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.15 to Coventry's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, filed on March 10, 2004).

10.20

* Coventry Health Care, Inc. Amended and Restated 2004 Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Coventry's
Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 10, 2009).

10.21

* Form of Coventry Health Care, Inc. Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to Coventry's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, filed on March 16, 2005).

10.22

* Form of Amendment to Coventry Health Care, Inc. Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to Coventry's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, filed on November 8, 2006).

10.23

* Form of Restrictive Covenants Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
on October 2, 2008).

10.24

* Form of Coventry Health Care, Inc. non-performance based Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to Coventry’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009, filed on August 7, 2009).

10.25

* Form of Performance Share Units Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Coventry’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, filed on August 6, 2010).

10.26

* Form of performance-based Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Coventry’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, filed on August 6, 2010).

10.27

* 2006 Coventry Health Care, Inc. Mid-Term Executive Retention Program (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Coventry's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2006).

10.28

* Coventry Health Care, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2003, including the
First Amendment effective as of January 1, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to Coventry's Annual Report on Form 10K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, filed March 16, 2005).

10.29

* Second Amendment to the Coventry Health Care, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective
January 1, 2003, including the First Amendment effective as of January 1, 2004, effective May 18, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10 to Coventry's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005, filed August 9, 2005).

10.30

* Third Amendment to the Coventry Health Care, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (now known as “The Coventry Health
Care, Inc. 401(k) Restoration and Deferred Compensation Plan”), effective as of December 22, 2006 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.28.3 of Coventry’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, filed on February 28, 2007).

10.31

Settlement Agreement in the matter of Clark A. Gunderson, M.D., et al. vs. F. A. Richard & Associates, Inc., et al., filed on February 2,
2011 in the 14th Judicial District Court, Parish of Calcasieu, State of Louisiana, Suit Number: 2004-2417, Division: “D”.

12

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

14

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics initially adopted by the Board of Directors of Coventry on February 20, 2003, as amended on
March 3, 2005, November 1, 2006 and November 11, 2010 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on November 17, 2010).
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21

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

31.1

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, made by Allen
F. Wise, Chief Executive Officer and Director.

31.2

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, made by John
J. Stelben, Interim Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer.

32

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, made by Allen
F. Wise, Chief Executive Officer and Director, and John J. Stelben, Interim Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer.

Ü Indicates management compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized
COVENTRY HEALTH CARE, INC.
(Registrant)
Date:

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ Allen F. Wise
Allen F. Wise
Chief Executive Officer
and Director

Date:

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ John J. Stelben
John J. Stelben
Interim Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer

Date:

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ John J. Ruhlmann
John J. Ruhlmann
Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the date indicated.
Signature

Title (Principal Function)

Date

By: /s/ Allen F. Wise
Allen F. Wise

Chief Executive Officer and Director

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ Joel Ackerman
Joel Ackerman

Director

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ L. Dale Crandall
L. Dale Crandall

Director

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ Lawrence N. Kugelman
Lawrence N. Kugelman

Director

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ Daniel N. Mendelson
Daniel N. Mendelson

Director

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ Rodman W. Moorhead, III
Rodman W. Moorhead, III

Director

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ Michael A. Stocker, M.D.
Michael A. Stocker, M.D.

Director

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ Joseph R. Swedish
Joseph R. Swedish

Director

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ Elizabeth E. Tallett
Elizabeth E. Tallett

Director

February 25, 2011

By: /s/ Timothy T. Weglicki
Timothy T. Weglicki

Director

February 25, 2011
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Reg. S-K: Item 601
Exhibit No.

Description of Exhibit

10.11

Employment Agreement between Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Michael D. Bahr, dated May 18, 2010.

10.14

Summary of Coventry Health Care, Inc. 2011 Executive Management Incentive Plan.

10.18

Summary of Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation.

10.31

Settlement Agreement in the matter of Clark A. Gunderson, M.D., et al. vs. F. A. Richard & Associates, Inc., et al., filed on
February 2, 2011 in the 14th Judicial District Court, Parish of Calcasieu, State of Louisiana, Suit Number: 2004-2417, Division:
“D”.

12

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

21

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

31.1

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, made by
Allen F. Wise, Chief Executive Officer and Director.

31.2

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, made by
John J. Stelben, Interim Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer.

32

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, made by
Allen F. Wise, Chief Executive Officer and Director, and John J. Stelben, Interim Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer.

Note:

This index only lists the exhibits included in this Form 10-K. A complete list of exhibits can be found in “Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement
Schedules” of this Form 10-K.
92

Exhibit 10.11
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Employment Agreement (“Agreement”) is made the 18th day of May, 2010, by and between Coventry Health Care, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”) and Michael Dean Bahr (the “Executive”). For purposes of this Employment Agreement (“Agreement”), “Company” shall also
include all subsidiaries and affiliates of Coventry Health Care, Inc.
WHEREAS, the Employer employs the Executive pursuant to an Employment Agreement dated July 9, 2003, and the parties desire to amend the
terms of such employment as set forth herein;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises hereof and of the mutual promises and agreements contained in the Agreement, the parties
hereby agree as follows:
1.

TERM AND DUTIES

1.1
The term of the Executive’s employment will continue on a year-to-year basis until the Executive’s employment is terminated as outlined
in Section 4 herein.
1.2
The Executive shall continue to serve in the capacity of Executive Vice President, Commercial Business, and shall be responsible for the
establishment and implementation of policies and directives, formulation of long range plans, goals and objectives, effective management of employees, and
such other powers and duties normally associated with such position or as may be delegated or assigned to the Executive by the Chief Executive
Officer. Executive shall report to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) or other executive, at the discretion of the CEO. During the Initial Term or any
Renewal Term, the Executive shall serve, without additional compensation, in such other offices of the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates to which he
may be elected or appointed.
2.

COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS

2.1
The Company shall pay the Executive a base salary (“Base Salary”) of not less than Four Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($450,000) per
annum, subject to applicable withholdings. The Base Salary shall be payable in accordance with the customary payroll practices of the Company. The Base
Salary shall be reviewed annually and shall be subject to increase by the Chief Executive Officer from time to time.
2.2
The Executive shall be eligible for an annual bonus (“Bonus”) in accordance with the Company’s performance-based plan for the
purposes of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended (the “Code”), which is currently administered as the Company’s Executive
Management Incentive Plan. During the Initial Term, the Executive’s target annual bonus shall equal 75% of his base salary.

2.3
The Executive will continue to be entitled to participate in all employee benefit plans or programs and receive all benefits to which any
salaried employee is eligible under any existing or future plan or program for salaried employees, including, without limitation, all plans developed for
executive officers of the Company. These plans or programs may include group health care, dental care, vision care, life or other insurance, tax qualified
retirement, savings, thrift and profit sharing plans, sick leave plans, travel or accident insurance, disability insurance, and contingent compensation plans,
including capital accumulation programs, deferred compensation plans, restricted stock programs, stock purchase programs and stock option plans. Nothing in
this Agreement will preclude the Company from amending or terminating any of the plans or programs applicable to salaried employees or executive officers.
2.4

The Executive will continue to be eligible for four (4) weeks of annual paid vacation.

2.5
The Company will continue to reimburse the Executive for all reasonable travel and other expenses incurred by the Executive in
connection with the performance of his duties upon proper documentation in accordance with Company policies.
3.

DEATH AND DISABILITY COMPENSATION

3.1
In the event of the Executive’s death during Executive’s employment, the Agreement terminates and all payments under the Agreement
shall cease as of the date of death, except for the following benefits to be paid to the Executive’s beneficiaries:
(a)
any earned but unpaid Base Salary and a lump sum payment equal to the average annual bonus compensation of the two (2)
calendar years immediately preceding the year of death of Executive; and
(b)
for twelve (12) months following the date of the Executive’s death, the Company shall pay the cost of medical, dental, and
vision premiums as in effect at the date of the Executive’s death for Executive’s surviving spouse, subject to a formal election by the spouse;
(c)
the Executive’s designated beneficiary will be entitled to receive the proceeds of any life or other insurance or other death
benefit programs provided or referred to in this Agreement;
(d)

all unvested outstanding stock options will fully vest; and

(e)

all unvested restricted shares will vest in full.

3.2
Notwithstanding the short-term disability of the Executive, the Company will continue to pay the Executive pursuant to Section 2 hereof
during Executive’s employment, unless the Executive’s employment is earlier terminated in accordance with this Agreement. In the event the Executive
becomes disabled (as defined by the Company’s long-term disability plan), the Executive’s employment will be terminated and the Company will pay the
Executive the following:
(a)
any earned but unpaid Base Salary and a lump sum payment equal to the average annual bonus compensation of the two (2)
calendar years immediately preceding the year in which the Executive’s termination due to disability occurs;
(b)
for twelve (12) months following the date of the Executive’s termination due to disability, the cost of the Executive’s (or his
spouse’s in the event of Executive’s death during such period) medical, dental, and vision insurance premiums in effect at the date of the Executive’s
termination, subject to a formal election by the Executive;
(c)

all of the Executive’s unvested outstanding stock options will fully vest; and

(d)

all of the Executive’s unvested restricted shares will vest in full.

3.3
During the period the Executive is receiving payments following his disability and as long as he is physically and mentally able to do so,
the Executive will furnish information and assistance to the Company and from time to time will make himself available to the Company to undertake
assignments consistent with his position or prior position with the Company and his physical and mental health.
3.4
For purposes of this Agreement, the term “disabled” or “disability” will have the same meaning as is attributed to such term, or any
substantially similar term, in the Company’s long-term disability income plan in effect from time to time. The Company’s group long-term disability policy
in existence at the time of disability shall be considered to be a part of this Agreement.
4.

TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

4.1
The Company may terminate this Agreement with or without cause at any time during the Executive’s employment with thirty (30) days
prior written notice. However, except in the case of a two (2) year period following a Change in Control (hereinafter defined), if the Executive suffers a
Termination Without Cause (hereinafter defined) or a Constructive Termination (hereinafter defined), the Company will pay the Executive the following:
(a)
employment;

twelve (12) months of base pay in installments similar to those being received by Executive at the time of termination of

(b)
for twelve (12) months, the cost of the Executive’s medical, dental, and vision insurance in effect at the date of termination,
subject to a formal election by the Executive;
(c)

credit for twelve (12) months accelerated vesting of all outstanding unvested stock options and restricted shares.

4.2
If the Executive suffers a Termination Without Cause or Constructive Termination within two (2) years following a Change in Control,
the Company will pay to the Executive the following:
(a)
his then-current Base Salary paid through the date of termination plus a lump sum payment equal to his Base Salary and target
annual incentive bonus under the Company’s Executive Management Incentive Plan for the year in which the termination occurs;
(b)
for twelve (12) months, the cost of the Executive’s medical, dental, and vision insurance in effect at the date of termination,
subject to a formal election by the Executive;
(c)

all of the Executive’s unvested outstanding stock options and restricted stock shares will vest in full.

4.3
The Executive may terminate his employment hereunder at any time during the term of this Agreement with thirty (30) days prior written
notice. If the Executive suffers a Termination with Cause or the Executive terminates his employment with the Company not due to a Constructive
Termination, death or disability (as defined in Section 3.4) (a “Voluntary Termination”), then the Company will not be obligated to pay the Executive any
amounts of compensation or benefits following the date of termination, except earned but unpaid Base Salary through the date of termination. The stock
options and any other outstanding equity awards granted to the Executive shall be governed by the applicable award agreements and incentive plans.
4.4

For purposes of this Employment Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:

(a)
“Change in Control” shall occur if at any time, substantially all of the assets of the Company are sold or transferred by sale,
merger or otherwise, to an entity which is not a direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company, or if any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) or
14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) is or becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company
representing 35% or more of the combined voting power of the then existing outstanding securities of the Company.

(b)
“Constructive Termination” means termination by the Executive which follows (1) a reassignment of duties or responsibilities
that are not at least the equivalent of his then current position as set forth in Section 1.2, or an involuntary material reduction in the compensation and benefits
provided herein, (2) the intentional or material breach by the Company of this Agreement, or (3) a involuntary reassignment, after a Change of Control, to a
geographic location more than fifty (50) miles from the Executive’s primary office location. The Executive shall have a period of ninety (90) days after the
occurrence of a condition defined in 4.4(b) herein to notify the Company in writing that such condition constitutes grounds for a Constructive Termination,
after which the Company shall have thirty (30) days to cure the condition. If the Company fails to cure the condition within this thirty (30) day period, the
Executive’s subsequent voluntary resignation within ninety (90) days following the occurrence of the underlying condition shall constitute a Constructive
Termination. The Executive’s failure to resign within the ninety (90) day period shall be deemed to be an irrevocable waiver of the right to assert
Constructive Termination for such condition.
(c)
“Termination With Cause” means termination by the Company, acting in good faith, by written notice to the Executive
specifying the event relied upon for such termination, due to; (i) the Executive’s indictment or conviction of a felony, (ii) the Executive’s intentional
perpetration of a fraud, theft, embezzlement or other act of dishonesty, (iii) the Executive’s intentional breach of a trust or fiduciary duty which materially
adversely affects the Company or its shareholders, or (iv) the Executive violates or breaches his Restrictive Covenants.
(d)
Termination With Cause.

“Termination Without Cause” means termination by the Company other than due to the Executive’s death or disability or
5.

OTHER DUTIES OF THE EXECUTIVE

5.1
The Executive shall devote substantially all of his working time to the business of the Company during Executive’s employment and shall
not take, directly or indirectly, an active role in any other business without the prior written consent of the Company; but except as provided in Section 5.4,
this Section shall not prevent the Executive from serving as a director of other entities not affiliated with the Company, from making real estate or other
investments of a passive nature or from participating in the activities of a charitable organization where such participation does not adversely affect the
Executive’s ability to perform his duties under this Agreement.
5.2
The Executive will, upon reasonable notice, during Executive’s employment, furnish information as may be in his possession and
cooperate with the Company as may reasonably be requested in connection with any claims or legal actions in which the Company is or may become a
party. The Executive shall receive reasonable compensation for the time expended by him pursuant to this Section 5.2 after termination of employment
hereunder.

5.3
The Executive acknowledges that certain information pertaining to the business and operations of the Company, such as strategic plans,
product development, financial costs, pricing terms, sales data or new or developing business opportunities (“Confidential Information”) is confidential and is
a unique and valuable asset of the Company. Access to and knowledge of this Confidential Information are essential to the performance of the Executive’s
duties under this Agreement. The Executive will not during the term of this Agreement or following termination of his employment, except to the extent
reasonably necessary in the performance of his duties under this Agreement, give to any person, firm, association, corporation or governmental agency any
Confidential Information except as required by law. The Executive will not make use of this Confidential Information for his own purposes or for the benefit
of any person or organization other than the Company. The Executive will also use his best efforts to prevent the disclosure of this Confidential Information
by others. All records, memoranda, etc. relating to the business of the Company whether made by the Executive or otherwise coming into his possession will
remain the property of the Company.
5.4
The Executive will not Compete with the Company (as hereinafter defined) at any time while he is employed by the Company. Except
after a Change in Control or after non-renewal under Section 1.1, in the event of Termination Without Cause or Constructive Termination pursuant to Section
4.1, the Executive will not Compete with the Company for a period of one (1) year from the date of such termination. In the event of a termination after a
Change in Control that gives rise to payments to the Executive under Section 4.2, the Executive will not Compete with the Company for one (1) year from the
date of termination. In the event of a Voluntary Termination in which the Executive only receives payment as defined under Section 4.3, or which follows a
Company non-extension notice delivered pursuant to Section 1.1, there will be no restriction on the Executive’s right to Compete with the Company after the
date his employment terminates. For the purposes of this Section 5.4, the term “Compete with the Company” means action by the Executive, direct or indirect,
either as an officer, director, stockholder, owner, partner, employee or in any other capacity, resulting in the Executive having any legal or equitable
ownership or other financial or non-financial interest in or employment with, any HMO, managed care or health insurance business within a fifty (50) mile
radius of any location where the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company conducts such business at the date of a termination of the Executive’s
employment; provided, however, that the term “Compete with the Company” shall not include ownership (without any more extensive relationship) of a less
than a five percent (5%) interest in any publicly-held corporation or other business entity. The Executive acknowledges that the covenants contained herein
are reasonable as to geographic and temporal scope. The Executive acknowledges that his breach or threatened or attempted breach of any provision of this
Section 5.4 may cause irreparable harm to the Company not compensable in monetary damages and that the Company may be entitled, in addition to all other
applicable remedies, to a temporary and permanent injunction and a decree for specific performance of the terms of this Section 5.4.

5.5
The Executive agrees that, following his termination of employment, he shall not, in any communications with the press or other media or
in any communications with any potential or actual stockholder, lender, investor, customer, client or supplier of the Company of any of its affiliates, criticize,
ridicule or make any statement that disparages or is derogatory of the Company or any of its affiliates or any of their respective directors, officers or
employees. The foregoing will not apply to any non-public oral statements made by the Executive to the Company or to any of the Company’s representatives
or any compelled testimony or production, either by legal process, subpoena or otherwise; provided, however, in the event that the Executive is requested
pursuant to, or required by, applicable law, regulation, or legal process to testify or otherwise respond to a request for information from any governmental
authority, the Executive will notify the Company promptly (to the extent allowed by any such law, regulation or legal process) so that the Company may seek
a protective order or other appropriate remedy.
5.6
The Executive agrees that for a period of one (1) year following the Employee’s termination of employment (whether voluntary or
involuntary), he shall not, directly or indirectly, personally or as an employee, officer, director, partner, member, owner or consultant, induce, select, recruit or
hire any employee of the Company or otherwise interfere with the employment relationship of any person employed by the Company.
6.

INDEMNIFICATION OF EXECUTIVE

The Company shall indemnify the Executive and shall reimburse the Executive’s expenses under the circumstances described, and to the maximum extent
provided under the mandatory and the permissive indemnification and expense reimbursement provisions of Delaware law. The provisions of this Section 7.1
shall continue in full force and effect after Executive ceases to serve as an officer, director, employee or in any other capacity with the Company or any of its
affiliates and shall inure to the benefit of his heirs, executors or administrators.
7.

MISCELLANEOUS

7.1
This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the Company and the Executive with respect to the subject matter and
supersedes any prior employment or severance agreements between the Company and its affiliates and the Executive.
7.2
This Agreement may not be modified or amended except in writing signed by the parties. No term or condition of this Agreement will be
deemed to have been waived except in writing by the party charged with waiver. A waiver shall operate only as to a specific term or condition waived and
will not constitute a waiver for the future or act on anything other than that which is specifically waived.
7.3

Any payments to be made by the Company to the Executive hereunder shall be made less any applicable tax withholdings.

7.4
This Agreement shall be deemed to conform to all requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and all
requirements of the Code, including but not limited to Sections 280G and 409A of the Code. It is intended that (i) each payment or installment of payments
provided under this Agreement is a separate “payment” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code and (ii) that the payments satisfy, to the greatest extent
possible, the exemptions from the application of Section 409A of the Code, including those provided under Treasury Regulations 1.409A-1(b)(4) (regarding
short-term deferrals), 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii) (regarding the two-times, two year exception), and 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v) (regarding reimbursements and other
separation pay). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Company determines (i) that on the date of the Executive’s “separation
from service” (as such term is defined under Treasury Regulation 1.409A-1(h)) or at such other time that the Company determines to be relevant, the
Executive is a “specified employee” (as such term is defined under Treasury Regulation 1.409A-1(i)(1)) of the Company and (ii) that any payments to be
provided to the Executive pursuant to this Agreement are or may become subject to the additional tax under Section 409A(a)(1)(B) of the Code or any other
taxes or penalties imposed under Section 409A of the Code (the “Section 409A Taxes”) if provided at the time otherwise required under this Agreement, then
such payments shall be delayed until the date that is six (6) months after the date of the Executive’s separation from service with the Company, or such shorter
period that, as determined by the Company, is sufficient to avoid the imposition of Section 409A Taxes. Any payments delayed pursuant to this Section 7.3
shall be made in a lump sum on the first day of the seventh month following the Executive’s separation from service, or such earlier date that, as determined
by the Company, is sufficient to avoid the imposition of any Section 409A Taxes.
7.5
Should any part of this Agreement be declared invalid for any reason, such invalidity shall not affect the validity of any remaining portion
hereof and such remaining portion shall continue in full force and effect as if this Agreement had been originally executed without including the invalid
part. Should any covenant of this Agreement be unenforceable because of its geographic scope or term, its geographic scope or term shall be modified to such
extent as may be necessary to render such covenant enforceable.
7.6

Titles and captions in no way define, limit, extend or describe the scope of this Agreement nor the intent of any provision thereof.

7.7
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.
7.8
This Agreement has been executed and delivered in the State of Maryland and its validity, interpretation, performance and enforcement
shall be governed by the laws of that state. Any dispute among the parties hereto shall be settled by arbitration in Bethesda, Maryland, in accordance with the
rules then obtaining of the American Arbitration Association and judgment upon the award rendered may be entered in any court having jurisdiction
thereof. All provisions hereof are for the protection and are intended to be for the benefit of the parties hereto and enforceable directly by each party. Each
party hereto agrees that the remedy at law of the other party for any actual or threatened breach of this Employment Agreement would be inadequate and that
the other party shall be entitled to specific performance hereof or injunctive relief or both, by temporary or permanent injunction or such other appropriate
judicial remedy, writ or orders as may be decided by a court of competent jurisdiction in addition to any damages which the complaining party may be legally
entitled to recover.

7.9
All notices, requests, consents and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been made when
delivered or mailed first-class postage prepaid by registered mail, return receipt requested, or when delivered if by hand, overnight delivery service or
confirmed facsimile transmission to the following:
(i)
If to the Company, at 6705 Rockledge Drive, Suite 900, Bethesda, Maryland, 20817, Attention: Chairman of the
Compensation Committee, or at such other address as may have been furnished to the Executive by the Company in writing; or
(ii)
If to the Executive, at 6705 Rockledge Drive, Suite 900, Bethesda, Maryland, 20817, or to the Executive’s primary home
address on record with the company, or such other address as may have been furnished to the Company by the Executive in writing.
7.10

This Agreement shall be binding on the parties’ successors, heirs and assigns.

7.11
The terms of this Agreement were developed consistent with current applicable tax laws and regulations. In the event there are any future
changes to these laws and regulations affecting the terms of this Agreement and, as a result, either party hereunder is adversely impacted, both parties agree to
cooperate to protect the current interests of each to the maximum extent possible.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
EXECUTIVE:
By:

COVENTRY HEALTH CARE, INC:
/s/ Michael Dean Bahr
Michael Dean Bahr

/s/ Allen F. Wise
Allen F. Wise
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 10.14
COVENTRY HEALTH CARE, INC. (“COVENTRY”)
Summary of 2011 Executive Management Incentive Plan
2011 Criteria and Incentives
On January 18, 2011, the Compensation Committee of Coventry’s Board of Directors approved the 2011 Executive Management Incentive Plan (“2011
EMIP”), incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Coventry’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2011, containing incentive criteria
for fiscal year 2011. Incentives triggering the bonus pool under the 2011 EMIP will be predicated on the attainment of the following three performance
measurements: earnings per share, selling, general and administrative costs, and revenue. Coventry’s Chief Executive Officer, Interim Chief Financial
Officer, and the three other most highly compensated officers (the “Named Executive Officers”) are eligible to receive a non-equity incentive award under
Coventry’s 2011 EMIP. The Named Executive Officers’ bonus target awards for achievement of the foregoing performance measurements in fiscal year 2011
are set forth below:
Named Executive Officers
Allen F. Wise, Chief Executive Officer
Michael D. Bahr
Harvey C. DeMovick, Jr., Executive Vice President
Thomas C. Zielinski, Executive Vice President and General Counsel
John J. Stelben, Interim Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President and Treasurer
* As a percentage of base compensation.

Bonus Target
Awards for
2011*
300%
100%
75%
75%
70%

Exhibit 10.18
Coventry Health Care, Inc. (“Coventry”)
Summary of Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation
The following table summarizes the components and amounts of the compensation to be paid to eligible non-employee directors for their services in 2011
under the Compensation Program for Non-Employee Directors (the “Program”).
Compensation Components
Annual Compensation for Attendance at Regular Board Meetings1
(paid/vested/deferred quarterly in arrears in accordance with the
Plan and includes compensation for five regularly scheduled
Board meetings)
Annual Committee Chair Retainer
(Paid annually in arrears)

Attendance at In-Person Special Meeting

Participation in a Special Telephonic Meeting

Reimbursement of Reasonable Travel Expenses
New Director Stock Option Grant
Health and Basic Life Insurance Coverage

Board or Committee

Compensation

Board

$

Chair of Board
Lead Director
Chair of Audit Committee
Chair of Comp Committee
Chair of N/CG Committee
Board
Audit Committee
Comp Committee
N/CG Committee
Board
Audit Committee
Comp Committee
N/CG Committee
All Directors
New Director

$

225,000

125,0002
25,000
15,000
10,000
10,000
$
3,000
3,000
3,000
3,000
$
1,000
1,000
1,000
1,000
Actual Costs
10,000 options to acquire shares which vest in equal
amounts over four years

All Non-employee Directors
(voluntary participation)

Subject to the terms of the Program, non-employee directors may elect the form and the timing of their compensation on an individual basis as
summarized in the table below. All elections of the form of payment must be made in multiples of 25%. Payment in the form of cash is limited to 50% of the
total annual compensation (i.e., $112,500), unless a waiver is approved by the Chairman of the Compensation Committee. The table below summarizes the
forms of compensation each individual non-employee director may select as well as certain material terms related to those forms of compensation.

1

Any non-employee directors who become eligible to participate in the Plan after January 1st will receive a pro rata portion of the Annual Compensation.

Annual retainer established for the Chairman of the Board. Allen F. Wise, our Chairman of the Board, became our Chief Executive Officer effective January
30, 2009. In light of this, he will receive no compensation in 2011 for his services as a director. See the Executive Compensation Summary for Mr. Wise’s
compensation as Chief Executive Officer of our Company.
2

3

Payment
“Form” 3

Maximum
Allocation

Payment
“Current”

Payment
“Deferred”

Vesting

Cash

50%4

Paid at the end of each quarter

Credited at the end of each quarter5

None

Restricted Stock/
Stock Units

100%

Granted at beginning of year

Stock Units deferred until termination of service or
unforeseeable emergency

Quarterly over the year of
service

Stock Options

100%

Granted at beginning of year

Exercisable when vested and subject to a 10 year term

Quarterly over the year of
service

The value of stock options, restricted stock awards and stock units are determined in accordance with ASC Topic 718.

4

Percentage limit may be waived with the approval of the Chairman of the Compensation Committee.

5

Deferred cash will be credited quarterly with interest based on the Company’s borrowing rate set at the beginning of each year (the 2010 rate
is approximately 0.80%).
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14th JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
PARISH OF CALCASIEU
STATE OF LOUISIANA
CLARK A. GUNDERSON, M.D., ET AL.

SUIT NUMBER: 2004-2417

VERSUS

DIVISION: “D”

F.A. RICHARD & ASSOCIATES, INC., ET AL.
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
This Settlement Agreement is made and entered into, on the dates indicated below, by and between the Plaintiffs’ Steering Committee, individually and on
behalf of the Class and the Plaintiffs, appearing through Thomas A. Filo, Arthur M. Murray, and John S. Bradford, Clark A. Gunderson, M.D. (A Medical
Corporation), Beutler-England Chiropractic Clinic, Frank W. Lopez, M.D. (A Professional Medical Corporation), Southwest Louisiana Hospital Association
d/b/a Lake Charles Memorial Hospital, West Calcasieu Cameron Hospital Service District, Advanced Rehab Services, Inc., and First Health Group Corp.
(“First Health”), appearing both through its undersigned representative and its counsel of record. This Settlement Agreement sets forth the terms, conditions,
and provisions of a settlement of all Liability; it shall be Exhibit A attached to and made part of the Joint Motion for Preliminary Approval of Proposed
Settlement to be filed in the Class Action; and it is subject to the recitals, definitions, terms, and conditions set forth herein.
1.

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS OF GENERAL APPLICATION

Unless otherwise expressly stated herein, the following terms, as capitalized and used in this Settlement Agreement, shall have the following
meanings and definitions:
-1-

1.1
The term “Affiliates” when used in connection with First Health shall mean First Health and/or Coventry Health Care, Inc. (“Coventry”)
and/or FOCUS Healthcare Management, Inc. (“Focus”) and/or CCN, Inc. and/or HealthNet Plus Managed Care Services, Inc. and/or Concentra, Inc. and/or
MetraComp, Inc., together with each of their respective predecessors, successors, assignors, assignees, subsidiaries, parents, affiliated entities, acquired
entities, officers, directors, employees, agents, legal representatives, partnerships, joint ventures, attorneys, owners, and/or shareholders. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, any and all Insurers are excluded from the definition of the term “Affiliate” to the extent of their obligations of defense or indemnity under policies
of liability insurance as they pertain to the claims asserted in the matter bearing number 2004-2417 on the docket of the 14th Judicial District Court, State of
Louisiana and the Related Proceedings only.
1.2
The term “Affiliates” when used in connection with the terms “Class Member” or “Class Members” shall mean and include their
respective predecessors, successors, assignors, assignees, subsidiaries, parents, affiliated entities, acquired entities, officers, insurer, directors, employees,
agents, legal representatives, partnerships, joint ventures, attorneys, owners, and/or shareholders.
1.3
The term “Agreement” shall mean and include this Settlement Agreement, all exhibits and attachments to this Settlement Agreement, and
all judgments or orders of the Court approving or incorporating this Settlement Agreement.
1.4
The term “Class Action” shall mean and refer to “Clark A. Gunderson, M.D., et al. v. F.A. Richard & Associates, Inc., et al.,” Suit No.
2004-2417, Div. “D,” on the docket of the 14th Judicial District Court in and for the Parish of Calcasieu, Louisiana.
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1.5

The term “Class” shall mean the persons and/or entities included in the Class Definition.

1.6

The term “Class Definition” or “Class as Defined” shall mean and refer to the following:

“Any and all Providers in Louisiana from January 1, 2000 through the Effective Date.”
In the event the Court should alter or modify the above class definition, and such amended class definition is accepted in writing by the PSC and First Health,
such amended class definition shall be considered the “Class Definition” or “Class as Defined” under this Settlement Agreement, and all references to “Class
Definition” or “Class as Defined” in this Settlement Agreement shall mean and refer to such accepted amended class definition.
1.7
The terms “Class Members” or “Class Member” shall mean and refer to those persons and/or entities who or which are included within
the Class Definition and do not timely opt out. The terms “Class Members” or “Class Member” shall not include the Opt-Out Parties.
1.8
The term “Class Representatives” shall mean and refer to Clark A. Gunderson, M.D. (A Medical Corporation); Beutler-England
Chiropractic Clinic; Frank W. Lopez, M.D. (A Professional Medical Corporation); Southwest Louisiana Hospital Association d/b/a Lake Charles Memorial
Hospital; West Calcasieu Cameron Hospital Service District; and Advanced Rehab Services, Inc.
1.9
The term “Class Settlement Fund” shall mean and refer to the total amount of settlement funds deposited in the Escrow Account pursuant
to Section 10.1(a), together with all interest earned or accrued thereon, and less (a) the charges, expenses, etc., specified in the Escrow Agreement, and (b) the
reserves, if any, established in furtherance of this Settlement Agreement.
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1.10
The term “Class Settlement Notice” shall mean and refer to the legal notice of the terms of the settlement embodied in this Settlement
Agreement which is to be provided in accordance with the order of the Court, articles 591, et seq. of the Louisiana Code of Civil Procedure, and the terms of
this Settlement Agreement.
1.11
The term “Court” shall mean and refer to the 14th Judicial District Court in and for the Parish of Calcasieu, Louisiana, and the Honorable
Robert L. Wyatt, or his successor.
1.12
The terms “Court Appointed Disbursing Agent” or “CADA” shall mean and refer to the accounting firm to be appointed by the Court,
after consideration of the recommendations of the PSC and First Health. The accounting firm of Bourgeois Bennett, LLC, CPAs, shall be proposed for use as
the CADA.
1.13
The term “Effective Date” shall mean and refer to the first business day following the date that the Final Order and Judgment becomes
Final and non-appealable, or such other date as may be agreed to in writing by the PSC and First Health.
1.14
The term “Episode” shall mean and refer to and include each and every event, circumstance, and/or situation upon which allegations have
been made or could have been made relating in any way to repricing, payment for, or reimbursement of a Provider’s bill for medical services or supplies
furnished to a workers’ compensation patient from the beginning of time through the Effective Date of the Settlement, and including but not limited to, claims
that discounts under provider contracts or the manner or absence of notice of discounts violated Louisiana workers’ compensation laws or regulations or any
provisions of the Louisiana Any Willing Provider Act, including La. R.S. 40:2203.1, and/or the Louisiana Workers’ Compensation Law, La. R.S. 23:1021, et
seq., and/or that these discounts were not applied appropriately, that notice or payment was insufficient, inadequate, improper, or untimely, or that
reimbursement amounts for Provider charges were computed incorrectly, provided that the bill was discounted, paid, priced, repriced, reviewed, negotiated,
audited or otherwise adjusted by or through First Health or any of its Affiliates, or any contractor or leased network performing such services pursuant to an
agreement with First Health or its Affiliates.
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1.15
The term “Escrow Account” shall mean and refer to the interest-bearing escrow account to be established and administered in accordance
with the Settlement Agreement and the Escrow Agreement. All interest accrued in the Escrow Account, from the date of deposit of settlement funds, shall be
distributed pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement.
1.16
The term “Escrow Agent” shall mean and refer to the escrow agent under the Escrow Agreement to be appointed by the Court, after
consideration of the recommendations of the PSC and First Health. First NBC Bank, New Orleans, Louisiana, shall be proposed for use as the Escrow Agent.
1.17

The term “Escrow Agreement” shall mean and refer to an agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 1.

1.18
The term “Final” shall mean that: (a) the Court shall approve the Settlement Agreement in all respects and enter a Final Order and
Judgment, and (b) either no timely appeals, writs, petitions, lawsuits, or requests for court review or extraordinary relief have been taken within seventy (70)
days from or with respect to such Final Order and Judgment, or if any such appeal, writ, petition, lawsuit, or request for court review or extraordinary relief
has been taken from or with respect to the Final Order and Judgment, and that Final Order and Judgment has been affirmed without revision and there is no
further right to appeal, petition, bring a writ or lawsuit or request court review or extraordinary relief from or with respect to such judgment, order, ruling, or
decision, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by both Thomas A. Filo, on behalf of the PSC, and Perry R. Staub, Jr., on behalf of First Health (such
agreement not to be unreasonably withheld).
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1.19

The term “Final Order and Judgment” shall mean and refer to the order and judgment to be entered by the Court pursuant to Section 8.2

1.20

The term “First Health” shall mean First Health Group Corp.

below.

1.21
The term “Insurer” shall mean and refer to those persons or entities who owe First Health obligations of defense or indemnity under
policies of liability insurance for the claims asserted in the matter bearing number 2004-2417 on the docket of the 14th Judicial District Court, State of
Louisiana and the Related Proceedings.
1.22
The term “Liability” shall mean and refer to all claims against and/or potential liabilities of the Released Parties of whatever nature
arising out of, related to, or connected in any way with any and all Episodes, regardless of whether the claims, liabilities, and/or resulting damages are not yet
known or manifested or whether such claims, liabilities, and/or resulting damages are known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, including but not limited to
the Released Party’s liability for contribution, indemnification, contractual liability, statutory violation and/or tort, to any other person or entity.
1.23

The term “Notice Plan” shall mean and refer to the plan for disseminating the Class Settlement Notice.

1.24
The terms “Opt-Out Parties” or “Opt-Out Party” shall mean and refer to those persons and/or entities who or which are included within
the Class Definition but timely opt out of the Class pursuant to the procedures specified by the Court. Unless otherwise ordered by the Court, to opt out of the
Class, a putative Class Member must take timely affirmative written action pursuant to Section 6.1 and the procedure to be approved by the Court, even if the
putative Class Member desiring to opt out of the Class (a) files or has filed a separate action against any of the Released Parties, or (b) is, or becomes, a
putative class member in any other class action filed against any of the Released Parties.
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1.25

The term “Opt-Out Reserve” shall mean and refer to the reserve that may be set aside within the Escrow Account pursuant to Sections 6.3

1.26

The term “Order of Preliminary Approval” shall mean and refer to the order to be entered by the Court pursuant to Section 7.1.

1.27

The terms “Parties” or “Party” as referring to this Settlement Agreement shall mean and refer to First Health, the Class, the PSC, and the

1.28

The terms “Plaintiffs” or “Plaintiff” shall mean and refer to the named plaintiffs and Class Representatives in the Class Action.

1.29

The terms “Plaintiffs’ Steering Committee” or “PSC” shall mean and refer to the following attorneys appointed by the Court:

– 6.5.

Plaintiffs.

Thomas A. Filo, Chairman and Liaison Counsel
Stephen B. Murray
Arthur M. Murray
Stephen B. Murray, Jr.
John S. Bradford
William B. Monk
Michael K. Cox
1.30
40:2202(5).
1.31

The terms “Preferred Provider Organization” and “PPO” shall mean and refer to preferred provider organization as defined in La. R.S.
The term “Provider” shall mean and refer to any provider as defined in La. R.S. 40:2202(6) and/or La. R.S. 23:1021(6).

1.32
The term “Related Proceedings” shall mean and refer to all proceedings brought by any Class Member or any of its Affiliates against any
of the Released Parties, other than the Class Action, whether in the Office of Workers’ Compensation courts, state court, federal court, or any arbitral forum in
which any claims and/or defenses related to any Episode have been asserted that have led to, or could lead to, Liability on the part of the Released Parties.
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1.33
The terms “Released Parties” or “Released Party” shall mean and refer to First Health and all Affiliates thereof and all of their respective
payors, clients, sub-clients, contractors and leased networks, any entity or person who purported to access a discount under a Provider contract with or through
First Health or its Affiliates, and any entity or person who purportedly paid or underpaid an invoice for medical services provided to injured workers that had
been discounted, paid, priced, repriced, reviewed, negotiated, audited or otherwise adjusted by or through First Health, its Affiliates, or any contractor or
leased network performing such services pursuant to an agreement with First Health or its Affiliates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any and all Insurers are
excluded from the definition of the term “Released Party” to the extent of their obligations of defense or indemnity under policies of liability insurance as they
pertain to the claims asserted in the matter bearing number 2004-2417 on the docket of the 14th Judicial District Court, State of Louisiana and the Related
Proceedings only.
1.34
The term “Settlement Agreement” shall mean and refer to this agreement, together with all of its exhibits and attachments, and any
properly perfected amendments.
1.35
The term “Special Master” shall mean and refer to that person appointed, or to be appointed, by the Court, with the consent of counsel for
the Parties, pursuant to La. R.S. 13:4165, to assist the Court, in cooperation and coordination with the PSC, with the management of the Class Action. Patrick
A. Juneau shall be proposed as the Special Master.
1.36

The term “Stay Order” shall mean and refer to the order to be entered pursuant to Section 5.2 below.
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2.

NATURE AND STATUS OF THE CLASS ACTION AND RELATED PROCEEDINGS

2.1
related to Episodes.
2.2

Stated generally, the Class Action and Related Proceedings involve, among other claims, claims for injuries and/or damages allegedly
Stated generally, the Plaintiffs and the Class allege (and First Health denies) that such damages are the responsibility of First Health.

2.3
The claims involved in the Class Action and Related Proceedings have been substantially litigated and/or are substantially understood,
such that the Parties are in a reasonable position to assess the merits and weaknesses of their respective claims and defenses.
2.4
3.

Substantial time and effort has been expended by the Parties and their counsel in negotiating this Settlement Agreement.

BASIS FOR THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT

3.1
As a result of the extensive litigation to date, the Plaintiffs and First Health entered into negotiations to settle the Class Action and
Related Proceedings regarding the Liability of the Released Parties, taking into account the following considerations: (a) the merits of the complaints or the
lack thereof covered by the Settlement Agreement; (b) the relative strengths and weaknesses of the Plaintiffs’ claims; (c) the time, expense and effort
necessary to maintain the Class Action and/or Related Proceedings to conclusion; (d) the possibilities of success weighed against the possibilities of loss; (e)
the range of final judgment values; (f) the legal complexities of the contested issues in the Class Action and Related Proceedings; (g) the risks inherent in
protracted litigation; (h) the magnitude of benefits to be gained from immediate settlement in light of both the maximum potential of a favorable outcome with
the attendant expense and likelihood of an unfavorable outcome; and (i) the fairness of benefits to or from an immediate settlement under all of the foregoing
considerations.
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4.

GENERAL PROVISIONS AND PURPOSES OF THIS SETTLEMENT

4.1
The Parties have reached agreement on the terms of a settlement of claims in the Class Action and Related Proceedings, through the
establishment of a conditional settlement class to afford a procedural vehicle by which all potential Liability of Released Parties to Class Members may finally
be concluded and settled. The Parties agree that proceeding in this manner is in their best interests and also shall contribute to judicial efficiency.
4.2
In entering into this Settlement Agreement, each Party hereto has taken into account the uncertainties, delays, expenses and exigencies of
the litigation process, including the extensive depositions, document production, and other discovery taken to date in the Class Action and Related
Proceedings. The Released Parties have each denied, and continue to deny, any liability, wrongdoing or responsibility for the claims asserted in the Class
Action and Related Proceedings and believe that any and all claims for Liability are without merit.
4.3
The Parties hereto have evaluated the claims related to Liability asserted against the Released Parties, considering the nature and extent of
the alleged injury and the alleged liability of the Released Parties.
4.4
First Health is willing to enter into this Settlement Agreement so that all of the Released Parties will thereby be relieved and discharged
from all Liability to all Class Members. In view of the present procedural status of the Class Action and Related Proceedings, the Parties recognize the
necessity for a procedural means by which any negotiated settlement of all potential Liability asserted against the Released Parties may finally be resolved. It
is expressly the intention of this Settlement Agreement that no claims whatsoever by Class Members or any of their Affiliates against the Released Parties
arising out of an Episode will survive the approval of this Settlement Agreement.
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4.5
The Parties agree that immediate payment to the proposed settlement fund and the management thereof pursuant to the Escrow
Agreement and under the supervision of the Court would more likely result in greater benefit to the Released Parties and the Class Members than would
continued prosecution of the Class Action and Related Proceedings. Accordingly, a class certified for settlement purposes in the Class Action meets the
standards of articles 591, et seq. of the Louisiana Code of Civil Procedure so as to permit conditional certification of a settlement class. Accordingly, as more
fully described in Section 7 below, the Parties will submit this Settlement Agreement to the Court via a Joint Motion for Preliminary Approval of Proposed
Settlement and will marshal and present at any hearing thereon evidence to support the motion.
4.6
The PSC is entering into this Settlement Agreement on behalf of each of the Class Members and the Plaintiffs to terminate and settle all
potential Liability of the Released Parties in recognition of (a) the existence of complex and contested issues of law and fact, (b) the risk, difficulty, and
uncertainty of success associated with pursuing the claims asserted in this action, (c) the comparative degree of the alleged liability or culpability of the
Released Parties, (d) the risks inherent in litigation, (e) the likelihood that future proceedings will be unduly protracted and expensive if these matters are not
settled by voluntary agreement with the Parties, (f) the magnitude of the benefits derived from the contemplated settlement in light of both the maximum
potential and likely range of recovery to be obtained through further litigation and the expense thereof and the exposure associated therewith, and (g) the
determination by the Plaintiffs and their counsel that the settlement is fair, reasonable, adequate, and in the best interests of, and will substantially benefit, the
members of the Class.
4.7
First Health enters into this Settlement Agreement, notwithstanding its continuing denial of liability for alleged injuries and/or
compensatory damages and/or statutory damages allegedly related to Liability, and notwithstanding its denials concerning causation of any alleged injuries
and/or damages, to terminate the Class Action and Related Proceedings insofar as affecting the Released Parties, and to finally resolve all potential Liability,
and to avoid further litigation, without any admission on the part of the Released Parties of any liability or fault whatsoever.
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4.8

It is the intention and a condition of this Settlement Agreement, and the Parties agree, that the Class reserves all rights against any and all

Insurers.
4.9
It is the intention and a condition of this Settlement Agreement, and the Parties agree, that as of the Effective Date, this settlement shall
fully, completely, finally, and conclusively settle, compromise, and release all Liability of the Released Parties to Class Members and their
Affiliates. Without limiting the foregoing, it is also the intention and a condition of this Settlement Agreement, and the Parties hereto agree, that upon the
Effective Date, (a) the Released Parties shall be finally released from all Liability, by, through, or on behalf of each of the Class Members and their Affiliates,
(b) the Class Action shall be dismissed as to First Health, with prejudice and with each party to bear its own costs through dismissal, (c) the Released Parties
shall be dismissed with prejudice from all Related Proceedings and with each party to bear its own costs, including costs paid through dismissal, (d) each of
the Class Members and their Affiliates shall be forever barred and enjoined from instituting, maintaining, or prosecuting any action against the Released
Parties with respect to the Released Parties’ respective Liability, and (e) that as against any of the Released Parties, the exclusive remedy of all Class
Members and their Affiliates with respect to any Liability shall be claims against the Class Settlement Fund as described in the Settlement
Agreement. Nothing in this paragraph is intended to limit the intention, condition and agreement set forth in Section 4.8.
- 12 -

4.10
It is the intention and a condition of this Settlement Agreement that the Final Order and Judgment be entered and become Final. The
Parties agree to take all actions reasonably necessary and appropriate to fulfill and satisfy this intention and condition.
4.11
Without limiting the foregoing, it is the intention and a condition of this Settlement Agreement, and the Parties agree, that no Class
Member or Class Member’s Affiliate shall recover, directly or indirectly, any sums for Liability, from any Released Party other than those received from the
Escrow Account (or a subaccount thereof) under the terms of this Settlement Agreement. Nothing in this paragraph is intended to limit the intention,
condition and agreement set forth in Section 4.8.
4.12
Without limiting the foregoing, it is the intention and a condition of this Settlement Agreement, and the Parties agree, that each of the
Class Members and their Affiliates shall not attempt to execute or to collect any judgment or any portion of any judgment if such execution or collection
could create liability of any Released Party in connection with any Episode, whether through contribution, indemnity or otherwise.
4.13
Without limiting the foregoing, it is the intention and a condition of this Settlement Agreement, and the Parties agree, that each of the
Class Members and their Affiliates shall reduce, remit or satisfy any judgment, based, in whole or in part, on Liability of any Released Party that any Class
Member and/or Class Member’s Affiliate has obtained or may obtain to the extent necessary to extinguish any claims against any Released Party, including
but not limited to claims against any Released Party for contribution, indemnity, subrogation, breach of contract, statutory violation, and/or tort.
4.14
Without limiting the foregoing, it is the intention and a condition of this Settlement Agreement, and the Parties agree, that the
commencement and prosecution of any and all claims of the Class as a whole and/or the Class Members and/or their Affiliates individually against the
Released Parties (including, without limitation, subrogation claims derived from or through the Class, Class Members or their Affiliates) related to Liability
(including, without limitation, all of the claims of the Class set forth in the Class Action and/or Related Proceedings involving the Released Parties, to the
extent based upon their respective Liability) be immediately enjoined and stayed during the pendency of the settlement proceedings referred to herein and that
they be permanently barred and enjoined and dismissed with prejudice on the Effective Date of the Final Order and Judgment. The Parties agree to use their
best efforts to fulfill and satisfy this intention and condition.
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4.15
Without limiting the foregoing, it is the intention and a condition of this Settlement Agreement, and the Parties agree, that the Parties shall use their
best efforts to (a) obtain the Stay Order as part of the Court’s Order of Preliminary Approval, (b) ensure that the Stay Order is maintained during the pendency
of the settlement proceedings, and (c) obtain the dismissal with prejudice of any Released Party from any Related Proceeding upon the Effective Date.
4.16
It is the intention and a condition of this Settlement Agreement that any attempt by a Class Member or its Affiliate to collect or seek additional
reimbursement from a Released Party for any Episode will constitute a violation of this Settlement Agreement; the Class Members and their Affiliates agree
to the immediate dismissal of any such current or future action brought in any forum and further agree that all such actions are subject to involuntary dismissal
based upon the terms of this Settlement Agreement.
4.17
Anything in this Settlement Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, First Health or any of its Affiliates shall have the unilateral right, in their
sole discretion, to waive, in writing, in whole or in part, any condition inuring to its benefit set forth in Section 4, Section 5, Section 6, Section 8, and Section
12 of this Settlement Agreement, which waiver shall be binding upon the PSC, the Class, and the Plaintiffs. Waiver by First Health or its Affiliates of any
condition as to any Class Member shall not constitute a waiver as to any other condition or any other Class Member.
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5.

STAY ORDER/STAND DOWN

5.1
Immediately upon execution of this Settlement Agreement by or on behalf of all Parties, the Parties shall submit to the Louisiana
Supreme Court a joint motion to stay consideration of the writ applications filed by First Health bearing docket numbers 2010-C-1892 and 2010-C-2185
currently pending on the docket of the Louisiana Supreme Court until the Effective Date. Within ten (10) days after the execution of this Settlement
Agreement by or on behalf of all Parties, the Parties shall submit to the Third Circuit Court of Appeal for the State of Louisiana a joint motion requesting: (a)
partial remand of the action for approval of the Settlement Agreement and (b) as of the Effective Date, withdrawal and vacatur of the prior opinions in case
numbers 2009-CA-1498 and 2010-CA-0061.
5.2
In the Joint Motion for Preliminary Approval described in Section 7.1, the Parties shall request that the Court stay the Class Action and
enjoin and stay, during the pendency of the settlement proceedings contemplated by this Settlement Agreement, the commencement and/or continued
prosecution of any and all Related Proceedings pending the completion of the settlement embodied in this Settlement Agreement (the “Stay Order”)
(excluding, therefrom, however, those proceedings in the Class Action itself necessary to obtain certification of the Class as Defined and final approval of the
settlement embodied in this Settlement Agreement), unless requested otherwise by First Health.
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5.3
Without limiting the foregoing, the Parties shall request that all appellate court(s) stay any pending writ applications and/or appeals in Related
Proceedings until the Effective Date, unless requested otherwise by First Health. Following the Effective Date, all such Related Proceedings, writ
applications and/or appeals shall be withdrawn or dismissed with prejudice, with each party to bear its own costs, including court costs paid through dismissal,
unless requested otherwise by First Health.
6.

OPT-OUT PARTIES

6.1
All persons and/or entities included within the Class Definition but who properly file a timely written request to opt out of the Class as set forth in
Section 6.1(a) below will not be included as Class Members, shall have no rights as Class Members pursuant to this Settlement Agreement, and shall receive
no payments as provided herein.
(a)
A request to opt out of the Class must be in writing and state the name, address and phone number of the person(s) seeking to
opt out. Each request must also contain a duly authorized and signed statement that: “I hereby request that I be excluded from the
proposed Class in the Gunderson Class Action.” The request must be mailed to the PSC at the address provided in the Class Notice and
postmarked by the deadline specified in the Class Notice. An opt out request that does not include all of the foregoing information, that
is sent to an address other than the one designated in the Class Notice, or that is not postmarked within the time or sent in the manner
specified, shall be invalid and the person or entity serving such a request shall be included as a Class Member and shall be bound by this
settlement.
(b)
The PSC shall make best efforts to encourage the clients they represent, including but not limited to those who are parties to
any Related Proceeding, to remain a Class Member and not opt out of the Class. The PSC likewise acknowledge that each of them and
their firms have an unwaivable conflict of interest in representing any Opt-Out Party.
- 16 -

6.2
The PSC shall forward, by overnight mail, copies of all opt out requests to counsel for First Health no later than ten (10) days after the deadline for
Class Members to submit such opt out requests. Within fifteen (15) business days after the expiration of the period for persons or entities within the Class
Definition to opt out of the Class, the PSC and counsel for First Health shall jointly prepare a list identifying all Opt-Out Parties, any actions in which such
Opt-Out Parties have asserted claims related to any Episode against any of the Released Parties, the number of Episodes reflected in claims asserted by OptOut Parties, and the types of claims asserted by such Opt-Out Parties. This description of any such actions shall be amended from time to time as further
information becomes available to the PSC and counsel for First Health. Further, immediately following the end of such fifteen-day period, the PSC and
counsel for First Health shall hold a conference to review the nature and status of all Opt-Out Parties.
6.3
If there are any Opt-Out Parties, funds that would have been distributed to Opt-Out Parties if they had not opted out shall be reserved, earmarked,
and held escrowed from the funds on deposit in the Escrow Account (pursuant to Section 10.1(a)) and placed within an opt-out reserve; provided, however, if
at any time after the establishment of the Opt-Out Reserve, (a) the PSC, acting through Thomas A. Filo, and (b) First Health, acting through Perry R. Staub,
Jr., both determine that the amount of the Opt-Out Reserve should be reduced, the amount of the Opt-Out Reserve shall be so reduced (such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld). In preparing the plan of distribution and in order to properly calculate the Opt-Out Reserve, the Special Master shall not treat OptOut Parties differently than Class Members. Until the Special Master has prepared a plan of distribution that would enable the Parties to determine the
amount of the Opt-Out Reserve, no funds deposited under Section 10.1(a), with the exception of plaintiffs’ counsel’s costs, fees and expenses, shall be
distributed from the Escrow Account, until such time as the Opt-Out Reserve amount can be determined, unless agreed in writing by the PSC, acting through
Thomas A. Filo, and First Health, acting through Perry R. Staub, Jr. Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed as conferring upon Opt-Out Parties any right
to payment.
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6.4
The Opt-Out Reserve may be used by First Health, in its sole discretion, to pay settlement or judgment amounts to Opt-Out Parties and/or litigation
costs/expenses associated with litigating the claims of the Opt-Out Parties.
6.5
The Opt-Out Reserve shall be terminated upon the earliest of the following to occur: (a) one year from the Effective Date; (b) the date when all
claims of Opt-Out Parties are released or dismissed with prejudice; (c) the date when the amount held in the Opt-Out Reserve is reduced to zero; or (d) such
other date as agreed upon, in writing, by (i) the PSC, acting through Thomas A. Filo, and (ii) First Health, acting through Perry R. Staub, Jr. Upon the
termination of the Opt-Out Reserve and the payment therefrom of all valid claims made against the Opt-Out Reserve, any funds then remaining in the Opt-Out
Reserve shall revert to First Health.
6.6
The list identifying all Opt-Out Parties prepared pursuant to Section 6.2 shall be jointly submitted to the Court prior to the final approval
hearing. As part of the Final Order and Judgment granting final approval of this settlement, the Court will incorporate a final list of all Opt-Out Parties. The
list identifying Opt-Out Parties will be attached as an exhibit to the Final Order and Judgment granting final approval of the Settlement Agreement.
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7.

PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND CERTIFICATION OF THE CLASS FOR SETTLEMENT
PURPOSES ONLY

7.1
On or before February 3, 2011, this Settlement Agreement shall be signed by all Parties and the Parties shall submit this Settlement Agreement to
the Court for preliminary approval. This submission shall be made by means of a Joint Motion for Preliminary Approval of Proposed Settlement signed by or
on behalf of the Class, the Plaintiffs, and First Health with a proposed form of order of preliminary approval attached thereto, which order of preliminary
approval will include the Court’s preliminary approval of the Settlement Agreement, a preliminary determination that the settlement set forth therein is fair,
reasonable, and adequate, a conditional certification of the Class as Defined for settlement purposes only, and provisions specifying notice to the Class. The
Order of Preliminary Approval shall be substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 2.
7.2
At the preliminary approval hearing, prior to the Court’s entry of the Order of Preliminary Approval, the PSC shall move to grant conditional
certification of the Class as Defined for settlement purposes only and the appointment of the Class Representatives as appropriate representatives for the Class
under articles 591, et seq., of the Louisiana Code of Civil Procedure. First Health shall not object to the conditional certification of the Class as Defined for
settlement purposes only and/or the appointment of the Class Representatives as appropriate representatives for the Class. The Parties acknowledge and
agree, and shall so stipulate to the Court, that (a) the Class as Defined is being certified for settlement purposes only pursuant to the Settlement Agreement,
and (b) the Released Parties reserve the right to object to class certification de novo in the event this Agreement is terminated for any reason. Upon entry of
the Final Order and Judgment, the conditional certification of the Class as Defined shall supersede any and all previous class certification orders in this action.
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8.

FINAL APPROVAL AND EFFECT OF THE AGREEMENT

8.1
Court.

If the Court enters the orders as described in Section 7, the Parties shall proceed with due diligence to conduct the fairness hearing as ordered by the

8.2
The Settlement Agreement is subject to and conditioned upon (a) the issuance by the Court and subsequent entry, following the fairness hearing, of
a Final Order and Judgment granting final approval of the Settlement Agreement in accordance with article 594 of the Louisiana Code of Civil Procedure, (b)
such Final Order and Judgment becoming Final, and (c) compliance with Section 6. It is a condition of this Settlement Agreement that the Final Order and
Judgment shall be substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 3. The Parties shall take all reasonable and necessary actions to obtain the Final Order
and Judgment and to have it made Final as promptly as practical.
8.3
Without limiting the foregoing, the Parties agree that the Final Order and Judgment shall, among other things, vacate the order entered November
29, 2006 in the Class Action granting plaintiffs’ motion for class certification and the order entered April 2, 2009 in the Class Action granting plaintiffs’
motion for partial summary judgment against First Health.
8.4
The Parties agree that, to the extent First Health or its Affiliates comply with the procedure described in Exhibit 4 attached hereto, the Released
Parties shall not incur any future liability or contractual impairment under the Louisiana Workers Compensation Act or La. R.S. 40:2203.1 or otherwise by
reason of any alleged failure to comply with La. R.S. 40:2203.1 or give adequate notice to Providers of the entities accessing Providers’ contractual rates of
payment, and, under such circumstances, any and all claims against the Released Parties related thereto are hereby released, discharged, and forever waived,
and the Class Members agree, on their own behalf and for their Affiliates, that they shall not assert such claims in the future. The Parties agree that the
foregoing is a settlement of the Class’ extant and potential future injunctive relief claims against the Released Parties. The Final Order and Judgment shall
include a specific finding by the Court that such notice procedure is fair to the Class and complies with Louisiana Law, including La. R.S. 23:1203 and La.
R.S. 40:2203.1. The Parties further agree that this provision shall not afford any person or entity other than First Health, its Affiliates and the Released Parties
protection from future liability under La R.S. 40:2201, et seq. and/or 23:1021, et seq.
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8.5
Upon the Effective Date, each of the Class Members and their Affiliates releases and shall defend and hold harmless the Released Parties from and
against any and all past, present, or future claims, demands, suits, causes of action, rights of action, liabilities, liens, privileges, or judgments of any kind
whatsoever, including, without limitation, claims for damages, fines, workers’ compensation or other penalties, contribution, indemnity, subrogation, breach
of contract, statutory violation, and/or tort, by, on behalf of, through, or deriving from the claims of that Class Member and/or its Affiliate, or by, on behalf of,
through, or deriving from his, her, or its heirs, executors, representatives, relatives, custodians, attorneys or former attorneys, successors, employers, insurers,
employers’ insurers, health insurers, health care providers, assignees, subrogees, predecessors in interest, successors in interest, beneficiaries or survivors or
any other person or entity asserting a right to sue any of the Released Parties by virtue of a personal or legal relationship with that Class Member or its
Affiliate related to any Episode and/or related to or connected in any way with claims of that Class Member or its Affiliate that might give rise to any
Liability. The release, hold harmless and defense obligation of this Section shall include any and all claims, demands, suits, causes of action, rights of action,
liabilities, liens, privileges, or judgments of any kind whatsoever related, directly or indirectly, to the disbursement of or from, or the failure to make
disbursement of or from, the Class Settlement Fund with respect to that Class Member or its Affiliate, but shall not include any proceedings before the Court
to enforce rights under the settlement.
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8.6
It is expressly understood and agreed that the release, hold harmless, defense, and judgment-reduction obligations set forth in Section 8.5 and this
Agreement shall exist regardless of the legal basis for the claim, demand, cause of action, right of action, suit, liability, lien, privilege, or judgment asserted by
any person and/or entity to the extent related to an Episode. In particular, the Class Members and their Affiliates expressly bind themselves to the foregoing
release, hold harmless, defense and judgment-reduction obligations. regardless of whether the claim, demand, suit, liability, lien, privilege, judgment, cause of
action, or right of action related to any Episode is based on or related to contribution, indemnity, subrogation, breach of contract, statutory violation, and/or
tort.
8.7
This Settlement Agreement shall be the exclusive remedy for any and all claims of Class Members and their Affiliates against the Released Parties
based on any Episode or giving rise to any Liability. When the Final Order and Judgment becomes Final, each of the Class Members and their Affiliates shall
be barred from initiating, asserting, prosecuting or continuing to prosecute any such claims; notwithstanding the foregoing, the Class and/or any member of
the Class (a) reserves all rights against any and all Insurers of First Health Group Corp., and (b) reserves its right to proceed with any and all claims it may
now have (whether currently pending or not) or may in the future have against any and all persons or entities that are not released or otherwise addressed
pursuant to this Settlement Agreement.
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8.8
The Parties agree that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, the Settlement Agreement is made in good faith and in accordance
with the laws of the United States and the State of Louisiana. The Parties agree to cooperate by providing affidavits and/or testimony concerning the
circumstances of this settlement and attesting to the fact that it is a good faith settlement.
8.9
The Court shall retain jurisdiction over the Class Action, the Settlement Agreement, the Final Order and Judgment, the Class Settlement Fund, the
Escrow Agreement, the Escrow Account and the Parties to this Settlement Agreement solely for the purpose of administering, supervising, construing, and
enforcing the Agreement and the Final Order and Judgment and supervising the management and disbursement of the funds in the Escrow Account.
8.10
This Court shall have jurisdiction over any dispute that arises under this Settlement Agreement. If any dispute is so submitted, each concerned party
shall be entitled to fifteen (15) days’ written notice (or otherwise, as the Court may for good cause direct) and the opportunity to submit evidence and to be
heard on oral argument as the Court may direct.
9.

SIGNED RELEASES/ASSIGNMENT

9.1
Without limiting the foregoing, each Class Member who receives any money from the Class Settlement Fund shall, on or before the time that such
Class Member receives such money, execute for delivery to First Health a receipt and release substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 5, expressly
memorializing the release of all Liability, and each and all of the claims based on any Episode, by, through, or on behalf of that Class Member; holding the
Released Parties harmless from and defending them against any claims or cross-claims for indemnity or contribution and/or any claims by any person who or
which derives or obtains any right or claim from or through any such Class Member (e.g., subrogation claims by worker’s compensation insurers, employers,
and/or health care providers, heirs, relatives and/or custodians); and acknowledging his/her/its receipt of the money to be paid to that Class Member. The
receipt and release required pursuant to this Section 9.1 may be in the form of an instrument included with the allocation check for each Class Member; in
such event, a Class Member’s endorsement and/or deposit of such allocation check shall serve as that Class Member’s acknowledgment of, and agreement to,
the terms and conditions set forth in the instrument included with the allocation check. The CADA shall, within a reasonable period of time following the
CADA’s receipt thereof, deliver to First Health the endorsed allocation checks (or copies thereof, if appropriate).
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9.2

Nothing in the Agreement shall affect or release claims available to the Released Parties except as otherwise expressly set forth in Section 11.

9.3
The claims of each Class Member based on any Episode or giving rise to any Liability, as against each of the Released Parties shall be assigned to
that Released Party for the purpose of legally extinguishing any further liability of the Released Parties.
10.

CONTRIBUTIONS TO AND DISBURSEMENTS FROM THE CLASS SETTLEMENT FUND

10.1
Within seven (7) business days after the Court’s entry of the Order of Preliminary Approval, First Health shall pay into the Escrow Account the
following amounts: (a) the sum of One Hundred Fifty Million and No/100 ($150,000,000.00) Dollars; and (b) an additional sum of Five Hundred Thousand
and No/100 ($500,000.00) Dollars. The Released Parties shall never be called upon to pay any sums in addition to these amounts to or on behalf of the Class
Members or their counsel as a result of their respective Liability.
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10.2
If First Health fails to timely make the above payments in full, the PSC may notify First Health in writing of such failure, and First Health shall have
a reasonable time (no more than five (5) days) to pay any unpaid amounts.
10.3
All contributions into the Escrow Account shall be held in an interest-bearing trust account, and, as applicable, in separate subaccounts within the
Escrow Account prior to the Effective Date and, if necessary, after the Effective Date, pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement.
10.4
The obligations of First Health under the Agreement are not intended to and shall not create or be deemed to create any joint or joint and several or
in solido obligations on the part of any person and/or entity, including the Released Parties.
10.5
The Escrow Account shall be formed and operated to meet all requirements of a qualified settlement fund within the meaning of Section 468B of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and all regulations and rulings thereunder. First Health shall be permitted, in its discretion, and at its own cost, to seek a
private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service regarding the tax status of the Escrow Account. The Parties agree to negotiate in good faith any
changes to the Agreement necessary to obtain IRS approval of the Escrow Account as a qualified settlement fund.
10.6
Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all of the costs, fees, and expenses for plaintiffs’ counsel shall come from the contribution made by
First Health to the Escrow Account pursuant to Section 10.1(a); provided, however, that no sums shall be paid for the costs, expenses (other than as otherwise
expressly provided for herein), or fees of plaintiffs’ counsel until after the Effective Date.
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10.7
The contribution made by First Health to the Escrow Account pursuant to Section 10.1(b) shall be used to cover the actual costs and expenses
related to the settlement of the Class Action, incurred: (a) in connection with administering the class settlement; (b) by the Special Master in connection with
claims gathering and evaluation and the allocation and distribution process; and (c) for other settlement administration costs and expenses, including all costs
of notice to the Class, all as approved in advance by the Special Master; provided, however, that if such costs and expenses are incurred prior to the date of the
Court’s entry of the Order of Preliminary Approval, payment of such costs and expenses must be approved in writing by both Thomas A. Filo and Perry R.
Staub, Jr. These funds shall not be used to pay costs, expenses, or fees of counsel. First Health shall not be responsible for any additional administrative costs,
settlement costs, court costs, or other costs (other than its own court costs). Should the actual costs and expenses above be less than Five Hundred Thousand
and No/100 ($500,000.00) Dollars, any excess shall be returned to First Health. Should the actual costs and expenses above be greater than Five Hundred
Thousand and No/100 ($500,000.00) Dollars, any shortfall shall be the sole responsibility of the PSC, who shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Class
Settlement Fund, upon Court approval, after the Effective Date. Plaintiffs’ counsel shall timely provide First Health with an accounting of all such costs to
determine whether funds are to be returned to First Health.
10.8
Until the Effective Date, except as otherwise specifically provided herein and/or in the Escrow Agreement, no monies in the Escrow Account shall
be used or disbursed.
10.9
Upon the Effective Date: (a) except as otherwise provided herein, the Class Settlement Fund shall vest in and to the benefit of Class Members; (b)
except as otherwise specifically provided for herein, the interests of First Health in the Class Settlement Fund shall cease; and (c) the Released Parties shall
have no further obligations to the Class or the Class Members in connection with their respective Liability.
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10.10
Except as otherwise specifically provided herein and/or in the Escrow Agreement, after the Effective Date, all costs or expenses in connection with
or incidental to this settlement, shall, to the extent approved by the Court, be paid exclusively from the Class Settlement Fund. First Health shall not be liable
for any such costs or expenses, except that First Health shall be responsible for the cost of its own attorneys, expert witnesses, consultants, and employees.
10.11
The Parties agree that at such time as the Effective Date has occurred, the Court may proceed in the manner prescribed by due process of law and
article 594 of the Louisiana Code of Civil Procedure to the allocation and distribution of the Class Settlement Fund to Class Members according to a protocol
submitted by the Special Master and approved by the Court. As of the one year anniversary of the Effective Date, any funds which remain unclaimed by the
Class Member to whom they have been allotted by the Special Master shall revert to First Health.
11.

INSURANCE ASSIGNMENT

11.1
In addition to the consideration paid in Section 10 above, upon final approval of this Settlement, First Health shall assign to the Class any and all of
its rights to: (a) receive any and all proceeds available/awarded pursuant to First Health’s insurance policies with respect to the released claims, with the
exception that all claims for payment by the Insurers issuing those policies of the legal fees and litigation costs incurred by First Health prior to final approval
of this settlement, which amounts may diminish coverage otherwise available for indemnity under the policies, shall be reserved to and retained by First
Health; and (b) pursue a declaratory judgment and/or damages action with respect to indemnity coverage under these policies for the released claims. The
claims excepted from the assignment to the Class shall have priority over those assigned to the Class in terms of payment from the proceeds of the policies.
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11.2
By making this partial assignment of its right to recover under the above policies with respect to the released claims, First Health and its
Affiliates make no warranty as to either the existence or extent of coverage afforded by these policies or the validity of the assignment. The Parties agree that
the validity and finality of this Settlement is not contingent upon the outcome of any declaratory judgment and/or damages action or actual payment of any
proceeds from any of the policies.
11.3
First Health’s defense and prosecution of the existing Delaware coverage litigation, entitled Executive Risk Insurance Company v. First
Health Group Corp. and docketed as Civil Action No. 09C-09-027 JOH in the Superior Court of Delaware in New Castle County, until the date any
assignment pursuant hereto takes effect shall not provide the basis for any allegation of breach of this Settlement Agreement and shall not provide any cause
of action against First Health or its Affiliates. Subject to the provisions of any confidentiality order, First Health shall provide to the PSC a copy of all
pleadings that have been filed in the Delaware coverage litigation and any subsequently filed pleadings.
11.4
Upon any assignment pursuant this Section 11, the Class shall assume sole responsibility for any and all legal fees and litigation costs
related to the defense and prosecution of any coverage litigation relating to indemnity under the policies. Following such assignment, the members of the
PSC recognize that each of them and their firms may be provided with confidential information by First Health and its Affiliates in their discretion, for the
defense and prosecution of the coverage litigation. In that event, the PSC agrees that an attorney-client relationship with First Health and its Affiliates would
be created such that the PSC and each of them and their firms would have an unwaivable conflict of interest in representing, directly or indirectly, any party
adverse to First Health or its Affiliates concerning the same subject matter litigated in or related to either the assigned claims or information shared by First
Health or its Affiliates.
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11.5
If final approval of this Settlement is not obtained, all right, title and interest to the policies and their proceeds, including the right to
pursue the aforementioned declaratory judgment and/or damages action with respect to coverage under the policies and to recover funds available or
previously paid under those policies, shall remain with First Health.
12.

TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT

12.1
As provided below, the Agreement may be terminated by First Health or the PSC upon written notice if any one or more of the following events
occur (provided, however, that a Party whose willful conduct causes the event giving rise to the right to terminate shall not have a right to terminate the
Agreement by reason of such event and further provided that copies of any written notice of termination shall be provided to the Court and filed in the record
of the Class Action):
(a) this Settlement Agreement is not signed by or on behalf of all Parties and First Health gives the PSC written notice of termination of this
Agreement for such reason or the PSC gives First Health written notice of termination of this Agreement for such reason;
(b) the Joint Motion for Preliminary Approval of Proposed Settlement described in Section 7.1 is not submitted to the Court on or before February
3, 2011, and First Health gives the PSC written notice of termination of this Agreement for such reason or the PSC gives First Health written notice
of termination of this Agreement for such reason;
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(c) the Court does not issue the Order of Preliminary Approval substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 2, and First Health gives the PSC
written notice of termination of this Agreement for such reason or the PSC gives First Health written notice of termination of this Agreement for
such reason;
(d) the Court does not enter the Final Order and Judgment substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 3 or in a form mutually acceptable to
the PSC and First Health, and First Health gives the PSC written notice of termination of this Agreement for such reason or the PSC gives First
Health written notice of termination of this Agreement for such reason;
(e) the Final Order and Judgment does not become Final, and First Health gives the PSC written notice of termination of this Agreement for such
reason or the PSC gives First Health written notice of termination of this Agreement for such reason;
(f) there are Opt-Out Parties who have claims affecting more than 2,000 Episodes to which this Settlement applies (see Section 6.2, above) and
First Health gives the PSC written notice of termination of this Agreement;
(g) contributions to the Escrow Account are not made timely in accordance with the provisions of this Settlement Agreement and the PSC gives
First Health written notice of termination of this Agreement for such reason;
(h) the Final Order and Judgment is substantively modified or reversed on any writ or appeal, and First Health gives the PSC written notice of
termination of this Agreement for such reason or the PSC gives First Health written notice of termination of this Agreement for such reason;
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(i) First Health or the Affiliates thereof are ordered or required to pay any amount over the amounts set forth in Section 10.1, whether in
settlement, administration fees, costs, attorneys’ fees, or any other award, fee, or cost of any nature whatsoever as a result of their respective
Liability, and First Health gives the PSC written notice of termination of this Agreement for such reason;
(j) there are any material alterations to the terms and conditions of the Settlement Agreement, unless agreed to by the Parties, and First Health
gives the PSC written notice of termination of this Agreement for such reason or the PSC gives First Health written notice of termination of this
Agreement for such reason;
(k) the Effective Date does not occur on or before the later of April 16, 2012 or any extended date mutually agreed upon, in writing, by (i) Thomas
A. Filo, on behalf of the PSC, and (ii) Perry R. Staub, Jr., on behalf of First Health, gives the PSC written notice of termination of this Agreement
for such reason or the PSC gives First Health written notice of termination of this Agreement for such reason.
12.2
In the event of termination of the Agreement, (a) the Settlement Agreement shall be null and void and have no force and effect and, except as
otherwise provided in this Settlement Agreement, no Party shall be bound by its terms, (b) all Parties shall be restored to their respective positions
immediately before execution of the Settlement Agreement; (c) any and all monies or other contributions paid into the Escrow Account, plus all earnings
(actual and accrued) thereon, less taxes, costs, and other expenses authorized under the Escrow Agreement (including, without limitation, the previously
incurred actual costs and expenses related to the settlement of the Class Action, including but not limited to costs and expenses incurred: (i) by the Special
Master and/or the CADA in connection with claims gathering and evaluation and the allocation and distribution process; and (ii) for other settlement
administration costs and expenses (including costs associated with notice), as set forth in Section 10) shall be returned to First Health; and (d) the Class
Action and Related Proceedings shall revert to their status before the execution of the Settlement Agreement as if related orders and papers and the efforts
leading to the Agreement had not been entered, prepared, or taken. Further, in the event of such termination, First Health shall have full authority to
immediately withdraw from the Escrow Account First Health’s contributions and payments, and the earnings (actual and accrued) thereon, without further
proceedings or approval of any court, subject to and in accordance with the Escrow Agreement. In the event any settlement funds are to be returned to First
Health in accordance with this Agreement, the necessary consent by the PSC shall be deemed to have been given as required for Section 468B of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986.
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13.

ADDITIONAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE PSC AND FIRST HEALTH

13.1
applicable:

The PSC covenants, represents and warrants to First Health, and First Health covenants, represents and warrants to the PSC, that, as

13.1.1
The PSC and First Health have not been notified of any pending lawsuit, claim, or legal action related to any Episode
brought or made by or on behalf of any putative Class Member other than the Class Action and Related Proceedings;
13.1.2
The PSC and First Health have not been notified of any lawsuit, claim, or legal action against First Health or any Released
Party related to any Episode brought or made by or on behalf of any person and/or entity who is not a putative Class Member against First Health;
13.1.3
All liens, assigned claims, interventions, subrogation interests and/or claims, and other encumbrances attaching to the
proceeds of this settlement, or the interest of any individual Class Member therein, of which the PSC or First Health have been placed on notice are set forth
in Exhibit 6 hereto, and as additional liens, assigned claims, interventions, subrogation interests and/or claims, and other encumbrances become known to the
PSC and/or First Health, such exhibit shall be supplemented accordingly; and
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13.1.4
The PSC and First Health have exercised due diligence in ascertaining that their respective representations contained in this
Settlement Agreement are true and accurate, and the PSC and First Health shall have, until the Effective Date, a continuing obligation to ensure that their
representations are accurate, and the PSC and First Health shall notify each other within a reasonable time after learning that any of the representations are or
become inaccurate.
13.2

The PSC further covenants, represents and warrants to First Health that:
13.2.1

Prior to the fairness hearing, the PSC shall have explained the terms and effect of this Settlement Agreement to the

Plaintiffs;
13.2.2
13.2.3
interests of each of its clients;
13.2.4

The PSC has not and will not make any undisclosed payment or promise to any Class Representative;
The PSC have read and reviewed the Settlement Agreement and believe that the settlement embodied therein is in the best
The PSC will strongly recommend to each of its clients that they settle their claims under the terms of the Settlement

Agreement; and
13.2.5
Thomas A. Filo, Arthur M. Murray, and John S. Bradford have full authority to enter into and execute this Settlement
Agreement and all related settlement documents for and on behalf of and to bind the PSC, individually and on behalf of the Class and the Plaintiffs.
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13.2.6
Each named Plaintiff has full authority to enter into and execute this Settlement Agreement and all related documents for,
and on behalf of and to bind, him or it.
13.3
The Parties shall use their best efforts to conclude the settlement and obtain the Final Order and Judgment. The Parties agree that it is
essential that this proposed settlement be prosecuted to a successful conclusion in accordance with all applicable provisions of law and in the exercise of good
faith on the part of the Parties. Inherent in the accomplishment of this mutual goal is the understanding among the Parties that the Parties assume the mutual
obligation to each other to assist and cooperate in the effectuation of the settlement in accordance with all applicable legal requirements. To that end, the
Parties are obliged to affirmatively support the settlement in the event of appeal, to maintain the integrity and goals of the settlement in all further proceedings
in the Class Action, and to take such actions as may be legally proper to assure the jurisdiction of the Court in this and all subsequent proceedings. The
settlement is intended to be a final and binding resolution of all Liability.
14.

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

14.1
The execution of this Settlement Agreement by or on behalf of First Health shall not be construed to release--and the Released Parties expressly do
not intend to release and, instead, expressly reserve--any claims the Released Parties have, or may have, against any party (other than the Class and the Class
Members acting consistent with the terms of this settlement), including, but not limited to, any claim for any cost or expense incurred in connection with this
Settlement Agreement and/or all actions and proceedings contemplated hereunder, including attorneys’ fees and costs. Moreover, nothing in this Settlement
Agreement shall be construed as an admission or acknowledgement that First Health has any obligation to any other Released Party, whether for contribution,
for indemnification, or based in contract, related to any Episode.
- 34 -

14.2
Neither this Settlement Agreement, nor the settlement contemplated thereby, nor any proceeding taken hereunder shall be construed as or deemed to
be evidence of any fact or an admission or concession by the Released Parties of any liability or wrongdoing whatsoever, which is expressly denied by the
Released Parties, or, on the part of the Class Members, of any lack of merit in their claims. None of the provisions of this Settlement Agreement, nor
evidence of any negotiations or proceedings in pursuance of the compromise and settlement herein, shall be offered or received in evidence in the Class
Action or any other action or proceeding as an admission or concession of liability or wrongdoing of any nature on the part of the Released Parties, or as an
admission of any fact or presumption on the part of the Class, or to establish jurisdiction or venue or to create a waiver of any affirmative defense. None of the
provisions of this Settlement Agreement or the Agreement shall be considered an admission or stipulation that the notice requirements of La. R.S. 40:2203.1
are binding on First Health or apply to PPO discounts for workers’ compensation services. The provisions of the Settlement Agreement and/or the Agreement
may be offered or received in evidence solely to enforce the terms and provisions thereof and shall not be offered in evidence or used in the Class Action or
any other action or proceeding for any other purpose, including in support of the existence, certification, or maintenance of any purported class. The Parties
specifically acknowledge, agree and admit that this Settlement Agreement and the Agreement, along with all related motions and pleadings, shall be
considered an offer to compromise and a compromise within the meaning of Rule 408 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, article 408 of the Louisiana Code of
Evidence, and any equivalent rule of evidence of any state or federal court, and shall not be offered or received into evidence as an admission or concession of
liability or wrongdoing on the part of the Released Parties. This Section 14.2 shall survive the termination of the Agreement.
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14.3
This Settlement Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the Parties and may not be modified, amended, or waived except by a written
instrument duly executed by all the Parties or their authorized representatives; provided, however, First Health may exercise the waiver rights provided under
Section 4.17. Each Party hereto represents and warrants that it is not relying on any representation that is not specifically included in this Settlement
Agreement. This Settlement Agreement supersedes any previous agreements or understandings between or among the Parties on the subject matter of this
Settlement Agreement.
14.4
This Settlement Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.
14.5
The terms and conditions of this Settlement Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, administrators, predecessors in
interest, successors in interest, legal representatives, and assigns of all Parties.
14.6
Except with respect to any waiver provided pursuant to Sections 4.17 or 14.3, any waiver by a Party of any term, condition, covenant, or breach of
the Settlement Agreement shall not be deemed to be a continuing waiver of same.
14.7
The Parties agree that the terms and conditions of this Settlement Agreement are the result of arm’s length negotiations between the Parties or their
counsel. None of the Parties shall be considered to be the drafter of the Settlement Agreement or any provision hereof for the purpose of any statute,
jurisprudential rule, or rule of contractual interpretation or construction that might cause any provision to be construed against the drafter.
14.8

For purposes of this Settlement Agreement, the use of the singular form of any word includes the plural and vice versa.
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14.9
The table of contents and the headings of each Section in this Settlement Agreement are included for convenience only and shall not be deemed to
constitute part of this Settlement Agreement or to affect its construction.
14.10
The Parties have agreed that the validity and interpretation of this Settlement Agreement and any of the terms or provisions hereof, as well as the
rights and duties of the Parties thereunder, shall be governed solely by the laws of the State of Louisiana without giving effect to any conflict of laws
principles and that the exclusive forum for any claim related to the interpretation or enforcement of the Settlement Agreement shall be the 14th Judicial
District Court in and for the Parish of Calcasieu, Louisiana.
14.11
Any notice, request, instruction, or other document to be given by any Party to any other Party (other than class notification) shall be in writing and
delivered personally, sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or sent by private, overnight delivery carrier operating in the United States of
America, providing a receipt with evidence of delivery, as follows:
(a) If to First Health or the Released Parties, to:
Perry R. Staub, Jr.
TAGGART MORTON, L.L.C.
1100 Poydras Street, Suite 2100
New Orleans, Louisiana 70163
(b) If to the PSC, the Class, or the Plaintiffs, to:
Thomas A. Filo
Cox, Cox, Filo, Camel & Wilson, L.L.P.
723 Broad Street
Lake Charles, Louisiana 70601
and
Arthur M. Murray
The Murray Law Firm
625 S. Charles Ave., 3rd Floor
New Orleans, LA 70130
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The Parties may change their respective recipients and addresses for notice by giving notice of such change to the other Parties pursuant to this Section 14.11.
14.12
Thomas A. Filo, as Chairman and Liaison Counsel for the PSC, shall provide, or otherwise ensure the provision of, all required notices to the other
members of PSC, including, without limitation, any orders issued by the Court.
14.13
The PSC may seek an order from the Court, which First Health shall not oppose, stating that any contingency fee contracts entered into and dated
after December 3, 2010 shall not be enforceable without approval of the Court.
14.14
First Health agrees that in the event that any appeal is taken with respect to the settlement embodied in this Settlement Agreement, First Health will
join in a motion to require any appellant other than First Health to post an appeal bond set at the maximum amount allowed by law.
14.15
In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Settlement Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in
any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision, but only if the Parties mutually elect to proceed as if such
invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had never been included in this Settlement Agreement.
14.16
In entering into this Settlement Agreement, each Party represents and warrants that it has relied upon its own knowledge and judgment and the
advice of counsel. It is expressly understood, agreed, and warranted that, in entering into this Settlement Agreement, no Party has acted in reliance upon any
representation, warranty, advice, or action by any other Party except as specifically set forth herein.
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14.17
Except as otherwise provided herein or as may be required by law or in connection with notice of the settlement or as otherwise agreed in writing by
the Parties, the Parties shall keep the existence of the settlement in confidence until the Court’s entry of the Order of Preliminary Approval.
14.18
Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, nothing contained in this Settlement Agreement shall afford a Class Member any right to
reserve rights against any of the Released Parties, except as provided in Section 1.1, Section 4.8, and Section 8.7.
14.19
All valid liens, assigned claims, interventions, subrogation interests and/or claims, and encumbrances of any third parties related to any Episode
and/or otherwise attaching to the proceeds of this settlement, or the interest of any individual Class Member therein shall be satisfied solely from the Class
Settlement Fund. The Released Parties shall not be subject to any liability or expense of any kind to any person and/or entity with regard to such liens,
assigned claims, interventions, subrogation interests and/or claims, and encumbrances. The PSC and the Class reserve the right to contest the validity and/or
amount of any such lien, assigned claim, intervention, subrogation interest and/or claim, and encumbrance.
14.20
In order to assist the Special Master in allocating settlement funds, First Health shall provide the Special Master appropriate data concerning
benefits, claims, and workers’ compensation payments made to Louisiana Providers since January 1, 2000 where a PPO discount was taken by or through any
First Health network.
14.21
The Class Settlement Notice will be designed to (a) provide proper notice to the Class Members; (b) effectively reach the Class Members; and (c)
satisfy federal and state due process and other relevant standards. The Class Settlement Notice will be prepared to allow persons and entities to opt out of the
Class as Defined.
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14.22
The Notice Plan, as approved by the Court, shall provide for dissemination: (a) by first class mail to the last known address of all
putative Class Members, if reasonably ascertainable; (b) by publication in the Lake Charles American Press, The Times (Shreveport), and The Advocate
(Baton Rouge), and the Times Picayune, each on two separate days; (c) by such other newspaper publication(s), if any, as necessary to satisfy due process; (d)
to all known attorneys who have in the past represented or presently represent any Class Member individually in matters related to any Episode with
instructions that such counsel are to disseminate a copy of the notice to their respective clients who have not received notice pursuant to (a) above; (e) by
posting at the courthouse of the 14th Judicial District Court in and for the Parish of Calcasieu in the office of the Clerk of Court; (f) by posting at such other
public places as may be further ordered by the Court; and (g) by posting a copy at a neutral website. The dissemination of the notice shall be the responsibility
of the PSC.
14.23

The PSC and First Health must jointly agree on the Class Settlement Notice and the Notice Plan prior to submission to the Court.

14.24
If, for any reason, Perry R. Staub, Jr. or Thomas A. Filo become unable to fulfill their respective roles under this Settlement Agreement
and/or any exhibit hereto, including, without limitation, the Escrow Agreement, they may be replaced by the Party and/or Parties they represent via written
notice provided to the other Parties pursuant to Section 14.11.
February 2, 2011
Date

/s/ Thomas A. Filo
Thomas A. Filo
Michael K. Cox
Cox, Cox, Filo, Camel & Wilson, L.L.P.
723 Broad Street
Lake Charles, Louisiana 70601
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February 2, 2011
Date

/s/ Stephen B. Murray
Stephen B. Murray
Arthur M. Murray
Stephen B. Murray, Jr.
The Murray Law Firm
625 St. Charles Ave., 3rd Floor
New Orleans, LA 70130

January 31, 2011
February 2, 2011
Date

/s/ John S. Bradford
/s/ William B. Monk
John S. Bradford
William B. Monk
Stockwell, Sievert, Viccellio,
Clements & Shaddock, L.L.P.
One Lakeside Plaza, Fourth Floor
Lake Charles, Louisiana 70601
REPRESENTING THE PSC, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF
THE CLASS AND THE PLAINTIFFS

January 31, 2011
Date

/s/ Clark A. Gunderson, M.D.
Clark A. Gunderson, M.D. (A Medical Corporation)
PLAINTIFF

January 31, 2011
Date

/s/ Beutler-England Chiropractic Clinic
Beutler-England Chiropractic Clinic
PLAINTIFF

January 31, 2011
Date

/s/ Frank W. Lopez, M.D.
Frank W. Lopez, M.D.
(A Professional Medical Corporation)
PLAINTIFF

January 31, 2011
Date

/s/ Southwest Louisiana Hospital Association
Southwest Louisiana Hospital Association
d/b/a Lake Charles Memorial Hospital
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PLAINTIFF
January 31, 2011
Date

/s/ West Calcasieu Cameron Hospital Service District
West Calcasieu Cameron Hospital Service District
PLAINTIFF

January 31, 2011
Date

/s/ Advanced Rehab Services, Inc.
Advanced Rehab Services, Inc.
PLAINTIFF

Date

/s/ Perry R. Staub, Jr.
Perry R. Staub, Jr.
TAGGART MORTON, L.L.C.
1100 Poydras Street, Suite 2100
New Orleans, Louisiana 70163
Direct: 504-599-8513
Fax: 504-599-8501
ATTORNEY FOR FIRST HEALTH GROUP CORP.
First Health Group Corp.

February 2, 2011
Date

By:

/s/ Thomas C. Zielinski

Its:

EVP/General Counsel

DEFENDANT
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List of Exhibits
Exhibit 1 -- Escrow Agreement
Exhibit 2 -- Order of Preliminary Approval
Exhibit 3 -- Final Order and Judgment
Exhibit 4 -- Notice Procedure
Exhibit 5 -- Class Member Release
Exhibit 6 -- Liens, Assigned Claims, Interventions, Subrogation Interests and/or Claims, and Encumbrances
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Exhibit 12

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(Dollars in thousands)
For the year ended December 31,
2009
2008
2007

2010
Continuing operations earnings before income taxes (1)
Fixed charges
Earnings before income taxes and fixed charges
Fixed charges:
Interest expense
Portion of rental expense representative of interest factor (2)
Total fixed charges

2006

$ 686,534
91,450
$ 777,984

$ 504,554
96,300
$ 600,854

$ 571,861
108,484
$ 680,345

$

963,212
91,607
$ 1,054,819

$ 883,021
59,347
$ 942,368

$

$

$

$

$

$

80,418
11,032
91,450

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

8.5

$

84,875
11,425
96,300
6.2

96,386
12,098
$ 108,484
6.3

$

82,217
9,390
91,607
11.5

$

52,446
6,901
59,347
15.9

(1) The ratios for 2008-2005 have been adjusted to reflect the discontinued operations of First Health Services Corp. as discussed in the Company's Note D,
Discontinued Operations, to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
(2) One-third of net rent expense is the portion deemed representative of the interest factor.

Exhibit 21
EXHIBIT “A”
COVENTRY HEALTH CARE, INC.
LIST OF SUBSIDAIRES
January 21, 2011
Wholly Owned Subsidiaries

State of Organization

Altius Health Plans Inc. (Does business as Altius)

Utah

Carelink Health Plans, Inc.

West Virginia

Coventry Consumer Advantage, Inc.

Delaware

CHC Casualty Risk Retention Group, Inc.

Vermont

Coventry Financial Management Services, Inc.

Delaware

Coventry Health and Life Insurance Company

Delaware

Coventry Healthcare Management Corporation (Also does business as CHC Management Corporation and Coventry
Healthcare Management Corporation of Missouri)

Delaware

Coventry Health Care of Delaware, Inc. (Also does business as Coventry Health Care of New Jersey)

Delaware

Coventry Health Care of Georgia, Inc.

Georgia

Coventry Health Care of Iowa, Inc.

Iowa

Coventry Health Care of Kansas, Inc.

Kansas

Coventry Health Care of Louisiana, Inc.

Louisiana

Coventry Health Care of Nebraska, Inc.

Nebraska

Coventry Health Care of Pennsylvania, Inc.

Pennsylvania

Coventry Management Services, Inc.

Pennsylvania

Coventry Health Care National Network, Inc.

Delaware

Coventry Healthcare National Accounts, Inc.

Delaware
1

Coventry Health Care Workers Compensation, Inc. and Subsidiaries:

Delaware

Coventry Independent Medical Exams of
Texas, PA

Texas

First Script Network Services, Inc.

Nevada

FOCUS Healthcare Management, Inc.

Tennessee

Medical Examinations of New York, P.C. d/b/a
Coventry Independent Medical Examinations

New York

MetraComp, Inc.

Connecticut

Coventry Prescription Management Services, Inc.

Nevada

Coventry Transplant Network, Inc.

Delaware

First Health Group Corp. and it subsidiaries:

Delaware

Cambridge Life Insurance Company

Missouri

Claims Administration Corp.

Maryland

First Health Strategies, Inc.

Delaware

First Health Life & Health Insurance Company

Texas

Florida Health Plan Administrators, LLC and it subsidiaries:

Florida

Coventry Summit Health Plan, Inc.

Florida

Coventry Health Plan of Florida, Inc.

Florida

Coventry Health Care of Florida, Inc.

Florida

Group Health Plan, Inc.

Missouri

Group Health Plan of Delaware, LLC

Delaware

HealthAmerica Pennsylvania, Inc.

Pennsylvania

HealthAssurance Pennsylvania, Inc.
(Formerly Health PASS, Inc.)

Pennsylvania

HealthAssurance Financial Services, Inc.

Delaware

HealthCare USA of Missouri, LLC

Missouri
2

HealthCare USA of Tennessee, Inc. (formerly CHCCares, Inc.)

Tennessee

MHP, Inc.

Delaware

Mercy Health Plans

Missouri

Mercy Health Plans of Missouri, Inc.

Missouri

Foresee Health, Inc.

Missouri

Premier Benefits, Inc.

Missouri

MHNet Specialty Services, LLC (formerly, Coventry Specialty Services, LLC)

Maryland

Mental Health Associates, Inc.

Louisiana

Mental Health Network of New York, Inc.

New York

MHNet Life and Health Insurance Company

Texas

MHNet of Florida, Inc.

Florida

OmniCare Health Plan, Inc.

Michigan

PersonalCare Insurance of Illinois, Inc.

Illinois

Preferred Health Systems, Inc.

Kansas

Preferred Health Care, Inc.

Kansas

Kansas Health Plan, Inc.

Kansas

Preferred Benefits Administrator, Inc.

Kansas

Southern Health Services, Inc. (Also does business as Coventry Health Care or Coventry)

Virginia

WellPath Select, Inc.

North Carolina

WellPath of South Carolina, Inc.

South Carolina
3

Majority Owned Subsidiaries

State of Origination

Carefree Insurance Services, Inc.

Florida

Group Dental Service, Inc.

Maryland

Group Dental Service of Maryland, Inc.

Maryland
4

Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
Form S-4 Registration Statement No. 333-123014;
Form S-4 Registration Statement No. 333-120300;
Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-117966;
Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-122671;
Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-75615;
Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-107064;
Form S-3 Registration Statement No. 333-75675;
Form S-4 Registration Statement No. 333-45821;
Form S-3 Registration Statement No. 333-74280;
Form S-4 Registration Statement No. 333-83106 ;
Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-138523;
Form S-3 Registration Statement No. 333-141313;
Form S-3 Registration Statement No. 333-145619;
Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-57968;
Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-57976;
Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-50917; and
Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-159836
of our reports dated February 25, 2011, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Coventry Health Care, Inc. and the effectiveness
of Coventry Health Care, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2010.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
February 25, 2011

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Allen F. Wise, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Coventry Health Care, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
By: /s/ Allen F. Wise
Allen F. Wise
Chief Executive Officer and Director
Date: February 25, 2011

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, John J. Stelben, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Coventry Health Care, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
By: /s/ John J. Stelben
John J. Stelben
Interim Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Date: February 25, 2011

Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Coventry Health Care, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2010, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as
adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 25, 2011

By: /s/ Allen F. Wise
Allen F. Wise
Chief Executive Officer and Director
By: /s/ John J. Stelben
John J. Stelben
Interim Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

